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LESSONS LEARNED IN THE DISTRICT OF
COLUMBIA PUBLIC SCHOOLS

MONDAY, MARCH 9, 1998

U.S. SENATE,
OVERSIGHT OF GOVERNMENT MANAGEMENT, RESTRUCTURING

AND THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA SUBCOMMITTEE,
OF THE COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL AFFAIRS,

Washington, DC.
The Subcommittee met, pursuant to notice, at 1:14 p.m., in room

SD-342, Dirksen Senate Office Building, Hon. Sam Brownback,
Chairman of the Subcommittee, presiding.

Present: Senator Brownback.
Senator BROWNBACK. We will call the hearing to order.

OPENING STATEMENT BY SENATOR BROWNBACK
Senator BROWNBACK. I am sorry for being a little bit late. I just

flew in out of the snow in Kansas. We had between 6 and 12 inches
across Northeastern Kansas, and that was not so bad, but we had
about 30-mile-an-hour winds, and there is not a whole lot to stop
it there. There was a fair amount of snow-drifting, and so the
planes were delayed.

I appreciate you coming to the hearing today. I appreciate our
witnesses being here and all the other people interested in D.C.
Public Schools. I think we have a lot to talk about, and for all of
our panelists, I have some questions for each of you and I hope we
can get some good illumination for everybody.

There are a number of educational reforms that could play a crit-
ical role in achieving results and success, in the D.C. Public School
system. One important reform would be the D.C. scholarship bill.
This bill would provide scholarships to low-income children in the
District to attend private schools. It passed the Senate, and it is
currently pending in the House.

In addition, I, along with Senator Lieberman, sponsored legisla-
tion under the fiscal year 1998 D.C. appropriations bill requiring
the D.C. Public Schools to give preference to charter schools in sell-
ing excess Public School property. I am happy that D.C. Public
Schools has been working with the charter school community to im-
plement these changes. The District can now look forward to hav-
ing more charter schools in the upcoming school year.

At today's hearing, though, we will focus on lessons learned in
the D.C. Public Schools during this past year. We have held several
hearings in this Committee room on the D.C. Public Schools. It has
been an issue that has been very clear in importance to me and

(1)
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very dear to me as well, along with Senator Lieberman, the Rank-
ing Democrat on the Subcommittee.

I think you have to look at the D.C. Public Schools as being one
of the critical components for the District of Columbia. We are
going to look at some of the lessons learned over the past year of
the D.C. school system's Public Schools.

I have to say, I am troubled certainly by some of the academic
results that we have seen. I think one of the first lessons we have
to say is that the academic quality of the schools is in dire need
of improvement. We have a couple of charts, and I know these fig-
ures are nothing new to the people in the District of Columbia Pub-
lic Schools that have looked at the Stanford-9 test results. I am
pleased that the District is doing the Stanford-9 test, so we will
have an objective set of tests and factors to look at, but, according
to the test results, which were taken at the end of the last school
year, 100 percent of the 10th graders in two high schools scored
below basics in math. Not one 10th-grade student scored at the
basic level in math in two of the high schools that we have in the
District of Columbia, and that is simply not good enough.

What we have up here, the two charts, are 10th graders in math,
and this is not good enough either. Sixty-one percent of the Na-
tion's 10th graders are below the basic levels, 61 percent in the Na-
tion. In the Nation's Capital, 89 percent of the 10th graders are
below the basic levels of math. This is simply not a tolerable situa-
tion. We have got to get this turned around. We have to do it in
short order. We are failing our students, and our students are not
getting the necessary education that they need to succeed in a very
competitive world.

As for reading, which we have on the other chart, about 26 per-
cent of the Nation's 10th graders are classified as below basic, and
53 percent of the 10th graders in the District's Public Schools are
performing below basic. Again, this is just not acceptable.

I realize that our leadership team has not been in place for that
long of a period of time, but we have to get these scores improving
on a rapid basis. It has got to get better.

When a child reaches the 10th grade without these basic skills,
time is running out for that child to gain those skills back before
they graduate. The District's Public Schools must not only begin
earlier to teach these basic skills, they must maintain these stand-
ards so that the skills are not lost by the 10th grade.

I am concerned on a second set of lessons, and that is on the con-
sistency of school safety and disciplinary policy in the District's
Public Schools. We have had a number of security violations that
have occurred, a number of them involving weapons that have been
confiscated. These have been reported since September of 1997.
The information that I have is that more than 1,600 security viola-
tions have occurred and at least 157 weapons, such as guns,
knives, machetes, etc., have been confiscated since September 1997.

The discipline policy for these serious offenses remains, in my
opinion, inconsistent and unclear among the District's Public
Schools. This sends the wrong signal to those jeopardizing the safe-
ty of the D.C. Public Schools.

6 "
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Having a successful academic plan and a solid roof on these
school buildings means nothing if the students and teachers fear
for their lives.

Then we want to look, also, at the school's roof repairs which has
been covered quite extensively in the press, and we will have some
people here to testify about that.

I am pleased that we have General Becton here to testify and to
answer some questions for this Subcommittee. He had been tasked
with a very difficult job, and he has had just a little over a year
in leadership in that position. It is an extraordinarily difficult task,
and I have a great deal of admiration for the General's abilities
and character.

He did state in September of 1997 the following, "I believe that
our success or failure will be judged on whether or not we have
achieved fundamental improvements in three core areas. One is in
academics, two is in school facilities, and three in personnel and fi-
nancial management systems." I think we need to review the
progress that has taken place since September of 1997 on those
three scores and what is proposed for the near future so that we
can get all of those areas improving.

This is an important hearing. It is a difficult subject for every-
body that is in leadership and everybody that is working to try to
improve the D.C. Public Schools. They simply are not performing
up to standards, and I want to be convinced after this hearing that
we have a plan and we are actually improving to where these test
scores change, to where security of the students in the systems
change and Improves, and the facilities improve in the near term.
Where are we on getting those three core issues moving forward?
We simply have to get them better. If we are not getting this done,
6-len we need to take steps to improve that.

The first panel that we have will be Gloria L. Jarmon. She is the
Director of Health, Education and Human Services, Accounting and
Financial Management, Accounting and Information Management
Division of the General Accounting Office.

We have David L. Cotton, the Managing Partner of Cotton and
Company. They have done some extensive reviews of some of the
financial management and some of the issues that have previously
been raised publicly concerning the D.C. Public Schools.

I look forward to your testimony, and I will have some questions
regarding the findings that you have brought forward.

Ms. Jarmon, would you care to go first?
Ms. JARMON. Yes.
Senator BROWNBACK. Thank you for joining us, and the floor is

yours. We can take your full statement in the record and you can
summarize, or you can present your full statement.

TESTIMONY OF GLORIA L. JARMON,1 DIRECTOR, HEALTH,
EDUCATION AND HUMAN SERVICES, ACCOUNTING AND FI-
NANCIAL MANAGEMENT, ACCOUNTING AND INFORMATION
MANAGEMENT DIVISION, GENERAL ACCOUNTING OFFICE
MS. JARMON. Mr. Chairman, I would like to summarize my state-

ment and present the entire statement for the record.

The prepared statement of Ms. Jarmon appears in the Appendix on page 35.
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I am pleased to be here today to discuss the results of our review
of the District of Columbia Public Schools' efforts to repair school
roofs during the summer of 1997.

Consistent with your request, we focused on three issues: First
of all, determining when funds were made available to pay for
school roofs; second, the cost of the school roofs, including the cost
per square foot; and, third, looking at additional roofs to be re-
paired in 1998 and beyond.

Our primary message today related to the availability of funds
is that sufficient funding was available to begin work when schools
were closed for the summer on June 20, 1997. Bond proceeds was
$11.5 million. It became available in October of 1996, and were
being used to fund the GSA-managed roof repair projects.

Additional funds later became available for the DCPS-managed
projects, with $18 million becoming available in March of 1997, and
an additional $20 million in June of 1997. Therefore, when schools
closed on June 20, 1997, at least $38 million was available for
DCPS-managed roof repairs.

As you know, much of this work did not start until the third
week of July. DCPS was not prepared to begin this work earlier be-
cause it had not completed sufficient initial work such as determin-
ing the scope of work which forms the basis for seeking bids. In ad-
dition, there had been an almost complete turnover in technical
support staff within DCPS, and there were problems in securing
bids.

DCPS officials also told us that they had planned to do this work
through the end of October, but because of the court order that
work not be done while classes were in session, they had to do the
work in a compressed time frame.

I will now talk briefly about the costs of repairs. Our work shows
that DCPS spent about $37 million for these repairs during fiscal
year 1997. A significant, but not determinable, amount of these
costs were attributable to factors other than what would be strictly
interpreted as roof replacement or repair work. Among these were
structural integrity, fire damage, general deterioration from ne-
glected maintenance, and warranty stipulations.

Considering the cost of all of this work, we found that the aver-
age per-square-foot cost of the roof repairs during fiscal year 1997
was $20, with the GSA-managed roof repairs being about $13 per
square foot, and the DCPS-managed roof repairs being about $22
per square foot.

Some of the reasons for the differences seem to be that GSA uses
existing contracts to do their work. So they did not have to go out
for bids when the market was already saturated with roof work.
Second, GSA's projects were done over a longer time frame, thus
requiring less overtime, and third, GSA's contracts covered only
flat work roof. Whereas, DCPS contracts covered multiple roof
areas.

Last, I will address the future roof work plan. For fiscal year
1998, DCPS plans to spend about $35 million for 40 school roof
projects. DCPS has about $41.8 million available for these projects,
most of that coming from Sallie Mae funds. To date, five schools
have been completed, and the scopes of work on the remaining 35
are expected to be completed in May 1998. Twenty-six of these 35
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scope of works were completed by the end of February. The other
nine, we have been told, will be completed sometime in May.

We would like to stress here that it is very important that these
scopes of work are completed, solicitations distributed, and the con-
tracts awarded as soon as possible to ensure that prior year prob-
lems with the compressed time frame do not reoccur.

We also know that an additional $63 million is included in a pro-
posed DCPS plan covering the yearsfiscal year 1999 through the
year 2004. This is not a detailed plan. We were told that the pro-
ceeds from the sale of the closed schools are expected to help cover
these out-years of 1999 through 2004.

Mr. Chairman, this concludes my statement. I will be happy to
answer any questions from you.

Senator BROWNBACK. We will have some questions for you later.
Mr. Cotton, we are pleased to have your statement for the Sub-

committee.

TESTIMONY OF DAVID L. COTTON,1 MANAGING PARTNER, COT-
TON AND COMI3ANY; ACCOMPANIED BY ED FRITTS, SENIOR
MANAGER, COTTON AND COMPANY, AND MARVIN ALLMOND,
MANAGING PARTNER, ALLMOND AND COMPANY
Mr. COTTON. Thank you, sir.
Chairman Brownback, I am pleased to be here today to discuss

the results of our audit of the DCPS procurement process.
With me today are Ed Fritts, a senior manager with Cotton and

Company; and Marvin Allmond, managing partner of Allmond and
Company. Mr. Allmond and his staff assisted Mr. Fritts and me in
our audit.

I know that you and your staff have already reviewed our report.
I would just like to emphasize two points related to the audit.

First is the issue of whether DCPS followed proper procurement
procedures. The second is regarding the refusal by DCPS personnel
to affirm in writing certain representations about the roof repair
projects.

Since the audit was completed, DCPS official have asserted that
they complied with the D.C. Board of Education procurement rules
which allow for emergency contracting.

There are two problems with that assertion. First, the DCPS peo-
ple who were actually performing the procurements told us during
our audit that they did not comply with any procurement policies
or procedures.

The DCPS Chief of Contract Administration told us in writing
that, "There are no procurement procedures which DCPS had to
follow in awarding capital contracts. The authority resolution re-
quires only that the CEO enter into contracts which he deems ap-
propriate and in the best interest of the school system."

The DCPS Chief of Capital Projects told us in writing that, "All
of the work done by DCPS in fiscal year 1997 was done under
emergency conditions as declared by the Control Board. We were
thereby exempted from procurement policies and procedures."

The second problem with the assertion that these procedures
were followed is that even if DCPS officials thought they were fol-

'The prepared statement of Mr. Cotton appears in the Appendix on page 104.
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lowing these procedures, what occurred failed to conform to those
procedures. For example, our audit found that documentation re-
quirements were ignored. Segregation of duties requirements were
bypassed or circumvented. Project managers rather than procure-
ment officials decided what contractors to invite to submit bids, re-
ceived and opened bids, and made contract award decisions. Con-
tracts and contract modifications were executed without first cer-
tifying that funds were available. Contract work was allowed to
commence without evidence that required bonds were obtained.
Contract compliance requirements were not monitored. Millions of
dollars of change orders were approved without justification or
written findings and determinations.

Nothing in these procedures, emergency or otherwise, permit
such practices. These were the conditions that we cited in our re-
port as being conducive to fraud.

I want to address the issue of management representations. In
a hearing on January 23, Delegate Eleanor Holmes Norton asked
General Becton and his staff why they refused to sign the manage-
ment representation letters we asked them to sign as a routine
part of our audit. They did not answer that question. Instead, they
stated that it was unfair and inappropriate for us to have asked
them to sign these letters.

It was neither unfair nor inappropriate, although requesting
written management representations is not a mandatory procedure
in performance audits, it has been a suggested or recommended
procedure for nearly 20 years.

The current version of GAO's Government Auditing Standards
suggests that this procedure be considered. The 1988 version and
the 1991 version recommended that management representations
be obtained.

The focus should not be on whether or not our request for man-
agement representations was appropriate. The focus should be on
why DCPS officials refused to provide these representations.

We asked six management officials to affirm certain key asser-
tions made to us explicitly or implicitly during the audit. Four offi-
cials did not respond. Two officials gave us some, but not all of the
representations, 16 days after we issued our report. Our request
was simple and straightforward. We asked them to affirm to the
best of their knowledge and belief that, for example, they knew of
no material recorded transactions; that they had made available to
us all relevant information; that they had informed us of all evi-
dence of error or fraud of which they were awarded; that they knew
of no violations of law that had occurred in connection with the
contracts; that they had provided us with all relevant information
regarding the conviction of two DCPS procurement officials for ac-
cepting bribes and illegal gratuities, and that these two officials
had nothing to do with the procurement process, and so forth.
These were legitimate questions within the scope of our audit. You
deserve answers to these questions.

Mr. Chairman, that completes my prepared statement. I will be
happy to respond to any questions that you have.

Senator BROWNBACK. Thank you very much, Mr. Cotton, for your
statement.

1
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Mr. Cotton, let me just kind of cut to the chase of this. You stat-
ed that there was an atmosphere that fraud could occur in, and you
said some questions were not answered. Do you have any evidence
of fraud actually having occurred in this roof repair project that
went forward?

Mr. CorroN. We have what I consider circumstantial evidence
that fraud could have occurred, and I think further investigations
may reveal that bribes, gratuities, or kickbacks could have taken
place, perhaps did take place. I think further work is needed to de-
termine that.

Senator BROWNBACK. You will be proposing to this Subcommittee
an outline of further investigation to determine whether or not
fraud occurred or whether kickbacks or bribes occurred?

Mr. CoTToN. We provided an outline of what we think needs to
be looked into to the Control Board. My understanding is that the
Control Board has asked the D.C. Inspector General to follow up
and pursue those issues.

Senator BROWNBACK. Do you feel comfortable discussing with
this Subcommittee today the circumstances that you believe show
circumstantial evidence of fraud having occurred?

Mr. CorroN. The general points that I outlined in my statement,
I think, is as far as I would like to go. We provided the Control
Board with some more specifics. If they are under investigation, I
would be reluctant to describe them in further detail.

Senator BROWNBACK. You note that the cost was roughly double,
for the repair work on the school roofs, what was stated in front
of the Subcommittee. I believe it was about a year ago, maybe not
quite a year ago. I thought they said it would be about $11, and
it was, instead, around $20 per square foot?

Was that the figure, Ms. Jarmon?
Ms. JARMON. Yes. It was about $20 per square foot, and early on

in our work, we did ask for the support for the $11 per square foot.
We were told that the schedules had been revised and the sched-
ules were not available. So, based on our work, like I said in my
opening statement, including all of the additional costs, it was
about $20 per square foot.

Senator BROWNBACK. Let's take into consideration all the factors
that were in place. There was a court order. The school year was
pressing. We ended up having to delay the school year because of
the lack of ability to repair the roofs.

There was a lot of emergency-type situations present. Did you
consider all of that in determining whether or not those figures
going from $11 to the $20-plus were appropriate?

Ms. JARMON. We took those factors into account, and that is why
we mentioned these factors within the report.

We really did not look into whether they were appropriate. We
were more addressing the question of what the overall costs were.

Senator BROWNBACK. Mr. Cotton, how about you on that? We
have a situation that, obviously, there was a lot of pressure at that
particular point to get these roofs repaired and to get it done now.
Should that have driven the cost up double of what it was told to
us?

Mr. CurroN. Well, Senator, I think there is no question that
General Williams did an incredible job accomplishing what he ac-

11
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complished, and he started from no staff, and the issue of whether
or not he could have gotten statements of work prepared sooner,
whether he could have gotten procurements in place in April and
May, and had the work ready to be started in June, I guess, is a
question I think Gloria's report tried to answer.

We talked with the engineering firm that prepared most of the
estimates. They told us that their estimates were already high be-
cause they had taken into account the fact that the work was com-
pressed; that D.C. was not a favorite place for contractors to work
and so forth.

Our results showed that if you take those factors into account,
the actual costs as of the time we completed our work was about
11 percent above those already-high estimates.

I am not sure whether anyone will ever know whether this work
could have been done at $12 or $15 a square foot. My focus was
on the process, and I understand that DCPS had a legitimate posi-
tion that they needed to streamline the process. My concern was
that I think they streamlined it too much.

Senator BROWNBACK. Did you draw this to their attention early
on, or was this ever drawn to the attention of the DCPS about this,
excess of a streamlined process that would lend itself to potential
for fraud or abuse?

Mr. COTTON. Well, we began our audit work in the last week of
October 1997 when most of the procurements were finished, but we
kept DCPS officials informed of our findings as they were devel-
oped.

Senator BROWNBACK. Ms. Jarmon, in looking at your analysis on
the roof repair procurement, the cost of repair and the availability
of funds for repair, what are the main flaws that should be ad-
dressed immediately in proceeding forward with any other repairs
to D.C. Public Schools?

Ms. JARMON. Well, we would suggest that it is going to be very
important that there is a detailed plan going forward that would
highlight what needs to be done, what schools need to be done, the
priorities, and that there be controls in place to make sure it is fol-
lowed, and when changes are made to it, those changes be docu-
mented, and also to ensure that the warranties are honored that
warranties have been received based on the work that was done,
and to ensure that the neglected maintenance, deferred mainte-
nance that we referred to in our report does not reoccur, and that
these contracts be awarded as soon as possible. And if they cannot
be awarded very soon, that consideration be given to utilizing GSA
more. That was an option also in 1997. Those are the primary is-
sues that we would suggest.

Senator BROWNBACK. Good.
You noted in one place in your study that you did not have suffi-

cient data to make certain determinations. What kind of book-
keeping does the D.C. Public School system have, and do you have
any suggestions for them to come up with the type of data that you
would need to make appropriate reviews?

Ms. JARMON. Our report talks about at least a couple of examples
where documentation was not available to support what we were
trying to do. One related to fund availability, where there were
some differences as far asour report talks about when funds were
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available to the Control Board. We were told that D.C. Public
Schools were not aware of those funds until, in some cases, several
months later, and we received no documentation to show us when
D.C. Public Schools received the funds.

We are aware now, based on information we received from the
District CFO's office, that they are in the process of changing those
procedures, so that there will be some written memos or internal
memos to notify the agencies when funds are received. We would
support that type of documentation.

In addition, in our report when we were talking about the cost
of the school roofs that were internally repaired for the District,
there were seven school roofs internally repaired. We noted that we
could not get cost data on those seven school roofs, and we would
recommend that there be a good cost system to support that data.

I know that David Cotton's report talks about many other defi-
ciencies with the record-keeping. So he may be able to better ad-
dress that.

Senator BROWNBACK. Mr. Cotton, would you care to follow up on
that question with some specifics of what additional data is nec-
essary to properly track these projects?

Mr. COTTON. Well, our major concern about record-keeping had
to do with the status of the contract files, and we understood that
some of the projects were just being completed. Some of them had
not been completed yet. The files were understandably incomplete.

Our concern was that many of the documents that should have
been in the files, whether the projects were complete or not, were
not in the files.

The file organization was not consistent. Files were disorganized.
Every file was a little bit different. I understand DCPS has taken
steps to correct that.

The paperwork issue is of less concern to me than the other con-
trol issues, such as segregating procurement duties from project
management duties, requiring supervisory approvals and sign-offs
of key procurement decisions and so forth, and I think that is the
area that I am most concerned about seeing corrected.

Senator BROWNBACK. Have you outlined those in detail in your
report, where you think we need to have different processes in
place, different approvals in place to make sure that a situation
like this does not come up in the future?

Mr. CorroN. Well, I think you do. It had been my understanding
that the procurement responsibility was moved from DCPS to some
other D.C. Government organization, but I found out recently that
that may not be the case.

I think my recommendation would be that until a set of estab-
lished and solidly controlled procurement procedures are put in
place and formally adopted by either the Control Board or DCPS
that we need to go back to what the law said, and the law said that
Federal procurement rules need to be followed. If these procure-
ments are done in accordance with the Federal Acquisition Regula-
tion, I think you have the controls you need.

If you decide to allow DCPS or some other organization to adopt
its own policies, then I think you need to focus on the issue of seg-
regation of duties, documentation of reviews and approvals, and

13
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another key requirement should be maximum competition for these
procurements.

Senator BROWNBACK. Which there was not in this particular
case, competition?

Mr. CurroN. No, sir, there was not.
Senator BROWNBACK. Was there any competition for the procure-

ment in these cases?
Mr. CorroN. The Chief of Contract Administration told us that

he could not recall how the initial procurements were advertised.
He said he thought that they were advertised in the Washington
Times because the account with the Washington Post was delin-
quent.

The follow-on, procurements late in the process, the final 20 pro-
curements, the degree of competition was limited to a project man-
ager deciding which three or four contractors to invite to bid on the
project, and those three or four contractors sometimes would bid,
sometimes would not, and they would select from amongst the bids
that they got.

Senator BROWNBACK. How many projects did you say, 7 or 17?
Mr. CorroN. Twenty.
Senator BROWNBACK. The last 20 projects? The project manager

would invite three or four that he thought were the appropriate
ones to bid on this project?

Mr. CorroN. Yes, sir.
Senator BROWNBACK. Then some of those would submit bids and

some would not?
Mr. COTTON. They were given sometimes less than 24 hours to

prepare a bid. Some of the potential bidders said they simply could
not prepare a bid in that period of time.

Senator BROWNBACK. Then the project manager had the author-
ity to grant the project at that point in time?

Mr. CorroN. Bids were submitted to the project managers for
these final 20. The project manager would then send the paperwork
over to the procurement official for signing of the contract, but the
selection was essentially made by the project manager.

Senator BROWNBACK. So you had one person with limited com-
petition, possibly no competition, awarding these last 20 projects?

Mr. COTTON. That is correct.
Senator BROWNBACK. Is that the basis of your concern of cir-

cumstantial evidence of fraud, or is it something else that is there?
Mr. CurroN. Well, there are five attributes to every fraud, a per-

petrator, a victim, intent, motive, and opportunity. The only one of
those five attributes that an organization can control is the last
one, opportunity. So, by not segregating duties, that created the op-
portunity for irregularities, fraud to have occurred, we had some
additional concerns about some specific procurements that we have
communicated to the Control Board that are a little bit more spe-
cific than that, but that is a major concern.

Senator BROWNBACK. In those last 20 cases, do you know wheth-
er some of those bids that were let with only one contractor bidding
on the project?

Mr. COTTON. There might have been one or two with only one
bid.

Senator BROWNBACK. Were there several with only two bids?

1.4
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Mr. FRIrrs. I think generally that
Senator BROWNBACK. I am sorry. Would the gentleman please

identify himself, so we could have it for the record here?
Mr. FRITTS. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. My name is Ed Fritts

with Cotton and Company.
I recall that for those last 20 projects, a standard number of bids

received would be two or three. There were one or twoI do not
remember the specificsbut there were one or two in which there
was only one bidder or at least the contract file did not document
if there were more than one bidder, but, typically, two or three bids
would have been received, and those bids were addressed directly
to the project manager, not to the procurement officer.

Senator BROWNBACK. And sometimes these bids were pulled to-
gether within 24 hours?

Mr. FRITTs. Yes, sir. Well, from 1 to 3 days, something like that,
but, yes, a very short turnaround time, much shorter than you
would normally expect in a sound procurement process.

Senator BROWNBACK. Were you able to track any of the advertis-
ing for these bids?

Mr. FRITTs. The only advertising, as we were told, was the
project manager or at least somebody from the Capital Projects of-
fice, but the contract file suggested the project manager called the
prospective bidders to come out to a school, to walk through the
school, and then to subsequently make their independent bids.

Senator BROWNBACK. Mr. Cotton, I want to go back through and
get your statement clearly because these are strong statements
that you are making.

Mr. COTTON. Yes, sir.
Senator BROWNBACK. You are saying that the potential for fraud

clearly existed.
Mr. CurroN. Yes.
Senator BROWNBACK. That there is circumstantial evidence of

fraud having occurred in these school repairs?
Mr. CorroN. Yes, sir. That is correct.
Senator BROWNBACK. And that from that, you think it would be

wise for further investigation? Obviously, if there is that, I mean,
this Subcommittee and many others are going to be asking for fur-
ther investigation of this to occur.

Mr. CorroN. Yes, sir.
Senator BROWNBACK. Is there anything further you would feel

confident in presenting in front of this Subcommittee of the cir-
cumstantial evidence concerning the fraud?

Mr. COTTON. I would be uncomfortable getting into more specif-
ics.

Senator BROWNBACK. All right. We will be delving into that at
a later time.

Ms. Jarmon, did you have anything further that you would like
to add to the Subcommittee and to your report?

Ms. JARMON. No, I do not, Mr. Chairman.
Senator BROWNBACK. All right. Well, thank you, and, Mr. Cotton,

I appreciate both of your testimonies. We will be following up on
this because they are serious findings and statements. Thank you
very much for your help.
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Our next panel will be Dr. Joyce Ladner, Member of the District
of Columbia Financial Responsibility and Management Assistance
Authority, and General Julius Becton, Superintendent of the Dis-
trict of Columbia Public Schools.

I want to thank the two panelists for joining us today, and I
think both of you were present for the last testimonies. They are
serious allegations that are being put forward.

It is a serious topic. I do not want to lay it out either as any sort
ofout here trying to hunt to say "gotcha" on something. I do not
like these test scores at all. I do not think anybody in this room
likes or agrees with these test scores. I do not like accusations and
people saying that there was fraud that occurred, that the cir-
cumstances for fraud occurred, and I am sure neither of you do ei-
ther, but I will look forward to hearing some clear testimony as to
what has happened, what systems have been put in place to correct
this, and what we can look forward to by correcting these problems
in the future. I will have some tough questions for you.

I appreciate the difficulty of the job that you are in, but these
are just some terrible accusations and bad test results that we
have. We have to get at the root of this.

Dr. Ladner, you can present your full testimony or summarize,
whichever you care to do.
TESTIMONY OF JOYCE LADNER,1 MEMBER, DISTRICT OF CO-

LUMBIA FINANCIAL RESPONSIBILITY AND MANAGEMENT
ASSISTANCE AUTHORITY
MS. LADNER. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I appreciate the oppor-

tunity to testify on the progress made and lessons learned in our
efforts to reform the District's Public Schools.

When the Authority issued its report in November 1996 entitled
"Children in Crisis," the report on the failure of the D.C. Public
Schools, we concluded that the deplorable record of the District's
schools and every important educational and management area
had left the system in crisis, and, virtually, every area, every grade
level, the system failed to provide the childrenthe schools with
the quality of education and a safe environment in which to learn.

In response to that report, we took immediate action on Novem-
ber 15, 1996, to fundamentally improve the schools through a reso-
lution and order. We replaced the Superintendent and reduced the
powers of the elected Board of Education. In their place, we ap-
pointed, as you know, retired Army Lieutenant General Julius W.
Becton, and we established an emergency transitional board of
trustees.

The progress made to date has laid the foundation for further re-
form and demonstrable success in the outcomes of children's edu-
cation. I think that at best, what I can say is that a large number
of things have occurred to put in place the foundation, the infra-
structure, some of the personnel that can carry this task forth so
that those test scores that you have placed here before us do begin
to change.

I am a realist, and in being a realist, I recognize that the prob-
lems in the school system did not come about overnight. The phys-

.1 The prepared statement of Ms. Ladner appears in the Appendix on page 109.
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ical structures have been deteriorating for a period of roughly 50
years. The average age of our schools is in excess of 50 years.

The physical problems and the educational ones cannot be fixed
overnight. Yet, the important thingand I emphasize that here
is that they are being fixed. For the first time, there now exists
comprehensive plans both on education and facilities that we did
not have before.

Despite the hard work that has gone into this by all parties in-
volved, including the parents, teachers, administrators, and volun-
teers, much remains to be done. In researching the approach taken
by other educational reform efforts, one of the most essential ingre-
dients was the establishment of the reform-minded team that com-
mitted to change.

In places such as Chicago that I visited prior to the Authority
making the change in the governance structure, they successfully
recruited a top management team and eliminated drastically the
middle-level management tier. We have strongly encouraged Gen-
eral Becton to employ the same approach. We are very pleased,
therefore, that Dr. Arlene Ackerman, who has been appointed Dep-
uty Superintendent and Chief of Academic Office as a result of the
national recruitment campaign, has joined the schools, and in the
coming months, we know that General Becton will continue to as-
semble a team that can bring the Public Schools up to the level of
achievement that we want them.

With respect to academics, the Chief Academic Officer is institut-
ing a plan that will leverage accountability for educational change
throughout the school system. All of the actions in the future,
present and going forth, all of the procedures and processes are
being examined for their impact upon educational attainment.

Therefore, the schools have limited the appointment of principals
to 1 yearthat is the first major change that was madeand re-
moved the selection of principals from the previously politicized
process. Fifty percent of the principal's evaluation now will be
based on students' academic performance. So we are tying perform-
ance of students to the effectiveness of principals.

The schools are also moving to make teacher evaluations per-
formance-driven, and that will be instituted next fall. Principals
and teachers are receiving training and the expectations support-
ing performance-based management.

We are also making changes in academic standards. On her ar-
rival, Ms. Ackerman implemented the nationally recognized Stan-
ford-9 test, and they are being administered on a biannual basis.

Mr. Chairman, I would hazard to guess that because all of our
efforts are being placed in an intensive way to campaign to raise
these scores; that when that test is administered again in the
spring, we may well see somethe next time it is administered, we
may well begin to see some increase in those scores. I say that be-
cause the principals have organized inasmuch as 50 percent of
their evaluation is now tied to the way in which children's test
scores are turning out. They are under the gun.

The teachers know that come September, their evaluations will
also be very, very heavily tied to the performance of students. They
also know that we are getting rid of social promotion, come this
summer, and by putting in place a safety net for those students
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who, as you have demonstrated here on these charts, are not func-
tioning at the adequate level at which they should be.

We expect somewhere between 15,000 and 20,000 students to go
to summer school. It will be a tough pill to swallow in the begin-
ning, but we also know that none of us could justify continuing to
have students passed on from one grade to the next if they have
not mastered the basic skills that they should have mastered.

We also have an educational strategic plan that will guide the
development of all the administrative priorities that are set. For a
long time, the District's schools have not tied the programs to the
finances available, and for the first time, we will have a road map
that will be tied to the ability to fund these programs.

In terms of administrative and financial management improve-
ments, we the Authority are assisting the schools in addressing
longstanding problems in central personnel and asset management
and technology and procurement functions.

I want to clarify something that was said by the last panel, I be-
lieve by Mr. Cotton. The procurement and information technology
systems are being centralized, and procurement will be placed
underin the process of being placed under the Chief Procurement
Officer for the City, Richard Fite, and we will be working with the
schools in the months to come to try to make sure that the central-
ized system will address their specific needs, but there is no ques-
tion that the Authority has made the decision to place procurement
under the aegis of the chief procurement officer.

Information technology is the same. We will work with the
schools on asset management and on personnel because many of
the other agencies in the City have had those two functions as well
centralized.

We have made some progress. The size of the central administra-
tion has been reduced from 15 percent of the work force in fiscal
year 1997 to 11 percent in 1998, and we are alsohave developed
in conjunction with the schoolsthe Authority has implemented,
developed a monitoring plan that measures management and pro-
grammatic changes. Monitoring program measures, the progress in
the .schools in terms of results are outcomes that the chief execu-
tive officer achieves, and it will help to support the future changes
needed to improve these results in the future.

Much has been said about the infrastructure improvements. I
would like to say here that while we understand that we were re-
quired to make a lot of changes in the physical facilities of the
schools in a very short period of time, that we were also under the
gun of the judge who ordered many of the changes that resulted
in change orders, I should clarify here.

We also know that ultimately all of us bear accountability for
what did or did not occur. The Authority met with Mr. Cotton in
a closed session, and we have forwarded to the IG our concerns,
and they are investigating. We did that immediately after talking
with him.

I do not want to say more than that except to say that I am a
little surprised at how specific Mr. Cotton was today relative to our
conversation we had with him a month or two ago.

The Public Schools are now marketing surplus facilities, includ-
ing the 11 schools we closed last fall. All the monies that are re-
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ceived will be placed inplowed back into the revitalization of the
physical plants of the schools.

One of the remaining challenges facing the schools, Mr. Chair-
man, is special education. It is a crisis in most major cities around
the country, and for the District, it is no different.

We have nearly 7,700 students in special ed, and the numbers
are growing precipitously. This growth is having tremendous impli-
cations for the future cost of education in the City. Fiscal year 1997
we spent $93.8 million from all sources on special ed. In fiscal year
1998, we estimate we will spend $102 million.

Under the Mi//s decree, the court order, the D.C. Schools are re-
quired to assess and place special ed students within 50 days of re-
ferral. I might say to you, Mr. Chairman, that I know that you
know a great deal about education in conversation and the hearing
we had earlier this year. This 50-day referral period is the shortest
time period for assessment and placement of any school district in
the Nation, according to our research. Most school districts have
about 120 days to do the assessment.

Consequently, so many times, what happens is that because we
cannot do this turnaround of assessing a child's proper placement
in the 50 days, what happens is that on procedural grounds, we
lose the cases to families that are represented by counsel, and the
school system ends up having to pay the tuition, the exorbitant cost
for the child's education, and you know that this occurs irrespective
of parents' income and so on. We need relief in this area from the
City Council.

Finally, I would just speak to school funding. Unfortunately, as
you well know, the District of Columbia is not represented by a
State. Therefore, we have to assume City functions, State functions
as well, and every major city around the country receives a signifi-
cant part of its budget for its school system from the parent State,
for building, construction, etc., as well as curriculum development
and so on.

We do not have that. So I would simply say to you, Mr. Chair-
man, that in the months ahead, it would be very, very important
for us to be able to continue the discussions along the lines of how
do we realign a school system that does not have the traditional
basis of support that other cities have and still bring it up to stand-
ards and to the level at which we know the children have to come.

Thank you.
Senator BROWNBACK. Good. I look forward to having some ques-

tions and discussion with you, if I can.
Ms. LADNER. SUre.
Senator BROWNBACK. General Becton, thank you for joining us on

the Subcommittee. You have had a tough task placed on you, and
a short time frame in which to do it, but the kids deserve a lot.
I know you are trying to deliver that. I look forward to your testi-
mony.

19,
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TESTIMONY OF GENERAL JULIUS W. BECTON, JR.,' SUPER-
INTENDENT, DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA PUBLIC SCHOOLS; AC-
COMPANIED BY ARLENE ACKERMAN, CHIEF ACADEMIC OF-
FICER
General BECTON. Thank you, Senator Brownback. You have my

prepared statement. I will just make a few key remarks from that
statement.

We thank you for providing us the opportunity to update you on
the progress of our efforts to reform the District of Columbia Public
Schools.

The title of this hearing, "Lessons Learned," is appropriate be-
cause this has certainly been a learning process for all of us. I am
happy to share some of those lessons with you today.

I have with me, by the way, in addition to Ms. Ackerman, my
chief finance officer, Ed Stephenson. I also have with me our pro-
curement director, Karen Chambers, and general counsel and other
staffers, and I am sure I will have to rely upon them for some re-
sponses to some of the questions, if I may.

Senator BROWNBACK. Yes, sir.
General BECTON. You have heard the challenges we faced when

we arrived in November of 1996, and I repeat only this portion. Ac-
cording to the Control Board, by virtually every measure of per-
formance, the Public School system failed to provide a quality edu-
cation for all children and a safe environment in which to learn.
The system was broken in fundamental ways, and the public had
lost confidence in the schools. These long standing problems were
created over decades, and they cannot be erased overnight.

Perhaps I should mention here that this was probably the first
lesson learned for me. People are impatient. The public, the City
Council, and even the Congress seemed to expect almost immediate
progress, sometimes forgetting just how long it took us to get to the
point that we are in.

I, too, have been frustrated by the rate of progress, but I know
how far we have come. We have made progress in the relatively
short period this administration has been in place. We have fo-
cused on making improvement in three core areas, and you men-
tioned those, academic achievement, personal and financial man-
agement, and facilities.

I am pleased to report that we have made real progress in all
three areas. We have learned quite a few lessons along the way.

In academics, we have taken dramatic steps to begin improving
student achievement. We have brought on board a highly qualified
chief academic officer who came to the District with a clear plan
and a proven track record. Arlene Ackerman, our chief academic of-
ficer, is here with me today, and I would like to introduce her and
have her join me up here.

Senator BROWNBACK. MS. Ackerman, please join us.
General BECTON. She has reminded me that she has a 2:30 ap-

pointment with the Secretary of Education. I think that is correct.
Senator BROWNBACK. Well, that can wait. Tell him you were in

front of the Senate.

1The prepared statement of General Becton appears in the Appendix on page 120.
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General BECTON. OK. Ms. Ackerman has developed content
standards that clearly define what students should know and be
able to do. She is implementing promotion gates to end the practice
of moving students on, even if they are not performing at grade
level.

We are planning a massive summer school program that Dr.
Ladner has already mentioned for students who tested below basic
and hope to be promoted this fall. We expect up to 20,000 students,
or 1 out of 4 of our students, to participate.

These are, indeed, dramatic steps, and, yet, while parents have
been largely supportive of our efforts, some observers had criticized
us for not moving more quickly on the academic front. Once again,
I learned a lesson. We should have brought Ms. Ackerman on
board in November 1996 as opposed to September of last year,
after a nationwide search.

My friend, Paul Val las, who heads up the reform effort in Chi-
cago on which our efforts were modeled, brought 40 professionals
with him when he took over. I had one. Paul Val las had the sup-
port of the mayor, the City agencies, and the City Council. I had
none of these. Mr. Val las had the luxury of taking over Chicago
Public Schools in July. He had 2 months to prepare for his first
academic year. I was appointed after the school year began. Here
in the District, we had to do something akin to rebuilding an air-
plane in mid-flight. We cannot always set the rules of the game;
nevertheless, we are moving forward.

In the area of personnel and financial management, we have
made progress as well. We balanced our budget in fiscal year 1997
for the first time in 5 years. We downsized the organization and
shifted personnel out of the central office into the schools. It has
been a slow and difficult process. We have had to work with his-
toric data that is unreliable. We are dependent upon dysfunctional
data management systems, and we are tied to a City payroll sys-
tem which is slow and arduous.

I will now turn to facilities. As you know, this administration in-
herited a massive facilities problem, estimated to be about $2 bil-
lion by GSA. Routine maintenance of our schools have been ne-
glected for years.

When we arrived, there was no long-term capital plan in place,
and school maintenance had been contracted out to a private ven-
dor under an arrangement that we judged to be costly and ineffi-
cient. As you know, fire code violations were abundant.

We drafted a long-range capital plan in time to meet the congres-
sional deadline. We voted to close 11 schools. We began disposing
of surplus property that had previously been allowed to stand
empty for decades.

We repaired or replaced over 60 roofs. We did not patch, as peo-
ple had done in previous years. In fact, we fixed roofs this summer
that had been patched countless times before. We did not just put
on a new roof. We also did the deferred maintenance that was nec-
essary to ensure that those new roofs would last. As the GAO
noted, we had to do this work to get long-term warranties we want-
ed. Those warranties protected the public's investment.

As the GAO said, these were not ordinary roof jobs. In many
cases, we did major upper building repair, to repair damage caused
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by years of deferred maintenance. In addition, we worked on nu-
merous different types of roofs, some of which are much more ex-
pensive than the basic flat roof you usually find in the suburban
areas.

We did this work on a compressed time schedule driven by the
court order, which meant higher labor costs. Were the GSA-man-
aged projects completed at a lower cost? Yes, but the GSA projects
were far less complicated, and they were done in a much more rea-
sonable time frame. In my view, GAO fully understands the cir-
cumstances under which we worked, and it does not believe that
we overspent on the projects, given those circumstances.

Could the process be improved? Yes. Did we learn from our mis-
takes? Yes. Have we made changes as a result? Yes. For example,
we now have set up a new document control process to ensure that
contract files are well maintained and can easily be audited.

I do hope, however, that we do not lose sight of the progress that
we have made last summer. Under extremely difficult circum-
stances, the public got a quality product for its investment. Chil-
dren in almost one-half of our schools are warmer and drier than
they were before we did the work.

This is a real movement forward, and I am proud of the dedi-
cated staff and competent contractors who made it happen. In this
respect, I have several letters from the contractors I will pass on
to the Subcommittee for your review at some later date.'

Senator BROWNBACK. I am pleased to have those.
General BECTON. I will take care of that.
In closing, I would again like to invite you to visit any of our

schools as soon as possible.
Also, Ms. Ackerman would like to meet with you and discuss

with you her detailed plans for academic improvement. I hope that
such a meeting can be arranged as soon as possible, sir.

Thank you for the opportunity to testify. I am prepared to re-
spond to your questions.

Senator BROWNBACK. Thank you, General.
Again, there is a troubling set of facts that have come forward,

and I just want to go right at those.
On the school repair issue, you have both been here and heard

the testimony. Mr. Cotton statedand I asked him twice about
thisthat the circumstantial evidence of fraud had occurred in the
D.C. School repair.

I do not know, Dr. Ladner, if this would be best to direct to you
or to General Becton, but what steps are you taking specifically to
make sure that does not happen in the future? And then I want
to address the line of questioning also, then, to look back at what
steps we take to make sure that we catch any perpetrators of fraud
on the D.C. Schools.

Ms. LADNER. I will answer part of it, and General Becton can an-
swer the rest.

Assuming there was fraud, assuming the IG finds that to be the
case, because the Authority has no proof at this time that there is
fraud, then the first thing, order of business, is that we have placed
or are in the process of placing procurement functions under the

The letters submitted by General Becton appear in the Appendix on page 124.
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chief procurement officer for the City. I think centralized functions
here will provide a lot more scrutiny.

Senator BROWNBACK. When will that be completed by?
Ms. LADNER. I will have to get that information back to you, but

it is in process now.
Senator BROWNBACK. So that, we will not have the situation

where you can just have a procurement officer put it out on short-
notice bids and then

Ms. LADNER. Not at all, sir, because part of what happened with
some of the change orders last summer was, if you recall, we were
also in court dealing with Fire Code violations, and if the Fire De-
partment went to inspect a site where a roof had been put on a
building, even though all of these buildings had been inspected
prior to the roof being put on, the judge orderedgave a blanket
order that all schools be reinspected, even though they had pre-
viously been cleared of Fire Code violations.

So that, a violation could be as small asfix it within 5 minutes
or it could be something major, but all of these were things that
fed into the change order.

I do not think we are dealing hereI have seen no evidence that
we are dealing withwhat do they call it in the industry?low-
balling a figure of a roof at a considerably low level and then com-
ing back with a change order in order to get the bid.

Senator BROWNBACK. There did not appear to be any low balls
here to me.

Ms. LADNER. No.
Senator BROWNBACK. I am not positive of this, but
Ms. LADNER. The point I am trying Co make here is that there

isI have scrutinized these documents very carefully several
times, and I did not see any evidence here or any of my other dis-
cussion with people in the school system that we were getting a lot
of change orders. I think GAO foundwas within the scope of
about what? $3 million or so

General BECTON. Yes.
Ms. LADNER [continuing]. Total change orders in what they ex-

amined, about $3 million. So that is not millions and millions. You
would never want any change orders, but for a job of this size, I
would not consider that amount to be out of the ordinary.

Senator BROWNBACK. Are you going to be pursuing this aggres-
sively?

Ms. LADNER. Absolutely. We have had manyI mean, our staff
have had many meetings with Mr. Cotton. I know Mr. Cotton from
having heard his report. Our board haswe have had good work-
ing relations with him, and as I said, we met with him in executive
session. I think that the allegations that are being made here today
are a lot stronger than those we heard. So it has taken me a little
by surprise.

Senator BROWNBACK. I think we have to pursue this aggres-
sively, and we have to put the systems in place in the future you
do not allow, as he describe, the opportunity to occur so freely and
easily.

As you heard me pose to him, we were in an emergency type of
situation. School was 3 weeks late in getting opened up. We were
in a very difficult box, but at the same time, you can still maintain
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systems that do not allow the opportunities as frequently or as eas-
ily for fraud to occur.

Ms. LADNER. I agree with you totally. Our view was that despite
the emergency situation that it was still necessary to be able to
document the files, and that it was not an either/or situation. I can
reassure you that this kind of situation will not occur again.

We also made inquiries and were told that the files were being
documented.

Senator BROWNBACK. General Becton.
General BECTON. Thank you, sir.
First, I have heard the extent of Mr. Cotton's remarks about the

fraud for the first time. The report that I read, and the briefing I
heard, said that the potential for fraud existed. I did not hear any-
thing stronger than that until I sat here in this building today.

Change orders were less than a percent. I am told m industry,
that is a natural thing. I am not an engineer, but that is what I
have been told by our people.

We have relocated and reorganized our procurement unit, even
before it goes over to the City. We did that sometime ago. We have
a new director. We have five individuals with contracting experi-

tence.
The program offices have been briefed on procurement office pro-

cedures and we have stressed to them that only a contract officer
can award a contract or authorize a change order. I believe we are
taking the steps to preclude what I heard today may have been the
case.

Senator BROWNBACK. And we will be following up with you on
those systems approach and the changes of systems.

General Becton, this fall, school will start on time?
General BECTON. School will start on September 1. I have every

expectation of that. There has been some discussion that DCPS
should go with the rest of the area, and wait until after Labor Day
to begin the new school year. In my view, if I were to authorize be-
ginning school after Labor Day, I may just as well leave town.

Ms..LADNER. I think so.
Senator BROWNBACK. September 1?
General BECTON. September 1. And by the way, that date was

picked by the elected School Board when it announced the 5-year
plan about 3 years ago.

Senator BROWNBACK. Are there any factors out there that loom
that may put that date off for

General BECTON. The only reason, sir, that we were 3 weeks late
before, was because we had a judge who said we cannot open
schools at the same time we were replacing roofs. That is the only
reason we were late.

Senator BROWNBACK. But you do not have that sort of cir-
cumstance

General BECTON. We do not have a judge this time.
Senator BROWNBACK. Right. You do not know who files lawsuits

when; that they might allege something, somewhere, but you do
not know of any circumstances that exist to date that would draw
that opening date past

General BECTON. I do not know of any circumstances that exist.
Senator BROWNBACK [continuing]. September 1?
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General BECTON. September 1 is the date that was selected, and
we will be opening our schools on September 1.

Senator BROWNBACK. You are going to have a heavy load this
summer, too. Apparently, you are going to have 15,000 to 20,000,
did you say, students?

General BECTON. That is correct.
Senator BROWNBACK. And these are students that have not

passedthat you are not passing for social reasons, and so they
have to take summer school or

General BECTON. I am not saying for social reasons.
Ms. LADNER. Those are for academic reasons.
General BECTON. If you do not mind, I will let Arlene answer,

please.
Ms. ACKERMAN. Actually, it is a combination. We will not know

until we administer the test in the springbut we know we have
a substantial number of students who are scoring below basic in ei-
ther reading and math or in both reading and math. What we are
trying to provide in the summer school is an opportunity for all of
those students to sharpen those skills.

Senator BROWNBACK. OK. An opportunity or a requirement?
Ms. ACKERMAN. A requirement for some, an opportunity for oth-

ers who will be passed on. What we are trying to do is use summer
school as an intervention strategy for students who have shown us
that they need remediation in either one or the other of these two
core subject areas.

For many of our students, about 12,000 students, they will be
going as a requirement because they have scored below basic in
both reading and mathematics.

Senator BROWNBACK. At what level? Is this throughout public
education or which students?

Ms. ACKERMAN. It is grades 1 through 11, and 12th graders can
go for Carnegie units.

Senator BROWNBACK. So you anticipate you will have approxi-
mately 12,000 students that will be required to attend summer ses-
sions?

Ms. ACKERMAN. And that is based on last spring's test scores
which, by the way, are really baseline scores. It is the first time
we had administered that test system-wide.

Given the strategies that we have already put in place to im-
prove student performance, I do not anticipate that we will have
that many, but we have planned for up to 20,000 children, based
on last spring's results.

Senator BROWNBACK. Let me turn your attention to these test re-
sults, of which I am certain all of you were concerned at the low
performance level that existed, and, particularly, the two high
schools that did not have a single student in the 10th-grade scoring
at math competency. I thought it was appalling.

Now, are these what you anticipated to date, and where can we
see these numbers going to in the spring and next year?

MS. ACKERMAN. I would anticipate that you will see the numbers
of students who are scoring below basic to decrease, the number of
students who are scoring at basic to increase, and the number of
students scoring at proficient and advanced levels also to increase.
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We have really focused our attention this year in all of our
schools on academic achievement. All of our schools have school im-
provement plans. We have identified our students who are scoring
below basic in reading and math. We have put in place after school,
before school and in-school, tutoring programs. We have focused
our corporate and community partners on reading. So there are
major strategies that we have put in place that I think will im-
prove these test scores this spring. I am confident that will happen.

Senator BROWNBACK. What are your objectives for these test
changes this year, this spring? What are you saying? What is your
objective for getting these results improved?

Ms. ACKERMAN. Well, the objective is that every school will show
improvement in these scores.

Senator BROWNBACK. How much improvement?
Ms. ACKERMAN. What we have said is that all schools must show

improvement for our students. In our schools where chronic under-
achievement has been a problem, there is a problem, they have a
10-percent target that they must meet.

There are 23 schools of those schools that are inwe call them
targeted assistance schools. These are schools that have shown us
some real serious deficiencies in terms of student achievement, and
we did put in place a target for them.

Senator BROWNBACK. For instance, the two high schools that had
zero students scoring at basic level in math at the 10th grade, what
is the objective, the stated objective for that high school perform-
ance measures?

Ms. ACKERMAN. We have met with all of our schools. Based on
those meetings and the test scores, we have identified now a new
set of schools that we know need extra assistance. We have identi-
fied them as new targeted assistance schools. We are working with
those schools, and to develop plans for improvement for each of
them. We are putting in, again, strategies to help these students
improve. We are putting more staff in these schools, and we are
providing targeted professional development for these teachers.

Senator BROWNBACK. I understand the general, but I want you
to take me through specifically what is the objective for those

Ms. ACKERMAN. The objective is that they will
Senator BROWNBACK [continuing]. Two high schools, and what is

the specific plan of how we get there.
Ms. ACKERMAN. I believe that you have to look at this on mul-

tiple levels. You have to provide professional development. You
have to have an instructional program that is tailored to meet the
needs of those students who are scoring below basic, and then you
have to set some targets for performance. At this time, our targets
for the targeted assistance schools are 10 percent.

This new set of schools was just identified this year.
Senator BROWNBACK. Let me be specific with that. Then those

two high schools that had zero math competence, math at basic
competency levels, your objective this spring is for them to have 10
percent of their students at basic math grade level?

Ms. ACKERMAN. No. Our objective for our targeted assistance
schools is that they will improve their overall test scores by 10 per-
cent.
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Senator BROWNBACK. So everybody's test scores will go up 10
percent.

Ms. ACKERMAN. We are looking at the overall scores, in those
schools; the overall school scores should improve by 10 percent.

Senator BROWNBACK. What happens if they do not?
Ms. ACKERMAN. For those schools that were newly identified

and those two high schools were not in the original cohort of
schoolsthey have 2 years to improve. All schools get 2 years to
improve. The 23 schools that were identified last year will be re-
viewed at the end of this spring as targeted assistance schools.
They must show improvement at the end of this school year or they
will be reconstituted.

Those schools that have been newly identified have 2 years or
two test score periods to improve, counting this year and next
June. The two high schools you mentioned are in the second group.
They are receiving major interventions now.

Senator BROWNBACK. So that, if those test results do not go upthis year
Ms. ACKERMAN. We will look at reconstitution for those schools,

the first 23. We will be looking at those schools.
Senator BROWNBACK. When you say reconstitution
Ms. ACKERMAN. It means starting over again, looking at those

schools, identifying new staff, new principals, and starting over
with research-based design models that have proven track records
for student achievement.

Senator BROWNBACK. So that some of the principals may be re-
moved if these test results do not go up?

Ms. ACKERMAN. In those schools, yes. The entire staff will have
to reapply for their jobs. The whole schools will be emptied out.

Senator BROWNBACK. I am a little concerned, if I understand this
correctly. You are saying 2 years to improve 10 percent. Is that cor-
rect?

Ms. ACKERMAN. Each year.
Senator BROWNBACK. Each year, 10 percent.
Ms. ACKERMAN. Right.
Senator BROWNBACK. So we are up 20 percent
MS. ACKERMAN. Right.
Senator BROWNBACK [continuing]. Over 2 years.
Ms. ACKERMAN. That is a minimum.
Senator BROWNBACK. That seems a minimum to me. In looking

at these results, if you have got these up 20 percent, we are still
not at national averages, and we are doing that over a period of2 years

Ms. ACKERMAN. Right.
Senator BROWNBACK [continuing]. And that does not seem to me

to be fair to the D.C. Schools.
Ms. ACKERMAN. Given the fact that we
Senator BROWNBACK. Why not set a higher target and a stronger

objective for them?
Ms. ACKERMAN. I do think you have to set a reasonable target,

and I think, given the fact that school did not open on-time, given
the fact that basic infrastructures were not in place, that if you
look at what other districts are doing, what we are doing is reason-
able. In fact, if you look at Chicago, they have not set targets at
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all. They have only said that schools have to improve. We have set
targets that schools have to improve by a certain amount, espe-
cially the schools where we have expressed some real concern.

I think that we have to put in place some infrastructures that
were not there in the past. We did not have system-wide standards.
We did not have alignment between the standard and the curricu-
lum. Last spring was the first time we had given this test (the
Standford-9 Achievement Test). Before that, we had used the same
test for the period of 9 years, so we were not even getting good
data.

We did not provide professional development for teachers, and re-
quire them to go. With all of those things we are now putting in
place, I think that we can then begin to set the targets higher, but
this year, it was at 10 percent, given all of those factors for those
schools that we have identified as needing immediate support.

Senator BROWNBACK. If a student does not score at basic com-
petency level, then will they be required to go to summer

Ms. ACKERMAN. If they score below basic, in reading and mathe-
matics, they have to go to summer school.

Senator BROWNBACK. And this ig 1st through 11th grades?
Ms. ACKERMAN. For 1st through 11th.
Senator BROWNBACK. Well, I would urge you to up the goal.

Maybe it is because I have kids that this seems so precious and so
important and so critical that it happens in a timely manner.

I realize we can all talk about, well, a year, 2 years, these things
will happen, but, my goodness, I mean, each of those children, each
year they peg through the system, if they do not get it now, they
are not going to get it.

Ms. ACKERMAN. Well, Mr. Chairman, I want you to know that I
have spent 29 years as a teacher and in education. It is my life.
And I certainly do understand setting clear expectations and high
expectations.

I do, though, need to tell you, in the 29 years that I have been
in this business, I have never seen a system so broken. You have
to put in place those infrastructures that I talked aboutboth the
personnel and the financial management systems to support
schools and what we are putting in place on the academic side. I
believe there are reasonable expectations to start, and I believe
that we can ratchet the standards higher in the future.

Senator BROWNBACK. I do not think you are fast enough. I really
do not. This is not good enough for us as a nation. Look at the
number, 61 percent of our 10th graders are not scoring at math
competency in the Nation.

Ms. ACKERMAN. I did not say I was satisfied with that. I do,
though, believe we have a clear plan for improvement.

Senator BROWNBACK. Well, I understand that, but you had basi-
cally said that thenGeneral Becton, you have been on board since
September of when?

General BECTON. Sixteen months. I came in November 1996.
Senator BROWNBACK. November 1996. That was 2 years fromnow
General BECTON. No, that is not whatI do not think she said

that, sir.
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Senator BROWNBACK. OK. Then I want to get it straight what we
are saying.

General BECTON. The targeted assistance schools for the 2 yearsthat
Ms. ACKERMAN. Right. Those schools
Senator BROWNBACK. Wait. Let me make my question clearer.
MS. ACKERMAN. OK.
Senator BROWNBACK. At what point in time will we be at na-

tionalat basically, roughly national levels on math and reading in
the D.C. Public Schools?

Ms. ACKERMAN. My goal is to have that within the next 3 years,
but I think it depends upon the grade level.

At our 1st grade, we start at the national average. So we are al-
ready there. We would have to look at it grade by grade, and at
some grade levels, we are certainly closer to that than others.

Given this very clear focus on student achievement, I think you
will see us get there in some grades a lot quicker because we are
closer to the national average. As I said, at the 1st grade, we are
there. I think you will see us improve at every level.

Senator BROWNBACK. So, 3 years from now, we will be at the na-
tional average?

Ms. ACKERMAN. My goal is to get us there within that 3-year pe-
riod, by the year 2000.

Senator BROWNBACK. General Becton, you will have been on
board then 4 years and some months and we will get to the na-
tional average at that point.

General BECTON. Not really because we go away June of 2000.
We have until the year 2000, June, before we turn it back over to
the elected officials.

Senator BROWNBACK. So we do not even have a plan while you
are in office for us to get to national averages.

General BECTON. Sir, I do not have the numbers in front of me,
but we can get the numbers for you.

We are a member of the 50 urban area schools. You will not find
any, to the best of my knowledge, of those 50 urban schools that
are at the national average. We are trying to be a model. We are
all working towards that goal, but when you have kids in the 10th
and 11th grades who have had a social promotion, who can grad-
uate as they did last year and read at the 6th-grade level with a
diploma in their hand, it is going to take more than 2 years to get
that child up to speed.

Senator BROWNBACK. But we do not even have a plan in place
to get us to national average, and I realize what you are talking
about.

General BECTON. We do have a plan.
Senator BROWNBACK. Well, no, you are saying you go out of exist-

ence by 2000, and we are not going to get there for 3 years yet from
this point.

Ms. ACKERMAN. No, we have a very clear academic plan that in-
cluded standards, professional development, and clear guidelines
for promotion. It is very clear.

Senator BROWNBACK. Let me put it one other way, then.
MS. ACKERMAN. OK
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Senator BROWNBACK. Will we be at national average by the time
General Becton's job has concluded?

Ms. ACKERMAN. That is our goal.
Senator BROWNBACK. Thank you. I will accept that.
We have got to do this, and I know I am haranguing on you,

General Becton. It is just that this is tough
General BECTON. But I would like to have the necessary timeto
Senator BROWNBACK [continuing]. And we need to set that objec-

tive. If we do not set that objective, we will never hit it.
General BECTON. Can we have time to explain the plan that Ar-

lene has? I do not think this is the place to do it, but we would
be more than happy to set down and go over, step by step, how we
propose to do it.

Ms. ACKERMAN. And, Mr. Chairman, I would like to say that
being at national average would not be my ultimate goal. It would
be above the national average

Senator BROWNBACK. Absolutely.
Ms. ACKERMAN [continuing]. Because I would like to see us ex-

emplary.
Senator BROWNBACK. Absolutely.
Ms. ACKERMAN. And exemplary is above the national average.
Senator BROWNBACK. And that is what has concerned me about

this dialogue here, I did not think we really were even looking at
trying to and setting that as a goal. I realize you set that as a goal
and if you do not make it people say you fail, but if you do not even
set it as a goal, we are not going to get anywhere close to it. You
have got to set that.

Ms. ACKERMAN. The new vision is to be exemplary. You cannot
be exemplary if you are just average.

Senator BROWNBACK. And we have got to have the plan to do
that. Dr. Ladner.

Ms. LADNER. I was simply going to say that we should separate
the two issues here. One is that when the emergencystate of
emergency was declared in the schools, the financial authority set
a sunset provision, so that these schools would in 21/2 years return
back over to the elected school board and so on, but the second fac-
tor here is that the education of the children and the goals that are
set by the educators will continue, and we are not placing some
timetable onor at least these two factors are not consistent.

I am not saying that we are going to stop making the progress
when General Becton leaves. We are saying that what we brought
the emergency team in to do was to do the turnaround, fix what
Ms. Ackerman just called the most irretrievably brokenI used "ir-
retrievable" as my termbroken system that she has worked in for
29 years, and do all those things for it that will lay the groundwork
so that the progress can be made rapid and continuous. We fully
expect that to continue no matter who is at the help of the schools.

I would think that this community would demand, after General
Becton's team is no longer there, accountability from a top-ranked
educator who will continue to make sure that we become an exem-
plary school.

Senator BROWNBACK. Well, thank you. I will look forward to
meeting with you, Ms. Ackerman, to talk about this. Since we met
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the first time around, I have continued to be\very concerned about
the lack of performance taking place, and I /do not think we are
moving rapidly enough, and I hope that you feel similarly that we
have to move more rapidly not only in the academic results, and
we have not talked to General Becton today, but also about the
safety issues within the schools.

Actually, do you have a comment about how that has occurred
here lately?

General BECTON. Yes, I have.
Senator BROWNBACK. Because the numbers that I cited are very

troubling as well.
General BECTON. The data we have shows that reports of violent

crimes in the categories of simple assault, sexual assault, and
fighting have increased over the past 2 years, while reports of as-
saults with a deadly weapon have occurred at about the same
rate .1

However, there are two factors that impact these numbers. First,
as an administration, we have said to school staff that all incidents
must be reported. In the past, I think we can clearly show that
some principals did not report incidents in their schools because
they believed those reports would "look bad" on their records. This
is no longer the case. Therefore, while more incidents are being re-
ported, it does not necessarily follow that more incidents are occur-
ring.

In addition, as you know, we installed new metal detectors in
many of our schools during this period. Previously, schools did not
have metal detectors or the metal detectors did not work well. This
new security technology is helping us to pick up weapons that pre-
viously may have gotten into the schools unnoticed. Therefore, our
numbers for weapons possession have gone up over the period.
However, I view this as positive indication that our methods of
identifying weapons and confiscating them are working.

Over the past 2 years, by increasing incident reporting rates and
enhancing technology, we have essentially established a legitimate
baseline for security. It is my hope and expectation that we will see
a decrease from that baseline in the coming years.

Senator BROWNBACK. The figures I have show a huge number of
violent incidences taking place, 1,600, I think that we had reported.

General BECTON. I do not recognize that number, except the
1,600 I remember was Fire Code abated, but that is not what you
are talking about.

We have 197 knives, 8 cans of pepper spray, firearms, those
things that we have identified specifically, and we can give you a
chart of all of those kinds of weapons that we have identified.2

Senator BROWNBACK. Good, because the students and the teach-
ers have to feel safe, as you noted previously.

General BECTON. I understand that clearly.
Senator BROWNBACK. Well, thank you. There will be a continued

review in the U.S. Senate on D.C. Public Schools. You have seen
various different proposals come forward from Senator Lieberman

Letter from General Becton appears in the Appendix on page 134.
2 Chart referred to appears in the Appendix on page 133.
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and myself on charter schools and their expansion, and on vouchers
for low-income parents.

I know that there had been a private voucher program where
1,000 volicher scholarships were offered, and this is according to an
article today in the Washington Post. Over 7,500 applicants, about
a tenth of the total of Public School enrollment, enrolled for those,
and we will see those efforts continue as we try to provide addi-
tional options, and I would like to think competition, too, for you
that will help further spur on growth and improvement in those
test results because that is what we are all after.

General BECTON. We encourage charter schools because they do
bring about competition.

Senator BROWNBACK. I hope you will encourage vouchers, too,
here sometime, General Becton. You and I have been around about
that a few times.

General BECTON. Why don't we have a referendum for the City,
let them figure it out?

Senator BROWNBACK. Well, it seems like 7,500 parents have sure
voted here on these scholarships, but I appreciate your input.

I hope we can meet. I am glad that you have set a goal to at
least get at national standards by the year 2000 because I think
we have to at least do that, and we should do much, much better.

Thank you very much.
General BECTON. Thank you, sir.
Senator BROWNBACK. Our final panel presentation will be a par-

ent of D.C. Public School students. Taalib-Din Uqdah is the pre-
senter, and we would welcome you to the panel.

Mr. Uqdah, thank you very much for joining us today.
TESTIMONY OF TAALIB-DIN UQDAH, PARENT OF D.C. PUBLIC

SCHOOL STUDENTS
Mr. UQDAH. Yes, sir. I thank you for having me here as well. I

would like to at least take a few minutes to introduce myself to
you. I do not come with any commas behind my name. So I am not
a bureaucratic official. However, I am a businessman here in the
District of Columbia. I have been self-employed for at least the last
24 years.

I am 45 years old, and I am a native Washingtonian. I am also
the custodial parent of my niece who is a 1st grader, 6 years old,
and my nephew, who is a 6th grader, 11 years old, at Shepherd El-
ementary School here in the District of Columbia.

I think the greatest distinction that I have in sitting before you
is that I am a product of the D.C. Public School system. So I am
able to testify as an expert witness, as it were, on what I knew the
system to be.

I considered the system at that particular time to be a success,
and I am basing that on my own personal success as a business-
man here in the District of Columbia. I did not go past the 12th
grade. I graduated from Eastern High School in 1970. However, I
do feel that my education in the District of Columbia prepared me
for life.

My business, I started with $500 and a 4-year lease on someone
else's building. Today, I employ 14 people. I own my own building
that has a value of over $400,000, even in a bad market, and I
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have consistently grossed nearly a half-a-million dollars a year for
the last 10 of the 18 years that I have been in this business in par-
ticular.

The bottom line is, sir, that I am not a burden on society. I do,
however, have to advise this Subcommittee, or at least advise you,
that what was the norm for me is no longer the case.

I do not like what is happening today, nor do I feel the con-
fidence in the present system to educate my two children.

Despite my own parents' constant insistence that I personally at-
tend college, I chose not to do so. In fact, everything that I learned
within the D.C. Public School system, I actually learned by the
time I had finished junior high school because I went to a progres-
sive junior high school at that time where they were giving us pro-
gressive college preparatory courses. So, by the time I went to high
school, all I had was the same books, but just different teachers.
At that particular time, the system did not have a high school to
move us on to the next level.

We did not have the luxury of a Banniker High School or a Duke
Ellington, which are a couple of the schools in the District of Co-
lumbia that have been set aside for students that have high aca-
demic achievement or to achieve higher levels of excellence in the
arts.

However, we were truly like the generations having preceded us
in that we were the children our parents were raising in order to
save America. Now I find that we have to raise the consciousness
of America in order to save our children.

I believe within the present Public School system, there is a lack
of commitment, compassion, professionalism, and a general feeling
of distrust amongst for and towards administrators. The D.C. Pub-
lic School system has no connection with reality, no connections
with the day-to-day struggles we make as parents, willing to sac-
rifice everything for the education of our children. Even if they do
not appreciate it, it is what we must do or regret later not having
done it.

Those impositions to make decisions in the best interest of the
students and their parents do not. They have made them in the
best interest of the administration, choosing instead to protect the
system and their employment status within it, not to rock the boat
or the proverbial apple cart that they do not want to upset. That
is why PTA meetings are held only once a month, on a week night
at the most inopportune time for parents, with single parents
bringing up a child or children alone, where parents with children
at two or three different schools or grade levels find it impossible
to participate at all, where information is scarce, sporadic, and in
many cases slow in coming, if at all.

I, like many parents, believe it is by design. For the less we
know, the less likely it is that the natives will become restless. So
important telephone numbers . that we need to know as parents,
numbers that will help us through the system's bureaucratic maze,
is a well-kept secret, doled out if at all once a year at a strategic
PTA meeting and not printed for all of us to know and understand
the process, where policies and rules are learned on an incidental
or need-to-know basis, but not common knowledge amongst the ma-
jority of parents.
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This is why our present Public School system is experimental
with a heavy emphasis on socialization and not academics, with a
grading system of proficient and in process and not the typical al-
phanumeric system we are accustomed to.

This is why the focus of attention is now on test and testing pro-
cedures and not a comprehensive knowledge-based approach.
Teachers have been threatened with termination, non-promotion,
or some form of discipline should their charges fail to perform ade-
quately on the upcoming performance test in April. So the focus on
educating children, is not what we can teach them, but how can we
prepare them to pass the test.

This is why today's administrative educators will support a pre
K and Kindergarten curriculum of inventive spelling, allowing chil-
dren to purposely misspell words in order not to stifle their creative
writing skills, or while within the D.C. Public School system, em-
phasis is not placed on reading until the 1st grade where students
are expected to read, but they are not taught in the preK or Kin-
dergarten curriculums, and phonics is not only discouraged as a
learning tool, but with many experienced teachers, snuck into the
curriculum.

This is why when you bring these concerns to teachers and ad-
ministrators, they defend or make excuses for the present system,
rather than embrace your recommendations or suggestions. They
leave you feeling that your way is the old way, and it really did
not work for you. You only think it did.

These new methods are now considered to be not the best way,
but the way, and if you do not like it, perhaps you should put your
child in a private school, as my wife was instructed to do by one
of Amber's preK teachers, but the truth of the matter is, it has
not only become the best way because someone has invested hun-
dreds of thousands of dollars in making it that way, and now that
they are reaping the rewards of that investment, all the reports,
all the studies, and all the surveys done by public and private com-
panies who have a vested interest in selling their teaching methods
to a beleaguered public system like ours have shown that this is
now the best way to educate our children and we buy into it blind-
ly.

Administrators know it is experimental. Parents think their chil-
dren are being educated, not experimented upon, but we are stuck
with it. The administration first becomes defensive, then commit-
ted to it, not because it is the best, but because they own it.

Now the onus is put on us as parents to act as teachers, and the
schools only reinforce what we provide, when my understanding
and those of others has always been that the system would educate
our children and we as parents would only reinforce what they
have acquired during the course of the day. Everything has now
been turned around.

Our children have become business decisions, a brokered com-
modity to be traded on the open market for poverty and ignorance,
hopelessness and despair, drug addiction and nonperformance, veg-
etative states of ignorance and walking social misfits, for the latest
in designer fashion, hip-hop culture, and various doses of entertain-
ment drugs, be it cocaine and marijuana or hard stuff like sports
television, video, video games, etc.
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So what do we do? I have made certain recommendations, for ex-
ample, that we require uniforms for preK through 12th grade, but
with a different approach. Let the kids design the uniforms. Let
them travel to the Carolinas and pick out the fabric, set the pro-
duction schedules, the shows to display their wares, the accounting
system to bill parents who cannot afford the cost of uniforms. The
students can set a Goodwill-type store that take clothing in for
younger children or graduates who have outgrown the clothes, set
up embroidery machines for children who may want uniforms with
a personal touch. They will learn by doing.

And I have made other recommendations as well. In the interest
of time, I will not repeat them:

However, if we can only find someone in this system with half
a brain, recommendations like these would work, and the same
could. be said of. any of the other trade services or retail industries
in America. It would encourage kids to go to college who want more
out of life, and for those who do not, what is the worst that will
happen? They will have an experience of a lifetime and a skill they
can take anywhere in the world and earn a living. It is a win-win
situation for everyone. It does not reduce or diminish academics. In
fact, I would submit to you that it only enhances it. It makes aca-
demics practical. It can teach math, history, science, economics,
and English all at once-. It makes education exciting for young
minds.

We can then walk away from this process and know that we
have done the best for our children to prepare for the coming cen-
tury; that, if nothing else, we have created individuals who may or
may not be high academic achievers, but the one thing they are not
is a burden on society, and isn't that what it is all about?

I thank you, and if. you have any questions, I would be glad to
answer.

Senator BROWNBACK. Thank you, Mr. Uqdah, for your testimony.
You have two children in the D.C. Public Schools?
Mr. UQDAH. Yes, I do.
Senator BROWNBACK. What grades are they in?
Mr. UQDAH. First and 6th.
Senator BROWNBACK. And your 6th grader has been in the D.C.

Schools the whole way?
Mr. UQDAH. He has actually been in since the 3rd grade. He

came down from Providence, Rhode Island, after 1st and 2nd grade.
Senator BROWNBACK. So he has been in the- school system for 3

years, then?
Mr. UQDAH. Well, this is his fourth year.
Senator BROWNBACK. Going on the fourth year?
Mr. UQDAH. Yes, sir.
Senator BROWNBACK. Does he feel safe in the school?
Mr. UQDAH. Safe, I would tell you yes.
Senator BROWNBACK. Does your daughter feel safe in the 1st

grade?
Mr. UQDAH. Safety at this particular school-is not a major issue.
I have questioned some of the disciplinary actions in which the

principal has taken whenever there have been physical altercations
which have taken place in the school.
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I quite honestly do not know what the policy is on any force or
any discipline problems, and you only really find out what they are
at the point that the discipline is either meted out or the point the
altercation actually occurs, but Shepherd is not a school that is
equipped, nor do I feel it needs to be equipped, with metal detec-
tors or anything of that nature.

It does have a security guard that is posted at the school from
at least 8:30 in the morning until close of school in the evening.

Senator BROWNBACK. What if you were offered the option of a
private school voucher? Do you think that is a good proposal or
not?

Mr. UQDAH. Without question. And if I could, I would like to at
least elaborate on it for a moment.

Senator BROWNBACK. Please.
Mr. UQDAH. Prior to school vouchers being somewhat popular in

today's political vernacular, I only recognized it as poor quality of
education and being a tax-paying citizen who pays more than my
fair share of taxes by virtue of the fact that I am a businessman
in addition to being a homeowner and a D.C. resident. I felt as
though the education system was not providing the type of edu-
cation for my children that I felt would be commensurate with the
amount of taxes that I was paying. So I have always looked for a
way to be able to improve that by having an option, as you are say-
ing, to be able to put them in a private school.

Here lately, I have learned that what I have attempted to do is
known as a school voucher. I just quite honestly did not have that
type of definition for what I was looking to do within the D.C. Gov-
ernment, period, and I have testified before the City Council on
this very thing, but I was not calling it a school voucher. I was only
looking for a better way to have my tax dollars spent on education.

Senator BROWNBACK. Let me ask you, as a parent, you talked
about the inability or the difficulty of being able to get the nec-
essary telephone numbers to contact people and the PTA meetings
not being regularly called. What are your avenues to express your
ideas within the D.C. Public Schools?

Mr. UQDAH. Forums like this, me calling up one of the parents
of another classmate or they calling me. We are just kind of bounc-
ing things off of each other.

I did not come here with any illusions that my testimony was
going to make a difference. Quite honestly, with you, I believe that
I am only here to hear myself talk. I do not think that anything
that I am saying before you or any of the administrators or the
principals or the teachers who I have talked to for years about
these problems are really going to make a difference.

Senator BROWNBACK. What do they say to you?
Mr. UQDAH. For the most part, based on personal conversations

that I have had with them, I feel comfortable in telling you that
there are going to be many parents, including myself, that plan on
putting one, if not both of their children, in private school next
year, whether there are vouchers or not.

Senator BROWNBACK. But tell me what do the administrators and
the teachers say to you when you express the sort of concerns

Mr. UQDAH. Well, basically, what they do is they tell me that
that was the old way; that there are new systems now in place.
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I mean, this whole idea of inventive spelling, I have never heard
to that. That is the most ridiculous thing I have ever heard of.

Or, when my children come home with a report card and the
grade is "proficient" or "in process," I mean, what does that mean?
I do not even know what that means. So I go in with questions,
but I come away feeling as if I do not have any answers. So I con-
tinue to beat away at this process, and I do that by calling up pri-
vate schools and asking them to send me applications for their
schools, to allow me to come by and visit, because I am at the end.
I do not know what else to do.

There have been at least two moves in the District of Columbia
to pass vouchers. My only objections to the vouchers as this Con-
gress has tried to pass them is that they have only been limited
to poor people. I have got a big problem with thatnot you person-
ally, but what is being suggested is that I go out and become home-
less, and then all of these things will be available to me, and that
is not the way the system should work.

Yes, it is going to be a sacrifice for me and other parents to be
able to afford to send our children to private school, but it is a sac-
rifice that we are willing to make. I have talked to other parents,
and they feel the same way.

I have been warned, as it were, not to bash the District of Co-
lumbia, but you cannot bash anything that is already broken.
Bashing something is if I go out to your, brand-new car and I hit
it with a baseball bat, but if you have already got a dent in it,
there is nothing I can do to make it any worse.

So, when I hear people make certain comments, when I read in
the paper that retired general has now quithe has got close to
$200,000 of my money, and he quit whining because he could not
get my support. He quit because he could not get public support,
but he walked away with his salary, a $30,000 signing bonus, and
a $38,000 performance bonus? That is ridiculous. That is what has
got me down here. That is what has got me intense about this.

I am not angry. I am just intense because it is not making any
sense to me, because I have to go back home and I have to look
my two children in the eye and try to explain to them why it is
that I am down here testifying before a Senate committee about
their education.

What bothers me is I am a product of this very system, and I
did not turn out so bad. There is no number in front of my chest.
I am not a member of any penal institution. I do not have a police
record, but I graduated from these same schools. I had a skills
class that taught me how to take notes. I do not see that in the
system anymore.

I mean, how do you have a system that requires a 1st grader to
know how to read, but they are not taught how to read in preK
or Kindergarten?

They have got a system in preK and Kindergarten now that re-
quires the teacher, requires them under the academic system, to
set aside 2 hours for socialization. Well, I am not sending my chil-
dren to school for a United Nations experience. They can get that
at home. That is why I have neighbors. That is why they have
classmates, where they can go for a socialization process. I do not
want my child off in a corner somewhere takingin a kitchen pre-
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tending like she is cooking. She has got a kitchen at home. I am
not sending her to school for that. I am sending her to school to
learn, and that it is my responsibility as a parent to reinforce
whatever it is she has learned when she comes home, but when she
comes home, she brings home assignments by example, where she
is learning how to tell time. She is learning right now the hour
time and the half-hour time. I see the process that the teacher is
beginning to take her through, and then she comes home and she
is learning 5, 10, 15, 20, 25, 30. It is like a rhyme for children. I
certainly remember it.

But then the next time she comes home, she is learning coins.
So I go to the teacher and I ask her what is happening here. She
was learning time 1 day and coins the next day. What I am finding
out is these teachersher teacher like many other teachers have
a curriculum that they have to get through in order to deal with
this test by April. So, if they have a list of 40 things that they have
to do, they want to be able to say to their principal, "I did those
40 things," whether or not the student learned anything. That is
not important. That is not the issue. The issue is, "Did you get
through these 40 things?" "Yes, I did," and that is the problem that
I am having.

I would rather for my child to learn 25 of those things ade-
quately, proficiently, and know it backwards and forward, ready to
move on to the next grade level, than to know that 40 items have
been covered simply so that she can do better on this test. That is
the problem.

Senator BROWNBACK. I wish the school officials had stayed here
to hear you testify.

Mr. UQDAH. Now it is a feel-good process. I understand that. I
know why the room cleared out.

Senator BROWNBACK. Well, it may be for you, but I wish that
they had been here to hear it, and I hope there are some people
here from the schools that can hear that testimony that you are
putting forward because I think a lot of it makes a lot of sense that
you are putting forward. Thank you for coming in.

Mr. UQDAH. Thank you for having me, sir.
Senator BROWNBACK. You give us your views from somebody that

is a parent in the system, and I think as you can detect from where
we are at today, we are trying to get the system improving in a
quick order and trying to get it better for your kids before they
graduate through it in a system that in many respects is far more
harmful to them than it is helpful.

Mr. UQDAH. Yes, sir.
Senator BROWNBACK. We are trying to change that.
Mr. UQDAH. I hope so.
Senator BROWNBACK. Thank you very much for joining us. Thank

you all for joining us.
The hearing is adjourned.
[Whereupon, at 3:01 p.m., the Subcommittee was adjourned.]
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Mr. Chairman and Members of the Subcommittee:

We are pleased to be here today to discuss the results of our review of the District of

Columbia Public Schools' (DCPS) efforts to repair school roofs during the summer of

1997. You indicated that your Subcommittee had received widely varying information on

the cost of the roof repair work ranging from $11 to $19 per square foot, and that there

were divergent views on when funds were available to do that work, ranging from as

early as April 1997 to July 1997. Consistent with your request, we focused on when funds

were available to pay for the roof work and the cost, including the cost per square foot,

of the work completed in fiscal year 1997. These issues are discussed in greater detail in

our report, which is being issued today to the Subcommittee.'

My statement today covers three points:

when funds were made available to pay for roof repairs;

the cost of the roof repairs, including the cost per square foot; and

additional roofs to be repaired in fiscal year 1998 and beyond.

'District of Columbia Public Schools: Availability of Funds and the Cost of the FY 1997
goof Projects (GAO/AIMD-98-82, March 9, 1998).
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BACKGROUND

Roof repairs were done at 61 D.C. schools during fiscal year 1997. The General Services

Administration (GSA) managed the work at 10 schools and DCPS at 51 schools. The

mkjority of District public schools were built over 50 years ago, generally have not been

well maintained, and, consequently, substantial deferred maintenance existed. In

addition, concerns about safety and problems with leaky school roofs have been widely

reported. We and others have documented the less-than-adequate condition of the

District's public schools in several reports.=

AYBILOILEDLQUEUNDS

Sufficient funding was available to begin roof work when schools were closed for the

summer on June 20, 1997. Bond proceeds of $11.5 million that became available in

October 1996 were being used to fund the GSA-managed work. Additional funds later

became available for the DCPS-managed work: $18 million in March 1997 and an

additional $20 million in June 1997. Thus, when D.C. schools closed for the summer, at

least $38 million was available for DCPS-managed roof repairs.

2School Facilities: Condition of America's Schools (GAO/HEHS-95-61, Feb. 1, 1995);
School Facilities: America's Schools Report Differing Conditions (GAO/HEHS-96-103,
June 14, 1996); School Facilities: Profiles of School Condition by State (GAO/HEHS-96-
148, June 24, 1996); District of Columbia Draft Emergency Supplemental ninding Request
for District of Columbia Public Schools (GAO/HEHS-97-116R, May 5, 1997); and GSA's
study Determination and Prioritization of the District of Columbia: Public Schools
Proiects (February 18, 1997).

2

BEST COPY MUGU



38

Although these funds were available when schools closed, the DCPS-managed roof work

was delayed to the third week of July. DCPS was not prepared to start making repairs

immediately because it had not completed sufficient initial work, such as determining the

scope of work on individual projects that forms the basis for seeking bids. One reason

for DCPS not being prepared to start work was the almost complete turnover in technical

capital project staff during the school year. Also, work was delayed because of

difficulties in securing bids. DCPS told us that at the time the long-range plan was

submitted in February 1997, it expected to complete roof work by the end of October

1997 but accelerated it in response to a court order that roof work not be done while

classes were in session. Consequently, the work was accomplished under a highly

compressed schedule.

COST OF REPAIRS

Our review showed that DCPS spent about $37 million for roof replacemenVrepair in

fiscal year 1997. This cost included an extensive amount of work to ensure that facilities

were structurally sound and watertight. A significant, but not determinable, amount of

these costs was attributable to factors other than what would be strictly interpreted as

roof replacement/repair work. Among these were structural integrity, fire damage, the

general deterioration from deferred maintenance, and warranty stipulations. Extensive

work was performed to repair and replace masonry, cornices, flashing, and coping and to

3

4 2



39

clean drains. As a result, the costs were higher than what would have been incurred for

roofing work only.

DCPS had initially budgeted $22 million for roof work, which according to DCPS officials,

did not address the complexity of the roof areas and other issues. Subsequently, based

on the detailed evaluations done at the individual schools as a basis for contracting for

work during fiscal year 1997, the aggregate cost estimateswhich we understood

considered the relevant factorswas $31.7 million. The contracts for work at 54 of the 61

schools totaled about $32.7 million. Work on the remaining seven schools was done

primarily by DCPS in-house maintenance staff. As of February 4, 1998, DCPS had

provided us with change orders totaling about $2 million for the 54 schools, which brings

the total repair costs reported to date to about $34.7 million. In addition, DCPS incurred

about $2 million for consulting, contract administration, and construction management

fees.

Considering the costs for all the work involved, the average per square foot cost was

about $20. For GSA-managed contracts, the average cost per square foot was about $13

whereas, for DCPS-managed contracts, the average cost per square foot was about $22.

DCPS officials attributed the higher square-foot costs of their contracts to extensive roof-

related work that was required to achieve sound facilities. Also, GSA issued task orders

against its existing contracts and did not have to seek bids when the market was

saturated with roof work, its projects were done over longer time frames and required

4
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less overtime pay, and its contracts covered only flat roof work whereas DCPS contracts

covered multiple roof areas and materials, which are costlier.

The individual schools worked on by DCPS contractors had square foot costs ranging

from $4.19 for Ketcharn Elementary to $77.27 for Cook Elementary. The square foot cost

for GSA-contracted work ranged from $10.10 for Shadd Elementary to $27.43 for Spingarn

Gym. According to GSA, it encountered unusual conditions at Spingarn Gym because of

fire damage, the installation of a new roof deck and supporting structures, and a

significant amount of asbestos removed.

DCPS officials indicated that the wide range in per square-foot costs among schools

resulted primarily from roof-related work. For example, less than 20 percent of Cook

Elementary's total cost was related to roof replacement. Most of the cost was related to

the repair of an ornamental cornice just below the roof level. The cornice had

deteriorated, and portions of it were at risk of falling off; therefore, Cook was considered

a major safety concern. In addition, the cornice had to be repaired from a crane.

F'urther, DCPS officials stated that much work was done to repair the skylight and to

repair coping with new stainless steel covering.

For MacFarland Junior High ($64.45), DCPS officials and engineering consultants stated

that large amounts of masonry repair (repointing and replacement of broken brick),

installation of metal panels on high parapet walls, and skylight repair were performed. In

5
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addition, the flashing was repaired, the stone coping was replaced, and drains were

cleaned.

Insufficient data exist to ascertain with any certainty the added cost associated with the

degree of deferred maintenance encountered in this extensive project. Years of neglect

and inadequate repair and maintenance practices all served to increase costs over what

could be expected in well managed, adequately fmanced entities. Material suppliers

would not provide or honor extended warranties unless prescribed roof-related and other

preventive maintenance was completed concurrently with the roofing repairs or

replacement. According. to GSA, DCPS, and the architectural and engineering firm

overseeing the work, these factors precluded a more economical solution to the school

roofing project.

FUTURE.ROOF WORK

For fiscal year 1998, the DCPS Capital Improvement Program budget indicates that about

$35 million will be spent on 40 school-roof projects. DCPS has about $41.8 million to get

an early start on these projects. DCPS has engaged an engineering consultant to (1)

identify the scope of work and (2) develop cost estimates. DCPS informed us that as of

November 3, 1997, they completed roof repair work on five schools for which the.scope

of work and cost estimates had been completed in fiscal year 1997. DCPS officials

anticipate that roof repair work at the remaining 35 schools will begin in the spring and
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will be completed during the 1998 summer recess. DCPS told us that as of February 27,

1998, the engineering consultant had inspected 26 of the remaining 35 school roofs and

developed scope of work and cost estimates. According to DCPS officials, scope of work

and cost estimates for the remaining 9 schools will be prepared some time in May 1998.

Currently, DCPS has 45 closed schools, which it intends to sell or lease. DCPS officials

stated that they intend to use the proceeds from those schools to help finance fiscal year

1998 and later school projects. An additional $63 million for school roof repair or

replacement is included in the DCPS Proposed Capital Improvement Program Plan for

Fiscal Years 1999 to 2004.

Mr. Chairman, this concludes my statement. I will be happy to answer any questions that

you or members of the Subcommittee may have.

(916249)
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GAO
United States
General Accounting Office
Washington, D.C. 20548

Accounting and Information
Management Division

B-278471

March 9, 1998

The Honorable Sam Brownback
Chairman, Subcommittee on Oversight of

Government Management, Restmcturing
and the District of Columbia

Committee on Governmental Affairs
United States Senate

Dear Mr. Chairman:

In a September 30, 1997, letter, you requested that we review the District
of Columbia Public Schools' (Lus) efforts to repair' school roofs during
the summer of 1997. You indicated that your Subcommittee had received
widely varying information on the cost of the roof repair work ranging
from $11 to $19 per square foot, and that there were divergent views on
when funds were available to do that work, ranging from as early as
April 1997 to July 1997. Consistent with your request, we focused on the
conflicting information presented to the Subcommittee on the availability
of funds to pay for the roof work and the cost, including the cost per
square foot, of the work completed in fiscal year 1997. This report also
provides information on DCPS' plans for roof work during fiscal year 1998
and beyond.

This report contains technical terms concerning roofmg structures and
repairs, which are defined in the glossary at the end of this report. In
addition, key events and related dates pertaining to the fiscal year 1997
roof repairs are in appendix I.

Background

4 8

The District of Columbia Public Schools' draft Long-Range Facilities
Master Plan, dated July 17, 1997, states that the majority of District public
schools were built over 50 years ago, generally have not been well
maintained, and consequently, substantial deferred maintenance exists. In
addition, concerns about safety and problems with leaky school roofs have
been widely reported. We have documented the less-than-adequate
condition of the District's public schools in several reports.' In 1992,

'As discussed in this report, roof work was done at 61 schools during fiscal year 1997.

'School Facilities: Condition of America's Schools (GAO/HEHS-95-6l, Feb.1, 1995); School Facilities:
Gerica s oo pu'SEEGlittg Condibono AO/HEHS-96-103, June 14, 1996); School Facilities:
Profiles of School Condition by State (GA041tHS-96-148, June 24, 1996); and District of Columbia
thrift Emergency Supplemental Funding Request for District of Columbia Public Schools
(GAC9HEES47-116R,Ilay 6, 1007).

Page I GAO/A13113-98-132 District of Columbia Public Schools
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Parents United for the District of Columbia, an education advocacy group,
filed a lawsuit in the Superior Court of the District of Columbia naming
several city officials and alleging their failure3 to perform their duties with
respect to the D.C. public schools, including but not limited to, their duties
related to hundreds of fire code violations in aging D.C. school buildings.'

In an effort to respond to these concerns, the Congress included legislative
provisions on this matter in recently enacted legislation: Secs. 2550-2552 of
the District of Columbia School Reform Act of 1995,6 called for the
Administrator of the General Services Administration (dsA) to provide
technical assistance to the District public schools in the area of facilities
management and for the Mayor and the District of Columbia Council, in
consultation with the Administrator of esA, the Financial Responsibility
and Management Assistance Authority (Authority), the Board of
Education, and the Superintendent of Schools, to design and implement a
comprehensive long-term program for the repair, improvement,
maintenance, and management of District public school facilities and to
designate or establish an agency within the District of Columbia
government to administer the program. The plan also was required to
include short-term and long-term funding sources.

Section 603(e)(2)(A) of the Departments of Labor, Health and Human
Services, and Education, and Related Agencies Appropriations Act, 1997,6
authorized the Authority to establish an account to receive the proceeds
from privatization of certain government entities to carry out the District
of Columbia School Reform Act of 1995 (which provides for the repairs
and improvement of District schools) and to fmance public elementary
and secondary school facility construction and repair within the District of
Columbia. Section 5201 of the Omnibus Consolidated Appropriations Act
of 1997 authorized the Authority to contract with private entities to carry

'Phis includes allegations that the Fire Department failed to inspect schools regularly and that the
Mayor and Council failed to adequately fund the DCPS capital budget to eliminate fire code violations.

'On November 3, 1997, a settlement was reached between Parents United and the Mayor. Pursuant to
the agreement, within 5 years, DCPS will perfonn work, at an estimated cost 0(9487 million, to
complete the "stabilization and Inncrionaliv" repairs required by the draft. DCPS Long-Range
Facilities Master Plan.

.As enacted by the Omnibus Consolidated Rescissions and Appropriations Act of 1996, Public Law No.
104-134, sec. 101(b), Title 11, 110 Stat. 1321-141 through 1321-143 (April 26, 1996). D.C. Code Ann. If
31-2853-60 through 31-2853-52 (1997 Supp.).

"As enacted by the Omnibus Consolidated Appropriations Act of 1997, Public Law No. 104-208,
Division A, Title I, sec. 10I(e), 110 Stat. 3009-233, 3009-293.

'Public Law No. 104-208, 110 Stat. 3009-601 (September 30, 1996), D.C. Code Ann. 31-2851 note (1997
Stipp.).

Page 2 GAO/AIMDS8-82 District of Columbia Public Schools
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out a program of school facility repair of District public schools, in
consultation with GSA.

On November 15, 1996, the Authority restructured DCPS, installing a
nine-member Emergency Transitional Education Board of Trustees and a
Chief Executive Officer (ceo), both as Agents of the Authority. The
Authority also delegated its authorities to oversee all facilities and
property to the new Board of Trustees. The Authority removed the then
Superintendent of Schools and gave the CEO responsibility for all the
authorities, powers, functions, exemptions, and immunitiesof the former
Superintendent The CEO established an office of Chief Operating Officer
(cooYDirector of Facilities and hired a coo in January.1997 to manage and
implement the school facilities improvement program.'

To assist in this effort, GSA updated a study," by developing a
comprehensive facilities revitalization plan, Determination and
Prioritization of the District of Columbia Public Schools Projects,'" which
was delivered to DCPS on February 18, 1997. The plan described problems,
such as leaky roofs, inoperable boilers, numerous fire code violations, and
the absence of a long-range facilities master plan and estimated the cost of;
upgrading the school infrastructure to be $2 billion. The February 1997
plan and the underlying work were the basis for the long-range facilities
master plan. To develop the long-range facilities master plan, a task force
was formed including representatives from DCPS, the Office of the Mayor,
and the 21st Century School Fund." A February 28, 1997, draft report of
the long-range plan was submitted to the D.C. Council in February, and
was resubmitted with changes.in April, and again in July. The Council did
not vote on the plan," and DCPS submitted it to the Congress to meet the
congressionally mandated submission date of April 25, 1997. The draft

.The United States Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia Circuit recently ruled that the
Authority's creation of, and delegation of certain powers to, the Board of Trustees were ultra sires
(beyond the poweis of the AuthoriV). Shook v. District of Columbia Financial Responsibility and
Management Assistance Authorieh No. 97-7087 1998 WL 1798, 91 10 (Jan. 8, 1998).

Mb study (3DI.AEPA Facilities Assessment Study) was perfonned from 1991 to 1992 by 3DI-AEPA .

Architects and Engineers.

.'GSA Issued a task order on a previously competitively bid contract with the architectural and
engineefoig film of Daniel, Mann, Jolmson, and Mendenhall (DMJM) to assist in the development of
the comprehensive facilities revitalization plan.

''The 2Ist Century School Fluid is a nonprofit organization, which focuses on the modernization of
public school facilities.

ln a statement on January 23, 1099, the Chief Operating Officer of DCPS stated that the Council did
not act to either approve or reject the plan. According to a Council official, the plan did not adequately
address the prioritization of the capital program, including roof repairs.
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long-range facilities master plan considered roof replacement to be the
number one priority.

GSA contracted for and managed roof work at 10 schoolsinitially 7
schools at the Authority's request In June 1997, DCPS requested GSA'S
assistance, and GSA managed work on an additional three schools. DCPS
oversaw work on another 51 schools for which roof work was completed
in fiscal year 1997.

Results in Brief Sufficient funding was available to begin roof work when schools were
closed for the summer on June 20, 1997. The District's records show that
the Authority had about $18 million available in March 1997 for
ocPs-managed roof work, with the available amount increasing to about
$38 million by June 1997.

A series of events preceeding the efforts to repair D.C. school roofs
contributed to the delayed start. Although it was decided that MPS would
manage the majority of this work, DCPS was not prepared to start
immediately because it had not completed sufficient planning, such as
determining the scope of work on individual projects which would be the
basis for seeking bids for that work. A contributing factor to this delay was
the almost complete turnover in technical capital project staff during the
school year. These problems were compounded by difficulties in securing
bids, resulting in ocPs-managed work not starting until the third week of
July. MPS told us that at the time the long-range plan was submitted in
February 1997, it had expected to complete roof work by the end of
October 1997 but accelerated it in response to a court order that roof work
not be done while classes were in session. Consequently, the work was
accomplished under a highly compressed schedule.

Our review showed that DCPS spent about $37 million for roof
replacement/repair in fiscal year 1997. As discussed in this report, this
included an extensive amount of work not only on the roofs, but also on
the acbacent upper portions of the buildings to achieve structurally sound,
watertight facilities. As a result, the costs were higher than what would
have been incurred for roofing work only. Considering all of these costs,
the average cost per square foot of roof surface replaced or repaired was
about $20, with ocPs-managed contracts somewhat higher than those
managed by GSA. Some factors that contributed to the cost difference
between GSA- and ocPs-managed work include:
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GSA was able to issue task orders against its existing architectural and
engineering, and construction contracts, and did not have to seek bids
when the market was saturated with roof work,
GsA-managed projects were done over longer time frames, calling for less
overtime work, and
GSA managed only flat roof work, not higher cost multiple roof areas and
materials.

Insufficient data exist to ascertain with any certainty the added cost
associated with the degree of deferred maintenance encountered in this
extensive project Years of neglect and inadequate repair and maintenance
practices all served to increase costs over what could be expected in
well-managed, adequately financed entities. Further, material suppliers
would not provide or honor extended warranties unless prescribed
roof-related and other preventive maintenance was completed
concurrently with the roofing repairs or replacement. GSA, DCPS, and the
architectural and engineering firm overseeing the work all agreed that this
combination of factors precluded a more economical solution to the
school roofmg project in fiscal year 1997.

DCPS plans for fiscal year 1998 show additional roof work at 40 more
schools at an approximate cost of $35 million. In addition, DCPS proposed
Capital Improvement Program Plan for Fiscal Years 1999-2004m indicates
that an additional $63 million is anticipated for roof replacement/repairs
during this period.

Objectives, Scope,
and Methodology

Our objectives were to determine (1) when funds were made available to
pay for roof repairs, (2) the cost of the roof repairs, including the cost per
square foot, and (3) whether there are additional roofs to be repaired in
fiscal year 1998 and beyond.

To determine when the capital funds were available to pay for roof repairs,
we reviewed documents provided by the U.S. Department of Education,'
Authority, District CFO's office, and DCPS CFO. In addition, we reviewed
funding request modification documents prepared by DCPS and approved
by the District's Office of Budget and Planning, monthly reports produced
by the District's Financial Management System, and other financial
documents provided by DcPs.

°This plan has not yet been appmved by the Congress.
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To determine the cost of the roof repairs, we obtained and reviewed
inforniation from the contract files at DCPS for fiscal year 1997 projects,
which included information on each school, such as the dollar amount and
other terms of each contract, types of roofing material used, size of the
area replaced/repaired, modifications (change orders), daily inspection
sheets, invoices submitted for payment and actual amounts paid to
contractors.

In addition, we compared design and construction cost estimates prepared
by a XI'S engineering consultant and GSA to the contract amount and
change orders for the schools' roofs replaced/repaired. We held
discussions with DCPS officials to obtain reasons for any significant
variances from the cost estimates.

We also interviewed District Government officials, including officials from
the Authority, the Chief Financial Officer for the District, the Deputy Chief
Financial Officer for the District's Office of Budget and Planning, the Chief
Operating Officer of DCPS and his Capital Project Division staff, the Chief
Financial Officer of DCPS, and District Council officials. In addition, we
interviewed officials from the General Services Administration, the U.S.
Department of Education, a DCPS consultant," Parents United, and the 21st
Century School Fund to obtain additional information to satisfy our
objectives.

To determine whether additional roofs required repairs, we reviewed DCPS'
fiscal year 1997 Capital Improvement Program priority lists of schools
needing roof work and various facility assessments prepared by
contractors, and we discussed modifications/changes to the plans with
MPS officials. We also reviewed the DCPS' proposed Capital Improvement
Program Plan for fiscal years 1999-2004, including roof replacement
prioritization schedules, to determine the extent of roofing repair projects
planned for fiscal year 1998 and future years.

While we reviewed the information contained in the contract files to
determine the cost per square foot of roofs replaced/repaired, we did not
independently verify the accuracy of the square footage estimates but
instead relied on the measurements prepared by GSA and DCPS engineering
consultant. We did not review support for payments made to contractors
to determine validity nor did we attempt to determine whether the cost of
individual projects was reasonable. We reviewed the work performed by

Daniel, Mum Johnson, and Mendenhall (DMJM) is the architectural and engineefing firm that
provided technical advice and field inspection. DMJM is an independent term contractor, under
contract with GSA, which was made available for DCPS' use
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the District's independent public accounting firml5 on MPS capital project
funds.

We requested comments on a draft of this report from the Authority, DCPS,
the District's CFO, GSA, and the U.S. Department of Education. Written
comments were received from the Authority, MPS, and GSA and are
reprinted in appendixes III, IV, and V, respectively. Oral comments were
obtained from the District's CFO and the:Department of Education. Those
comments have been considered and incorporated in our report as
appropriate. We conducted our work from October 1997 through
February 1998 in accordance with generally accepted government auditing
standards.

Availability Of
Funding for Roof
Repairs

Based on our review of the information obtained from the Authority, the
District's Chief Financial Officer, the Department of Education, and the
District of Columbia Public Schools' Chief Financial Officer, funds were
available to begin roof repairs on June 20, 1997, when D.C. Public Schools
closed for the summer vacation. Table 1 shows the sources, dates, and
amounts of funds received by the Authority. By June 1997, the Authority
had received on behalf of DCPS a total of $49.7 million in capital funds, as
follows: $11.5 million in October 1996 from fiscal year 1996 general
obligation bond proceeds, approximately $18 million in March 1997 from
the federal government's sale of the College Construction Loan Insurance
Association (Connie Lee), and $20 million from the June 1997, general
obligation bond proceeds. In addition, in September 1997, the Authority
received about $36.8 millionN from the sale of Student Loan Marketing
Association (Sallie Mae) stock warrants, making the total received in fiscal
year 1997 for capital projects about $86.5 million.

'The District's independent auditor tor the fiscal year 1997 financial statement audit of DCPS was
KPMG Peat Marwick 11P.

'The Sallie Mae fumb are being used to satisfy fiscal year 1998 capital program needs.
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Table 1: Funds Received In Fiscal Year
1997 for DCPS Capital Projects Funds received

Month Source of funds by the Authority

October 1996 1996 Bond Proceeds $11,500,000

November 1996

December 1996

January 1997

February 1997

March 1997 Connie Lee Proceeds 18,252,080

April 1997

May 1997

June 1997 1997 Bond Proceeds 20,000.000

July 1997

August 1997

September 1997 Sallie Mae 36,789.516

Total 986,541,596

Source: The Authority, District of Columbia CFO, and DCPS CFO.

Prior to DCPS assuming responsibility for managing the fiscal year 1997
capital program work, the Authority had engaged GSA to oversee roof
repair and other work, such as installing boilers and chillers. On
November 19, 1996, the Authority entered into a memorandum of
agreement with GSA to provide contract administration and program
management services for those contracts. Ori November 27, 1996, GSA

issued a task order to an architectural and engineering consultant (mtmt)
for design work related to five schools. In February 1997, construction
work began on those five schools. According to GSA and DCPS officials, the
$11.5 million that the Authority had received in October 1996 was
earmarked for GsA-managed contracts.

According to DCPS' Chief Operating Officer (coo), when he assumed his
position in January 1997, neither funds nor technical capital project staff"
were available to prepare or manage the preparation of scope of work,
drawings, and cost estimates. While the Authority records showed that
additional funds were available in March 1997, the coo stated that he
began to hire technical capital staff to address capital program needs in
April 1997 after being told that funds were available. We were not provided

'7In the fall of 1996, the then Superintendent dismissed most of the technicaJ capital project staff.
While DCPS had had an ongoing cortbsctual relationship with Service Master since 1993, according to
DCPS, Service Master was only responsible for custodial and rnaintenance service.
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any documentation indicating when DCPS was notified that additional
funds were available for capital projects on the school facilities.

In its audit report on the District's financial statements for fiscal year 1997,
the District's independent auditors identified a material weakness
concerning control over transactions involving the Authority. The report
indicated that the District has not developed adequate procedures to
account for funds held by the Authority and does not effectively reconcile
the amounts which are recorded. The auditor noted that the District and
the Authority have not developed procedures to notify each other of
amounts anticipated or actually received by the Authority on behalf of the
District.

On May 19, 1997, DCPS issued a Request for Qualifications (aFq)'8 for
capital projects it intended to manage, which resulted in prequalification
of nine contractors. In June 1997, DCPS authorized consulting architectural
and engineering firm, IMUM, which had a competitively bid contract with
GSA, to provide scope of work for roof replacement at 48 schools. This
work was performed from the beginning of June to mid-July and included
surveying each roof, reviewing and photographing existing conditions, and
developing technical specifications to establish quality standards and a
cost estimate.

On July 1, 1997, DCPS issued an Invitation for Bid and Contract (Fsc) for a
single (or package) contract for roof replacement at 15 schools and for
work on boilers and chillers at five schools. MPS officials told us that they
were not initially successful in obtaining bidders because contractors were
hesitant to bid on such a large package, involving such diversity. of work.
On July 11, 1997, DCPS issued an addendum to the wac, resulting in eight
separate, smaller packages, two of which included the boiler and chiller
work. The other six included roof replacements on 48 schools. Contracts
for two of those six packages (15 schools) were awarded. The remaining
four packages (33 schools) were reissued as another addendum covering
23 schools. The remaining 10 schools were deferred at that time. Of these
10 schools, 2 were repaired by DCPS in-house maintenance staff. The
addendum for the 23 schools allowed prequalified contractors to bid on
one or more of those schools; work on 19 schools was awarded on that
basis for a total of 34 schools under. contract. Roof work for the remaining
12 DCPS managed projects completed during fiscal year 1997 included 3
from the original IFBC and 9 others. I5CPS officials told us they urged

"An RFQ is used to determine whether potential contractors possess the resources and exponise for
construction work.
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contractors to submit bids. Based on our analysis of contract documents,
the majority (46 schools) of the roof repair work started the third week in
July or later.

The draft Long-Range Facilities Master Plan called for roof replacement
work at 50 schools. According to the coo, when the Plan was presented at
the end of February 1997, he had believed that the work could not be
completed until the end of October 1997 but had hoped that a substantial
number of schools could be completed prior to September 30, 1997. The
coo advised us that on July 10, 1997, he had informed the Superior Court
that the estimated completion dates based on the best available data,
ranged from mid-August 1997 through September 20, 1997. He said that
these estimates did not consider the July 11, 1997, court ruling that this
type of work could not be performed while schools were occupied.
Ultimately, because of the large number of schools involved, it was
decided to delay the opening of D.C. public schools until September 22,
1997.

Cost of Roof Repairs XI'S records show that as of February 4, 1998, the total cost of the fiscal
year 1997 roof repair project, including change orders and consulting fees,
was about $37 million. A significant, but not determinable amount of these
costs was attributable to factors other than what would be strictly
interpreted as roof replacement/repair work. Among these were structural
integrity, fire damage, the general deterioration from deferred
maintenance, and warranty stipulations concerning deferred maintenance.
Extensive work was performed to repair and replace masonry, cornices,
flashing, coping, and cupolas, as well as cleaning drains. For ease of
presentation, we have characterized this work as roof and roof-related
work.

Based on our review and analysis of the data, the average cost per square
foot for roof repair work performed on schools managed by both DCPS and
GSA in fiscal year 1997 was about $20 per square footwith costs at
individual schools ranging from about $4 to $77. The average cost per
square foot for GsA-managed contracts was about $13, whereas the average
cost per square foot for ocPs-managed contracts was about $22 per square
foot.

As part of its fiscal year 1997 Capital Program budget, DCPS had initially
budgeted $22 million for roof work to be performed in fiscal year 1997.
According to DCF'S officials, the $22 million was a preliminary estimate and
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did not include amounts for work such as repairing flashing, masonry, or
cornices. In addition, the $22 million did not include costs to address the
complexity of the roof areas and other issues discussed below, such as the
compressed time schedule. Further, the priority list of schools on which
the $22 million estimate was based was modified several times during
fiscal year 1997. DCPS officials were aware that they would have to pay a
premium for labor and materials because of the various factors that
affected costs.

Table 2 summarizes the work performed, cost per square foot, and other
infonnation for the roof work managed by both DCPS and GSA. In total, roof
work was completed at 61 schools. DCPS capital project staff managed roof
projects at 46 schools, and its in-house maintenance staff performed minor
work at 7 schools'(Cardozo Senior High, Cleveland Elementary, Eaton
Elementary, Eliot Junior High, Hart Junior High, Janney Elementary, and
Winston.Elementary). GSA managed roof projects at 10 schools. Included
were two schools (Tyler and Spingarn) where DCPS and GSA managed
separate projects. Table 2 does not include data for minor work performed
at the seven schools because the cost data were not complete.
Accordingly, that work, which [CPS officials estimated to have cost about
$189,000, is not included in our computations of total cost or cost per
square foot.
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Table 2: Summary of Roof Work and
Estimated Cost per Square Foot, Fiscal
Year 1997 Year Roof

School* built areas° Material used

DCPS-managed contracts

1. Adams ES 1930 6 2-ply modified bitumen and
slate.

2. Aiton ES 1960 7 2-ply modified bitumen.

3. Anacostia SHS 1935 22 2-ply modified bitumen and
metal.

4. Bancroft ES 1924 4 2-ply modified bitumen and
clay.

5. Barnard ES 1926 6 2-ply modified bitumen.

6. Beers ES 1942 13 2-ply modified bitumen.

7. Bell Multicultural SHS 1915 16 2-ply modified bitumen.

8. Benning ES 1976 6 2-ply modified bitumen.

9. Birney ES 1950 11 2-ply modified bitumen.

10. Browne JHS 1931 20 2-ply modified bitumen and
metal.

11. Bruce-Monroe ES 1973 9 2-ply modified bitumen and
metal.

12. Bunker Hill ES 1938 10 2-ply modified bitumen and
slate.

13. Burrville ES 1980 4 2-ply modified bitumen.

14. Cook JF ES 1921 4 2-ply modified bitumen.

15. Deal JHS 1931 18 2-ply modified bitumen,
slate, and metal.

16. Dunbar SHS 1977 37 2-ply modified bitumen.
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Root-related work.

Replace damaged gutters, masonry joints,
and downspouts, and repaint roof.

Repair counter flashing.

Clean drains and piping for free flow of
water. Clean and reseal mortar joints.
Replace 2 ventilators and 2 vent hoods with
new units. Remove entire skylights, ref rame
openings, and make watertight. Replace
flashing.

Touch up metal roof with paint. Reinforce
roof structure to redirect water flow.

Repair metal roof and trim.

Complete minor repairs to masonry.

Repaint skylights,,repoint masonry, seal
counter flashing, and clean roof of debris.

No additional work done.

Clean drains, repair mortar joints, and
remove skylights and replace with new
metal covers.

Repair metal flashing, cornices, and
downspouts. Replace drains and various
masonry.

Remove skylights and replace with new
metal covers, clean drains, repair mortar
joints, repoint masonry, and replace
ventilator curb and tank.

Install new stainless steel ridge and flashing.
Replace downspouts. Install new tapered
insulation on all roofs,

Install base layer and tapered insulation
over concrete, and clean and recoat metal
roof.

Seal limestone coping and flashing, repair
ornamental cornice, replace glazing in
skylight, and replace and paint fascia
boards.

Clean, prime, and repaint metal roof.
Replace glazing at skylight. Replace cupola
and clean drains and repair gutterS.

Clean metal roof, prime and repaint, seal
skylight glazing joints, and replace existing
mezzanine covers with new membranes.

60

Period of
wolic. (1997) Days

Estimated
square feet.

Amount of contract
& change orders as. Estimated cost per

of 214198 square foot

7/23-8/27 35 2,952 $63,000 $21.34

7/29-9/3 36 24,722 540,000 21.84
7/23-9/9 48 34,679 486,750 14 04

7/24-9/7 45 19,405 289,047 14.90

8/1-9/7 37 23.249 474,620 20.41

7/29-9/3 36 32,550 689,889 21.19
8/12-9/9 28 30,365 537,500' 17.70

7/23-9/7 46 34,414 635,000 18.45

7/23-9/3 42 21,814 474,000 21.73

8/1-9/10 40 76,079 1,467,291 19.29

7/23-8/20 28 40,993 699,700 17.07

7/29-9/9 42 15,522 463,434 29.86

7/23-8/31 39 42,844 1,088,000 25.39

8/1-9/3 33 8,366 646,432 77.27

8/1-9/9 39 . 30,425 1,150,000 37.80

7/29-9/10 43 93,744 2,380,000 25.39

(continued)
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School.
Year
bullt

Roof
areas° Material used

17. Fletcher-Johnson ES 1980 10 Ethylene Propylene Diene
Monomer (EPDM, i.e.,
rubber roof).

18. Francis JHS 1927 14 2-ply modified bitumen.

19. Gage-Eckington ES 1977 15 2-ply modified bitumen and
metal.

20. Garfield ES 1868 15 2-ply modified bitumen,
slate, and metal.

21. Green ES 1965 6 2-ply modified bitumen.

22. Jefferson JHS 1940 13 2-ply modified bitumen,
slate, and metal.

23. Ketcham ES 1909 13 Slate and tin roof.

24. Lafayette ES 1931 24 2-ply modified bitumen,
slate, and metal.

25. Langdon ES 1930 8 2-ply modified bitumen and
slate.

26. Leckie ES 1970 1 2-ply modified bitumen.

27. Lee MD SES 1971 14 2-ply modified bitumen.

28. Ludlow-Taylor ES 1969 7 2-ply modified bitumen.

29. MacFarland JI-IS 1923 15 2-ply modified bitumen.

30. Maury ES 1890 8 2-ply modified bitumen,
slate, and metal.

31. Nal le ES 1959 5 2-ply modified bitumen.

32. Orr ES 1974 8 2-ply modified bitumen.

33. Park View ES 1916 10 2-ply modified bitumen,
metal, and slate.
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Roof-related work*

Repair ventilator hoods, masonry walls,
parapets, and concrete walkway. Repair
skylight and counter flashing. Install counter
strips. Reseal parapets. Improve drainage.

Repair masonry joints and coping. Replace
roof drains and storm drain piping on two
roofs.

Repair gutters.

Install new tapered insulation on 2 built-up
roofs. Remove and replace all slate, over
new felt, on 11 roofs.

Replace counter flashing and repair
concrete.

Repair cupola and base, clean drains,
repoint masonry, replace skylights, provide
splash blocks, and repair electrical and
mortar joints. Replace drains and reseal
coping, move satellite dish, and reseal
chimney.

Replace flat seam copper.

Replace gutters. downspouts. ridge, and
flashing. Clean drains; repair mortar and
coping joints; and replace skylights.

Repair gutters, flashing, and pitch pockets.
Seal coping, repoint masonry, clean drains,
reinstall cornice, and repaint two cupolas.

Repair damaged flashing.

Replace domed skylight.

Install new tapered insulation on 7 built-up
roofs.

Repoint masonry and replace broken brick.-
Replace severely cracked parging on
parapet walls with new parging or metal
panels. Remove and recover skylights.
Repair flashing. Replace stone coping.
Clean drains.

Repair roof structure and masonry, and
repaint cornices.

No additional work performed.

Remove old built-up roof and install new roof
over tapered insulation. Install new drains.

Install 2 new metal roofs over old metal.

Period of
work° (1997) Days

Estimated
square few

Amount of contract
A change orders as

of 2/4/9e
Estimated cost per

square foot

7129-8/27 29 41,901 610,135 14.56

8/1-9/10 40 53,030 577,255 10.89

8/1-9/8 38 22,818 687,740 30.14

7/29-9/7 40 23,267 670,003 28.80

7/30-9/3 35 26,269 617,500 23.51

7/23-8/26 34 19,099 547,250 28.65

7/23-9/3 42 45,155 189,000 4.19

7/23-9/9 48 15,228 522,400 34.31

9/9-9/27 18 8,700 287,000 32.99

9/11-9/14 3 8,800 112,600 12.80

7/23-8/31 39 34.178 909,000 26.60

7/29-8/30 32 30,331 525,851 17.34

7123-9/10 . 49 11,647 750,675 64.45

7/23-8/31 39 17,670 413,000 23.37

7/23-8/27 35 33,122 281,708 8.51

7/23-9/8 47 39,724 488,303 12.29

7/29-9/8 41 29,110 838,458 28.80

(continued)
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SchooP
Year
built

Roof
areas° Material used

34. Phelps SHS 1934 20 2-ply rnodified bitumen and
slate.

35. Randle-Highlands ES 1912 6 2-ply modified bitumen and
slate.

36. Roosevelt SHS 1932 24 2-ply modified bitumen,
copper, and slate.

37. Ross ES 1896 1 Slate tiles and metal.

38. Shaed ES 1971 3 2-ply modified bitumen.

39. Spingarn SHS 1941 14 2-ply modified bitumen and
slate.

40. Stuart-Hobson MS 1927 14 2-ply modified bitumen.
41. Truesdell ES 1908 9 Metal.

42. Tyler ES 1949 3 2-ply modified bitumen.
43. Washington MM CDC

SHS
1912 15 2-ply modified bitumen and

metal.

44. West ES 1978 1 Asphalt shingle.
45. Wilson SHS 1935 16 2-ply modified bitumen and

slate.

46. Young ES 1931 8 2-ply modified bitumen and
slate.

Total DCPS-managed
contracts (average days
and average cost per
square toot)

GSA-managed contracts
47. Cooke HD ES 1909 2 Fiberglass asphalt and

2-ply modified bitumen.
48. Houston ES 1961 3 2-ply modified bitumen.

49. Merritt ES 1976 11 4-ply modified bitumen.

50. Meyer ES 1962 3 2-ply modified bitumen.
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Roof-related work°
Install new tapered insulation on 18 built-up
roofs. Install new drains.

Repair or replace gutters and downspouts.
clean drains, and repoint masonry. Move
cellular equipment.

Replace damaged slate roof and replace
skylight glazing. Repair parapet, cupola,
and vents.

Replace existing gutters and coping. Install
copper snow guards on slate roof.

Install new tapered insulation. Remove and
reinstall metal coping.

Seal glazing, replace missing ridge flashing,
repaint chimney, and install new coping.
Repair expansion joints, and clean and
repaint metal steps. Repair gutters,
skylights, and flashing.

Repair flashing and coping.

Install new metal roofing over old. Install
new tapered insulation on 3 built-up roofs.

No additional work performed.

Wire brush and repaint metal roof, and
install stone ballast and metal scupper
guard.

No additional work performed.

Install stainless steel coping. Repaint
masonry wall. Install metal flashing around
cupola base.

Replace exterior cladding on cupola.
Replace aluminum coping and repair
coping joints. Lower and replace drains.

Adjust parapets and replace gravelstop,
gutter, downspouts, and flashing.

Replace gutters, flashing, parapets, and
downspouts.

Install new tapered insulation. Repair
substrate as needed.

Replace gutters, flashing, parapets, and
downspouts, and repaint metal roofing.

Period of
work° (1997) Days

Estimated
square feet°

Amount of contract
& change orders as

of 2/4/98
Estimated cost per

square foot
8/1-9/10 40 64,637 1,464,700 22.66

7/23-9/10 49 25.664 596,700 23.25

8/12-9/10 29 82,186 2,596,820 31.60

7/23-8126 34 8,000 122,224 15.28

7/29-9/9 42 18,139 395.000 21.78

8/1-9/10 40 35,928 1,300,000 36.18

7/23-8/20 28 41.031 663,800 16.18

8/1-9/9 39 29,623 697,810 23.56

1/27-2/12 16 17,500 129,075 7.38

7/23-8/20 28 24,041 411.000 17.10

5/27-6/20 24 21,600 96,850 4.61

7/19-9/7 50 25,189 450,366 17.88

8/1-9/3 33 31,786 632,563 19.90

36 1,416,696 630,669,443 $21.65

2/26-5/17 80 27,870 $329,636 611.83

2/26-6/18 112 36,255 512,480 14.14

8/4-9/10 37 57.000 641,800 11.26

2/26-6/6 100 26,100 315,827 12.10

(continued)
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School.
Year
built

Roof
areas° Material used

51. River Terrace ES 1952 1 2-ply modified bitumen.

52. Shedd ES 1955 6 4-ply modified bitumen.

53. Sharpe Health SES 1959 6 4-ply modified bitumen.

54. Spingarn SI-IS Gyrng 1941 1 4-ply modified bitumen.

55. Turner ES 1946 1 2-ply modified bitumen.

56. Tyler ESs 1949 3 4-ply modified bitumen.

Total GSA-managed
contracts (average days
and average cost per
square foot)

Average days, total
square feet, total cost,
and average cost per
square foot

Consulting. contract
administration and
construction management
fees

Total, Including fees .
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Roof-related work.
Replace gutters, flashing, parapets, and
downspouts.

Install new tapered insulation. Repair
substrate as needed.

Install new tapered insulation. Install new
flashing.

Replace all roofing materials, including
entire roof deck, which had been destroyed
by fire. Replace all skylights, blocking,
flashing, and downspouts.

Replace gutters, flashing, parapets, and
downspouts.

Install new tapered insulation. Repair
substrate as needed. Emergency
replacement of a section of wall.

Period of
workd (1997) Days

Estimated
square feet*

Amount of contract
& change orders as

of 2/4/98'
Estimated cost per

square foot
2/26-5/23 86 39,809 467,571 11.75

7/14-8/26 43 31,000 312,950 10.10

7/26-9/7 43 41,000 442,015 10.78

6/17-7/25 38 12,000 329,200 27.43

2/26-5/17 80 26,700. 352,626 13.21

7/10-8/31 52 17,500 343,687 19.64

67 315,234 $4,047,792 $12.84

42 1,732,130 $34,717,235 $20.04

2,176,054

$36,893 289
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Note: This table includes scope of work and change order informafion. We did not independentty
determine whether the scope of work or change orders were appropriate.

CDC - Career Development Center.
ES - Elementary School.
JHS - Junior High School.
MS - Middle School.
SES - Special Education School.
SHS - Senior High School.

°Generally. replacement is defined as the removal from the entire roof of all existing roofing
materials, exposing the roofs structural substrate, followed by the installation of all new materials.
A roof may be partially replaced, e.g., one-half, is replaced and the remainder repaired or left as
is.

.1Roolvelated work includes repairs and maintenance deemed necessaryin most cases,
long-deferred maintenance.

°The date on which work began is the date specified In DCPGs Notice to Proceed (NIP) to the
contractor, or the date of the NTP If no beginning date was specified. The date on which work
ended is the date, provided by DCPS, on which all work at that school passed a 'water tesr with
no leaks or only minor leaks. We did not delemine the time required for design work for 7 of the
10 GSA-administwed projects.

Estimates of work area. In square feet. to be replaced or repaired were prepared mostly horn the
beginning of June to mid.July 1997 (live GSA-administered schools were estimated in late
1998) by an architectural and engineering consultant or, in a few instances, by DCPS or GSA staff
working with contractors. Estimates were based on field observations to determine existing
conditions and the specific location and extent of required work, and included diagrams (and
photographs at most schools) of each roof, narrative descriptions, quality specifications of
material to be Installed, aid a cost estimate for each school.

Contract amount consists of original contract amount plus the amount of subsequent changes to
work specifications (change orders). Change order costs Include those identified by GAO
through Febniary 4, 1998, at which time DCPS was continuing to review and approve additional .
change orders as received.

enhis table shows 58 roofing projects. There were 54 schools where roof replacements or major
repairs were done by contractors In 1997. Spingarn SKS and Tyler ES were each worked on
under separate contracts at separate times by DCPS and GSA contractors.

Source: Information obtained from District of Columbia Public Schools, [CPS Capital Projects
Division, and General Services Administration.

Table 2 indicates a wide range of costs per square foot by school and by
responsible agency (Das or GSA). The roofs worked on by DCPS contractors
had square foot costs ranging from a low of $4.19 (Ketcham Elementary)
to a high of $7727 (Cook Elementary) per square foot. In contrast, costs
for schools worked on by csA's contractors ranged from a low of $10.10
per square foot (Shedd Elementary) to a high of $27.43 per square foot
(Spingam Gym, where, according to (ISA officials, as a result of a fire, a
new roof deck and supporting structure were installed and a significant
amount of asbestos was removed).
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DCPS officials provided various explanations for the wide range in costs per
square foot among schools such as Cook Elementary ($77.27), MacFarland
Junior High School ($64.45), and Ketcham ($4.19). According to DCPS'
officials, less than 20 percent of Cook's total cost pertains to roof
replacement. The majority of the cost was due to repairing an ornamental
cornice around most of the building just below the roof level. The cornice
had deteriorated and portions of it were at risk of falling off; therefore,
Cook was considered a major safety concern. In addition, the cornice had
to be repaired from a crane. Further, DCPS stated that much work was done
to repair the skylight and to repair coping with new stainless steel
covering.

According to DCPS officials, work at MacFarland Junior High was awarded
to the low bidder of a package, covering nine schools. DCPS officials and
engineering consultants stated that large amounts of masomy repair
(repointing and replacement of broken brick), installation of metal panels
on high parapet walls, and skylight repair were performed. The engineers'
original scope of work describes badly deteriorated mortar joints, broken
brick, and severely cracked parging on parapet wallswith resulting
leaks. In addition, according to DCPS, repairs were performed on the
flashing; the stone coping was replaced; and the drain was cleaned. On the
other hand, Ketcham was awarded at the low end. According to Does
officials, the contractor did not give full consideration to the condition of
the roof or the complexity of the work to be done.

Several Factors Result in
Higher Square Foot Costs
for Repairs

Several factors contributed to the costs being considerably higher than
what osA officials stated has been their experience for roofing work in the
Washington, D.C., metropolitan area. osA's estimates ranged from $8 to $10
per square foot and reflect work required to repair and renovate typical
flat, large, built-up roof systems that generally have had a good repair
record. However, a combination of factors resulted in substantially higher
per square foot cost for the D.C. Public Schools. Among these are the
compressed schedule under which most of the 1997 roof work was
performed; the diversity and complexity of the roofs on the D.C. public
school buildings; the extensive deferred maintenance and other
roof-related work, including additional work required to secure the
long-term warranties from materials suppliers and contractors; and other
factors such as the District's history of paying vendors.

Compressed Time Schedule ocPs-managed work was completed within extremely narrow time frames.
This tight schedule was caused by the lack of (1) technical capital project
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staff, (2) advance project planning to provide an adequate basis for
seeking bids, and (3) the fast approaching opening of schools slated for
September 2, 1997. This situation resulted in DM'S scrambling to get
contractors in what they found to be a tight summer market and selecting
an approach that while faster for getting the work done on time, could
have been more costly.

To accelerate the roof work, DCPS relied exclusively on the design-build
approach versus the traditional method. Under the traditional method,
management separately performs or contracts for project design to
provide the drawings, specifications, reports,.and other materials needed
to obtain bids for the actual repair work:Thus, separate procurements are
involved in first designing and then contracting for the renovation work
This approach tends to stretch out the time frame, but provides a great
measure of detail to the prospective bidder, thus lowering the risk. In
contrast, the design-build method involves the winning bidder providing
both the design and performing the renovation work One of the primary
advantages of using the design-build approach is that the project can be
completed in a shorter time frame because the design phase can be done
concurrently with the construction phase. However, since the contractor
assumes more risk for the job under the design-build approach because of
unforeseen difficulties; the costs can be higher. Given the level of deferred
maintenance and the limited time available.both for submitting bids and
performing the work, it would appear that the risk assumed was
substantial.

GSA'S earlier involvement allowed it an average of 67 days to complete its^
10 projects. In contrast, all of the DcPs-managed work was completed in
well under the 67-day average of GSA's work, with the longest project
taking 50 days and the average being 36 days. The shortest DCPS project
took 3 days. Despite taking less time, our analysis of the data on table 2
shows that the nos-managed work involved more roof areas and, as
discussed later in greater detail, more complex work

CSA was able to secure contracts earlier in the year as it stated when the
market was not saturated with roof work, which typically results.in lower
cost. Similarly, neighboring school systems lathe Washington,- D.C.,
metropolitan area pointed out that they did not typically attempt to
complete roofing projects in the short time frames accomplished by DCPS
during 1997. According to a Montgomery-County Public Schools roofing
specialist, roof replacement work would typically be done over the full
summer session, from about June 20 to August 31. In addition, according
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Complexity and Diversity of the
Roofs

to the Fairfax County Public Schools engineer, contracts are usually
awarded in the early part of the year for work to begin in June and they
normally operate on a 2-year planning horizon. The Fairfax County Public
Schools Director of Design and Construction also told us that depending
on the size of the building and material used, a roofing replacement can
take from 6 weeks to 6 months. The Fairfax County Public Schools
engineer further stated that the cost is generally 20 to 30 percent higher
when a project is put out for bid in the summer.

DCPS was unsuccessful in obtaining bids on a larger package adveitised on
July 1, 1997, for 15 schools and subsequently repackaged all planned work
into 8 smaller packages, which went out in mid-July. DCPS officials advised
us that they actively solicited bids to get the work performed and that 2
out of 16 vendors involved were from outside the Washington, D.C.,
metropolitan area, including one brought in purposely to handle the clay
tile roof project at Bancroft Elementary.

DCPS also used a sole source procurement in fiscal year 1997 for one
project, which it performed on an emergency basis. Work was completed
in 18 days, involving extensive overtime. DCPS officials advised us that the
Langdon Elementary School project was initiated after the DCPS Quality
Assurance Task Force identified a potential structural problem shortly
before school was to open. Work started on September 9, and was
substantially completed on September 27, 1997, at a cost of $32.99 per
square foot.

While a common denominator of much of this work was the premium time
(labor costs) involved, DCPS officials told us that they did not believe they
had any clear alternatives. According to the coo, it could not cut back on
the number of schools or the scope of work at those schools because of
the court's mandate regarding fire code violations.

GSA and the DCPS engineering and architectural consultant agreed that DCPS
roof renovation work was not typical since the roofs were diverse and
complex and had significantly deteriorated. According to DCPS officials and
the DCPS engineering consultant, the diversity and complexity of the roofs
on the schools resulted in higher costs. These officials stated that the roofs
were not generally the typical flat roofs used on more recently built
schools but instead are made up of multiple roof areas and materials. To
illustrate, Fairfax and Montgomery County school engineers pointed out
that 90 percent of their roofs are generally flat, and use modified bitumen.
In contrast, 18 of the 56 DCPS and csA-managed projects worked on during
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Deferred Maintenance and
Warranties

fiscal year 1997 involved two types of material, such as modified bitumen
and slate, and 7 involved three types of roofing material. Inherent in these
contrasts are that the newer suburban structures have larger, fiat, easier
and safer-to-work on surfaces versus DCPS often smaller and sloped
surfaces using metal and slate.

The number of roof areas is also a factor. The number of roof areas that
were replaced/repaired at each school ranged from 1 (at Leckie
Elementary) to as many as 37 roof areas (at Dunbar Senior High School).
Forty had 6 or more areas repaired; 25 had at least 10; and 6 had 20 or
more. (Appendix II illustrates a typical District of Columbia public school
roof, where multiple roof areas were replaced/repaired. It also highlights
some of the technical features, including cupolas and slwlights.)

According to the DCPS engineering consultant, different types of roofing
specialists were required to address the diversity of the roofs. The material
that was most frequently used to replace these roofs was two-ply modified
bitumen.m Table 2 reveals that in addition to two-ply modified bitumen, a
variety of materials *ere used to repair the roofs, such as slate tiles, clay
tiles, metal, asphalt shingle, and fiberglass asphalt Some materials are
more expensive than others. Metal and slate roofs are commonly
considered more expensive than .a modified bitumen roof. In addition, MPS
officials stated that a subcontractor was brought in from another state to
repair clay tiles since no local firm was available at the time work had to
be completed.

In recent years, it has been widely documentedm that the majority of DCPS
roofs were badly deteriorated because maintenance had been deferred for
many yews. DCPS officiaLs stated that the $22 million, which was budgeted
for roof repairs at the beginning of fiscal year 1997 did not assume funding
for deferred maintenance and the 20-year manufacturers' warranties. The
manufacturers' warranties were conditional on certain deferred
maintenance and other roof-related work being done.

Table 2 reveals that for the majority of the schools, a substantial amount of
roof-related or deferred maintenance work was perfonned. For instance,

.A roof membrane (the waterproofing layer between the roof substrate and the top surface) With two
layers (plies) of fiberglass or sanuated felt, applied with alternate layers of asphalt or coal tar mixture
(bitumen), which has been rubberized or plasticized (modified) to improve durability. According to
DCPS, two-ply modified bitumen was primarily used because it was recommended by its consultant
and the Enviromnental Protection Agency as sufficient for the District's climate and as relatively
simple and more economical to Install than three or four plies.

nee footnotes 2 and 10 in this report.
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common roof-related work included replacing skylights and gutters,
repairing coping and flashing, repointing masonry, and cleaning drains. In
addition, many roofs required tapered insulation, resealing or repointing of
parapets, and structural reinforcement of the roof to redirect the water
flow. According to DCPS officials, many of the roofs and supporting
structures had to be completely replaced because they were badly
deteriorated and beyond patching. They stated that patching would have
been only a short-term solution to a long-standing problem. For example,
Spingam Senior High School repairs2 averaged $36.18 per square foot
because of the major structural work required. DCPS officials informed us
that the entire slate roof was badly deteriorated and that daylight could be
seen from inside the attic. Slate on 14 roof areas was replaced. To support
the new slate, new wood blocking was required and 700 feet of new coping
was installed. In addition, we were told that numerous roof expansion
joints were repaired and that the triangular pediment over the colonnade
at the front entrance was also repaired.

The bid solicitation process used in the replacement of DCPS roofs required
contractors to provide 2-year guarantees on workmanship and 20-year
manufacturers' warranties on materials. DCPS officials stated that the
deferred maintenance work was necessary to obtain the
guarantees/warranties that they had requiredm According to DcPs officials,
manufacturers perform site inspections to ensure that the roofs are
installed according to their design specifications and that factors, such as
flashing and caulking, which can contribute to premature roof failure, are
up to industry standards. DCPS officials told us that as of January 26, 1998,
it had received 20-year manufacturers' warranties for 44 roof projects and
2-year contractor guarantees for 35 roof projects.

DCPS officials also stated that while some of the school roofs that were
replaced this summer may have had existing warranties, they believe that
since the roofs were not well maintained and protected, DCFS would not
have prevailed in a warranty claim.° For example, the officials cited
numerous cases in which inspections of leaky roofs disclosed that large
amounts of debris, or even mattresses, had been allowed to accumulate.

'DCPS managed this project at Spingarn Senior High School.

aln order for these wansaties to remain in force, DCPS is required to perfom regular preventive
maintenance. DCPS officials informed us that school maintenance personnel are now required to
inspect each roof every 6 months and to perform any needed repans.

eln addition, DCPS officials stated that because of poor recordkeeping, they could not identify schools
that were under existing manufacture's' warranties However, they informed us that they had started
the process to assemble a database of Information on the roof replacements and repairs and that they
will Include information on warranties.
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Other Factors

To the extent that such items retain water, they keep the roof surface
saturated, thus accelerating deterioration of the roof membrane and
substrate.

The District had a well-publicized poor payment history in recent years.
For example, in fiscal years 1994, 1995, and 1996, the District delayed
payments owed to vendors and Medicaid providers because it had cash
flow problems. Consequently; contracting firms have expressed reluctance
to do business with the District, and this, according to Das officials,
became quite evident in the summer of 1997 when it issued its invitation
for bids. Contractors were particularly reluctant to submit bids for large
contracts (packages), fearing that DCPS would not be able to honor its
obligations. Therefore, according to MPS officials, contractors had to be
urged to submit proposals, which DCPS officials believe could have resulted
in DCPS paying a higher than normal cost to repair the roofs.

Cost Estimates Versus
Contract Amounts and
Change Orders

Given the nature of the work and the circumstances involved, the costs
have not differed significantly from what was expected before contracting
for this work. The aggregate estimated cost for the roof work managed by
both Gm and DCPS in fiscal year 1997 was approximately $31.7 million,
about 3.5 percent less than the $32.7 million contract amounts. As of
February 4, 1998, DCPS had provided us with change orders totaling about
$2 million, which brings the preliminary total to about $34.7 million, or
about 10 percent over the consultants' cost estimates. In addition, DCF'S
incurred about $2.1 million for consulting, contract administration, and
construction management fees!"

Prior to contracting out the roof work, DCFS had engaged an architectural
and engineering Jinn, with whom GSA had a contract under which it could
issue task orders, to develop cost estimates of the roof replacement/repair
work. Almost all estimates were prepared by one of two architectural and
engineering consultants,25 and in a few instances octs or oss staff worked
with contractors to prepare estimates. Estimates were based on field
observations to determine existing conditions and the specific location
and extent of required work, and included diagrams (and, for most
schools, photographs) of each roof, narrative descriptions, quality

"Of this 113,00=1, about $1.6 millker went to DMA!, about $300,000 to GSA, and about $300,000 to
Sverdrup Facilities, lac-

.The two architectural and engineering firno are Mfilhl and Sverdrup. Sverdrup prepared scope of
work and estimates for the first flee of the cssvaanaged 0:111111108.
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specifications of material to be installed, and a cost estimate for each
school.

As of February 4, 1998, DCPS had received proposals for change orders
pertaining to 27 schools for a total of about $2 million. In most cases, the
proposals resulted from requiring additional work beyond the original
scope of work, such as structural repairs of decks and work to clean or
replace drains, flashing, and coping. About 60 percent, or $12 million, of
the change orders are associated with additional costs at two schools,
Browne Junior High and Roosevelt Senior High. About 35 percent of this
$1.2 million was a result of premitun labor rates required to accelerate the
work, and the remainder was primarily for additional masonry work,
installation of a new metal roof, and drain and gutter repairs.

Planned Roof Repairs As of February 4, 1998, the ocps Capital Improvement Program budget
indicates that about $35 million is expected to be spent on 40 school roof
projects in fiscal year 1998. According to the DCPS coo, DCPS has about
$41.8 million" available to enable it to get an early start with the
procurement process

According to DCPS officials, on October 31, 1997, they engaged an
engineering consultant to (1) identilY the scope of work and (2) develop
cost estimates. The scope of work and cost estimates for 12 schools were
completed in fiscal year 1997. DCPS officials told us that as of February 27,
1998, the engineering consultant had inspected an additional 19 school
roofs and developed scope of work and cost estimates that reflect direct
labor and materials costs and other costs, such as overhead, general
conditions, bond and insurance, and contingencies. According to DCPS
officials, scope of work and cost estimates for the remaining nine schools
will be prepared in May 1998.

DCPS officials informed us that as of November 3, 1997, they had completed
roof repair work on five schools for which the scope of work and cost
estimates had been completed in fiscal year 199'7.n DCPS officials anticipate
that roof repair work at the remaining 35 schools will begin in the spring
and will be completed during the summer 1998 recess. Because the lawsuit
from which the court ruling on performing roof work while the schools are
occupied has been settled, DCPS expects to be able to work during the

.This amount is the proceeds frorn the sale of Sallie Mae stock warrants ($38.8 million) and the
proceeds ($5 million) from the continued use of the name Sallie Mae as a trademark.

"These five schools are Garnet-Patterson, Paul, Taft, Leclde, and Salim.
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school year using similar precautions as are employed in neighboring
school jurisdictions. It advised us that in the event of emergency roof
repairs, Doss has a plan that involves relocating students so that the
necessary work can be completed during the school year. This earlier start
than for fiscal year 1997 should allow more time to have roof work
conducted undernormal conditions; possibly resultintin lower costs to
the District Government.

The District of Columbia Public Schools proposedCapital Improvements
Plan for fiscal years 1999-2004 indicates that an additional $63 million in
roof replacement is anticipated during this period.. According to a
Facilities Planning, Programming and Quality Assurance Division official,
the $63 million projection is an estimate for budget and planning purposes
and the amount is not associated with particular schools.

DCPS expects to use proceeds from the sale of schools to help finance fiscal
year 1998 and later school projects. Section 5206(a) of the.Omnibus
Consolidated Appropriations Act, 1997, authorizes the Authority to .

dispose of certain school property and deposit the proceeds in the Board
of Education Real Property Maintenance and Improvement Fund.29

Cunently, DCPS has 45 closed schools, which it intends to either sell, lease,
lease with the option to buy, or develop as public/private partnerships.
DCPS sold 1 school in the fall of 199729 and expects to generate $20 million
from the sale of an additional 15 schools in fiscal year 1998. In addition,
the Authority has agreed.to commit a minimum of 27.5 percent of the
District's general hind long-term financing authority (aanual bond
Proceeds) toward completion of the repairs required by the Long Range
Facilities Master Plan.

Comments and Our
Evaluation

We received comments from the Authority, the District's Chief Financial
Officer, DCPS, GSA, and the U.S. Department of Education on a draft of this
report. Written comments from the Authority, DcPs,.and GSA are reprinted .
in appendixes III, IV, and V, respectively.

Those commenting generally agreed with the facts presented in Mis-
report. The Authority noted that most of the significanrevents and time
frames outlined in the report are consistent with its records. DCPS stated
that our major findings on the cost and conduct of the 1997 upper building

°Public Law No. 104-203 110 Stat. 3009-603 D. Cede Ana I 47.392.25.

°Dent Elementary was sold for $413000..

Page 38 GAWAIMD-8883 Diatriet of Columbia Publk &boobs .

7 5



72

B-278471

stabilization program are accurate. The District's CFO, GSA and the U.S.
Department of Education agreed with the report as related to their
respective activities.

Both the Authority and DCPS offered their perspectives on the availability
of funds issue discussed in the report DCPS stated that funds were not
available to DCPS for capital projects until April 1997. In that regard, the
Authority stated that it advises the Office of the Chief Fmancial Officer of
the District regarding the availability of funds which, in turn, is responsible
for communicating with District agencies, including pc Ps.

The Authority and DCPS also suggested additional discussion of the impact
of the D.C. Superior Court ruling related to the roof repair projects. The
Authority noted that the additional requirements imposed by the court
ruling increased the difficulty of project management and added to the
cost of the repair program. Similarly, in several sections of its comments
to our draft report, MPS referred to the July 11, 1997, court order as
imposing restrictions, compressing the work schedule, and ultimately
delaying the opening of all District public schools until September 22,
1997.

Regarding the availability of funds to DCPS during fiscal year 1997, as
discussed in the report, we were not provided documentation that would
establish when ocPs was notified that the Authority had funds available for
capital projects. This communication issue, which apparently is not
isolated to the DCPS capital projects funding, was highlighted in the most
recent report of the independent public accounting firm hired by the
District. As noted in our report, the independent auditors identified a
material weakness concerning control over transactions involving the
Authority. The report indicated that the District has not developed
adequate procedures to account for funds held by the Authority and does
not effectively reconcile the amounts which are recorded. The auditor
noted that the District and the Authority have not developed procedures to
notify each other of the amounts anticipated or actually received by the
Authority on behalf of the District

Concerning the impact of the court involvement, as discussed in our
report, there were a number of factors that were either within or outside
the managerial control of the Authority and current or former DCPS
management We do not offer any view on whether any one of these
factors was the dominant reason for either the cost or timing issues
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concerning the roof repairs or whether current DCPS management could
have reasonably mitigated those effects:

As agreed with your office, unless you publicly announce the contents of
this report earlier, we plan no further distribution until 15 days from the
date of the report At that time, we will send copies of this report to the
Ranking Minority Member of your Subcommittee and the Chairmen and
Ranking Minority Members of the Senate and House Committees on
Appropriations and their Subcommittees on the District of Columbia and
the Subcommittee on the District of Columbia of the House Committee on
Government Reform and Oversight. We will also send copies to the
Chairman of the District of Columbia Financial Responsibility and
Management Assistance Authority, the Chief Fmancial Officer of the
District of Columbia, and the Chief Executive Officer of the District of
Columbia Public Schools. Copies will be made available to others upon
request

Major contributors to this report are listed in appendix VI. If you or your
staff need further information, please call me at (202) 512-4476.

Sincerely yours,

Gloria L Jarmon
Director, Health, Education, and Human

Services Accounting and Financial
Management Issues
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Key Dates Related to Fiscal Year 1997 Roof
Repairs at D.C. Public Schools

March 3, 1992 Parents United for the District of Columbia, an education advocacy
group, filed a lawsuit against the former Mayor, the District of
Columbia, and the Fire Chief of the D.C. Fire Department alleging
failure of the D.C. officials to adequately inspect for and remedy
violations of the District of Columbia Fire Prevention Code and
other safety hazards in the public schools.

May 2, 1994 A trial was held regarding the Parents United lawsuit.

June 10, 1994 The trial resulted in a D.C. Superior Court Order requiring: (1) the
D.C. Fire Chief to conduct semiannual inspections of every public
school in the District and to submit reports of fire code violations to
the Court and the plaintiffs, (2) the Fire Chief to order the
immediate closing of any public school building in D.C. with life
threatening fire code violations, including ruptured ceilings, and
(3) the plaintiffs to file reports with the Court detailing the
abatement or the abatement plan for the fire code violations noted.

August 14, 1995 The District of Columbia Public School Superintendent's Task
Force on Education Infrastructure for the 21st Century issued the
Preliminary Facilities Master Plan 2005 for the District of Columbia
Public Schools. rhe task force was established by the
Superintendent of D.C. schools to address the aging and physical
deterioration of the D.C. public schools.

April 26, 1996 Public Law 104-134 was enacted, requiring the General Services
Administration to provide technical assistance to the District of
Columbia Public Schools and to assist the District of Columbia
Public Schools in developing a facilities revitalization plan. The
General Services Administration was to consider the Preliminary
Facilities Master Plan 2005 for the District of Columbia Public
Schools in the development of the facilities revitalization plan.

July 25, 1996 A Memorandum of Understanding between the General Services
Administration and the Superintendent of the District of Columbia
Public Schools was signed, requiring the General Services
Administration to provide technical assistance and related services
to the District of Columbia in the development of a repair and
Capital improvement program for the District of Columbia Public
Schools.

September 9, 1996 Public Law 104-194, the 1997 Appropriations Act for the District of
Columbia, was enacted, providing $9.2 million for school repairs in
a restricted line item.

September 30, 1996 Public Law 104-208 was enacted, providing Student Loan
Marketing Association (Sallie Mae) and College Construction Loan
Insurance Association (Connie Lee) funds as well as transferring
the $9.2 million from Public Law 104-194 to the Authority to finance
D.C. public school facility construction and repair. The law also
gave the Authority authorization to contract out for public school
repair, in consultation with the General Services Administration.
Further, the General Services Administration was required to assist
in the short-term management of the repairs and capital
improvements.

(continued)
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Appendix I
Key Dates Related to Fiscal Year 1997 Roof
Repairs at D.C. Public Schools

October 3, 1996 The Authority received $11.5 million from fiscal year 1996 general
obligation bond proceeds to be used for D.C. public school
repairs and capital improvements.

November 15, 1996 The Authority restructured the District of Columbia Public School
by establishing e Board of Trustees and replacing the then
Superintendent of Schools with a new Chief Executive Officer.

November 19, 1996 A Memorandum of Understanding between the General Services
Administration and the Authority was signed, requiring the General
Services Administration to provide program management services
to assist in the short-term management of the repairs and capital
improvements for the District schools, per Public Law 104-208.

January 1, 1997 The District of Columbia Public School Chief Executive Officer
hired a Chief Opeiating Officer to manage and implement the
school facilities improvement program.

February 18, 1997 The General Services Administration provided the District of
Columbia Public Schools with a facilities revitalization plan as
agreed to in the Memorandum of Understanding dated July 25,
1996.

February 26, 1997 The General Services Administration issued Notices to Proceed to
roofing contractors for certain D.C. public schools.

February 28, 1997 The District of Columbia Public Schools submitted a draft
Long-Range Facilities Master Plan to the D.C. Council for approval.
The plan included a priority listing of 50 schools to receive roof
replacement in Fiscal Year 1997.

March 4, 1997 The Authority received $18.25 million from the federal
government's sale of Connie Lee to be used for D.C. public school
repairs and facility construction.

April 4, 1997 The District of Columbia Public Schools submitted a request to
D.C. Office of Budget and Planning for $28.5 million for capital
improvements.

April 7, 1997 District of Columbia Public School Chief Operating Officer hired a
Chief of Capital Projects to direct the program management,
program planning and control, and design review team managers.

April 14, 1997 The Authority requested $36.85 million in supplemental funds from
Congress for emergency public school facility improvements.
Congress declined to provide any additional funds.

April 25, 1997 The District of Columbia Public Schools submitted a revised
Long-Range Facilities Master Plan to the D.C. Council for approval.
The plan was also submitted to the Congress. The plan included a
priority list of 50 schools to receive roof replacement in fiscal year
1997. The priority list changed slightlyTyler was added to the list
of school roof projects to be managed by the District of Columbia
Public Schools, and Spingarn no longer appeared on the list of
school roof projects to be managed by the General Services
Administration.

May 19, 1997 The District of Columbia Public Schools issued a Request for
Qualifications to pre-qualify potential roofing contractors.

(continued)
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Appendix 1
Key Dates Related to Fiscal Year 1997 Roof
Repairs at D.C. Public Schools

June 4, 1997 The Authority received $20 million from the May 28, 1997, general
bond proceeds to be used for school repairs and capital
improvements.

June 20, 1997 District of Columbia Public Schools recessed for summer vacation.

July 1, 1997 The District of Columbia Public Schools issued an Invitation for Bid
end Contract notice seeking a single contractor to perform 15 roof
repair projects and 5 boiler/chiller projects. No bids were received.

July 10, 1997 The District of Columbia Public School Chief Operating Officer
testified before D.C. Superior Court that there were 47 school roof
repair projects scheduled and that some roofs would not be
completed before September 20, 1997. The 47 schools listed
differed from the priority list included in the April 25, 1997,
Long-Range Facilities Master Plan. For example, the 47 school roof
repair projects did not Indicate that roof repairs would be
performed at 13 of the schools on the roof repair list included in
the Long-Range Facilities Master Plan, dated April 25, 1997.

July 11, 1997 A District of Columbia Superior Court judge reiterated the June 10,
1994, Order and stated that schools would be closed while roof
work was performed. The Order also required the District of
Columbia Public Schools to submit a plan, by August 18, 1997, to
the Superior Court detailing alternative sites for students to report
to on September 2, 1997, the first day of the 1997-1998 school
year.

July 11, 1997 The District of Columbia Public Schools issued an amendment to
the July 1, 1997, Invitation for Bid and Contract notice. The
amended Invitation tor Bid and Contract notice divided the
required construction work into packages. There were six roof
repair packages at a total of 48 schools, and two boiler/chiller
packages at a total of 16 schools. Contractors were asked to
submit bids on one, more, or all project packages.

The schools scheduled for roof repairs indicated on the Invitation
for Bid and Contract differed somewhat from the schools
scheduled for roof repairs indicated on the July 11, 1997, Order.
For example, the Invitation for Bid and Contract included roof
repair projects at seven schools that were not listed on the July 11,
1997, Order.

July 14, 1997 The District of Columbia Public Schools submitted a request to
D.C. Office of Budget and Planning for an additional $20 million for
capital improvements.

July 17, 1997 The District of Columbia Public Schools submitted a revised
Long-Range Facilities Master Plan to the D.C. Council tor approval.
The plan included a priority listing of 56 schools to receive roof
replacement in fiscal year 1997. The priority list included thirteen
schools that were not indicated in the July 11, 1997. Court Order
and 6 schools that were not on the amended (July 11, 1997)
Invitation for Bid and Contract.

July 23, 1997 The District of Columbia Public Schools issued first Notices to
Proceed to roofing contractors.

(continued)
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Appendix I
Key Dates Related to Fiscal Year 1997 Hoof
Repaint at D.C. Public Schools

August 18, 1997 The District of Columbia Public Schools submitted a report to the
Superior Court stating that there was no contingency plan for
relocating students and staff who attend those schools where roof
repairs were taking place, and that the plan was to delay the start
of the school year until roof repairs were completed (September
22. 1997).

September 2, 1997 The Authority received $36.8 million of Sallie Mae proceeds (from
stock warrants) to be used for school repairs and capital
improvements.

September 22, 1997 District of Columbia public schools opened, commencing the
1997-1998 school year.

October 6, 1997 The Authority received $5 million of Sallie Mae proceeds (from the
sale of naming rights) to be used for school repairs and capital
Improvements.

November 3, 1997 A settlement was reached among Parents United, the Mayor, the
Fire Chief, and the District of Columbia Public Schools Chief
Executive Officer, which laid the foundation for ensuring that D.C.
public schools were free of Fire Code violations and requiring the
District of Columbia Public Schools to continue the necessary
repairs and capital improvements to the school buildings, as
indicated in the Long-Range Facilities Master Plan.'
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A Typical District of Columbia School With
Multiple Roof Areas

_ _
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Appendix U
A Typical District of Cahuabia With
Multiple Root Areas

Source: DCPS Capital Program Division.

Page 39 GAO/AIMD48419 District of CohaablaPublie Schools

BEST COPY AVALABLE

8 5



83

Appendix III

Comments From the District of Columbia
Financial Responsibility and Management
Assistance Authority

Note: GAO comments
supplementing those in the
report text appear at the
end of this appendix.

See comment 1.

See comment 1.

See comment 2.

District of Columbia Financial Responsibility
and Management Assistance Authority

Washington, D.C.

Febmary 2(1, 1998

Mr. Gene L Dodaro
Assistant Comptroller General
United States General Accounting Office
Washington, DC. 20548

Dear Mr. Dodam :

This lata provides the view, of the District of Coltunbia Financial Responsibility
and Management Assistance Authority (-Authority") regarding the draft report of the
General Accounting Office tided, "Markt of Columbia Public School-a: Availability of
fands, ael Carrof 1'997 Roof Preyeas".

Most of the significant events and time frames outlined in the draft report am
consistent with the records of the Authority. However, the drat report does not refer to
the April 14, 1997, request of the Authority, to the President and the Congress, for
additional /Mains. That request included $36.85 million for the District of Columbia
Public School, C'DCPS"). This arammt, when combinal with the $49.75 million
anticipated from other sources, would have provided a total funding of $86.6 million for
the emergency school repair program during the summer of 1997.

The work originally contemplated under the mnagency school repair program
was not limited to mof repairs but included repairs to boilers and chillers, and work that
oar required for compliance with the American. with Disabilities Act ("ADA"). . The
DCPS capital prograrn staff developed a plan to utilize these fluid,. Congress passed the
supplemental appropriations bill for Fiscal Yeas 1997 on lune 12, 1997. This bill did not
inchnic the requested finds for school capital anprovernenta. Therefore, the emergency
school repair program had to be redesigned to accommodate the reduced funding level of
$49.75 million. Ibis occurred eight days before school was dismissed for the summer.

The Authority recommendn that the report include discussion of the effect of the
changes inquired by the District of Columbia Superior Court. These additional
requirements added to the cost of the repair progam, and increased thc difficulty of
project managemmd. For trample, the court held that no persons including audents,
teachers, or janitorial personnel, could occupy the buildings during mot repairs
Additionally, the court decided to review and approve all work, before the work could
begin. As a result, the plan was constantly modified to accommodate the directives of the
COWL

Ow Thom. Ord.. N.W. kits 901) Ilhellegem. 24t5 (204 50.1,00
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Appendix III
COIIIIIK7113 Prom the District of Columbia
Financial Responsibility and Mansgemeut
Assistance Authority

See comment 2.

See comment 3.

It is important to note the policy of tho Authority teprding notificatico of the
mailability of funds. Tbe Authority advises the Office of the Chief Financial Meer of
the District COCF0-) of the availability of Nola It is the responsibility of the OCFO to
communicate with Bo financial pummel in Distrim agencies, inchaling DCPS.
Financial personnel in the agencies am a pan of end report directly to the OCFO.

Finally, me suggest that the draft report refer to the efforts of the Authority to
inctease the amount of 'Mum capital fielding for DCPS. During the deveiopment of the
Fiscal Yew 1998 capiul budget fee the Disnict, the Authority. with the support of Mawr
Barry oal tbe Council of the District of Columbia increased tbe capital allccatico fm
DCPS to 330 million. Adthticoally. on October 6, ISSI. the Authority receiced, and
reported to the District, tot additional $S million from Sallie Mae.

We appreciate this opportunity to provide coninsthta before the report is
(loathed.

Sincerely,
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Appendix III
Comments From the District of ColumbM
Financial Responsibility and Management
Assistance Authority

The following are GAO'S comments on the District of Columbia Fmancial
Responsibility and Management Assistance Authority's letter dated
February 20, 1998.

GAO Comments 1. Our report does not address whether ample funding was available for
the emergency school repair program during fiscal year 1997. However,
table 1 in the report shows that DCPS had about this same amount of funds
($86.5 million) available for capital projects during the fiscal year.

2. This point is discussed in the Comments and Our Evaluation section of
the report.

3. We have augmented our discussion in the Planned Roof Repairs section
of the report to refer to the additional $5 million from Sallie Mae. The
report refers to the Authority's commitment to provide a minimum
percentage of the District's general fund long-term financing authority
(annual bond proceeds) for completion of repairs required by the
Long-Range Facilities Master Plan.
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Appendix IV

Comments From the District of Columbia
Public Schools

Note: GAO comments
supplementing those in the
report text appear at the
end of this appendix. DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

PUBLIC SCHOOLS'

Office eds. askf Operating Vices /
Director of Facilities
415 126 Boos, N.W.
Ross 203
%ADP.. D.0 20004
MD) 7244202
FAX (202) 7244500

Febmary 17, 1998

Mr. Gene L. Dodaro
Assistam Comptroller General
General Accounting Office
Washington, D.C. 20548

Dear Mr. Dodsto:

We received your chaft repod of the EMIdatifeahmohiaPublir....Schools Availability cif
Funda and Cost of Fiscal Year 1997 School Roof Projnda. We have provided our
comments as requested.

We have appreciated the professionalism displayed by the team lead by Gloria L Ramon
on this audit.

Sincerely,

es E. Williams
Chief Operating Officer/Director of Facilities .

Attachman

Children First
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Appendix TY
Comments From the Dleziet of Columbia
Public Schools

See comment 1.

See comment 1.

See comment 1.

DCPS COMMENTS TO DRAFT GAO REPORT

In response to the draft report entitled Iftthict_pirahmthin.public..1cfajol&
Mailability of Funds and Coo of Fiscal Year 1997 &hoot Roof Proiecti," DCPS
submits the following comment& We ft& TM disagree with the majority of the absidiary
findings set forth in the body of the draft report. However, we believe that the principal
finding. set forth in the section entitled "Result. in Brief' are incomplete. Additionally,
we ere providing the following comments to set forth OUT understanding of the cud
embalm of events whid, preceded the initiation of the thof replacement and upper
building subilization program in the eummer of 1997, as well as the circumstances we
confronted in managing that program

1. PRDICIPAL FINDINGS

a. Availability affix&

In the section emitted "Results in Brig" the draft report states that the "District's
records show that than $IB million was available in Februery 1997 for DCPS-rnansged
roof work with the available moult increasing to about MB million by June 1997."
(Druft report at page 6). However, as .et forth in page it of the draft repon, those funds
were only made available to the District of Columbie Financial Responsibility and
Manegernent AWstance Authority in February 1997 end June 1997. In contrast, our
regards show that DCPS received $18.2 million in budget authority from the privatastion
of the College Construdion Low Innuance Association (Connie Lee) on April 11, 1997,
and that DCPS received $20 million on July 22, 1997 from the sale of general obligation
bonds. As discussed in greater detail in them comment& this budget authority was used
as menu DCPS had authcrization to utilize those Binds. Prior to the transfer of those
needs from the Authority to DCPS, we did not have the required authorization to utilize
those finds to initiate procuremem actions or to hire employees to replenith our capital
construction projects etaff.

A Impact of wan proerafinds

We must emphasize &et the court's July I I, 1997 order in Parents United for the
Diana of Columbia v. Barry, 0 al (CA No. 92-3478) played a critical role in the
initiation and management of DCPS' 1997 summer roof replacement end upper building
stabilization program. Under ths tams of this order, DCPS was prohibited ftom opening
thy school that had been scheduled for any roof work in fiscal Year 1997 even though all
known fire code violations had been abated by July 10, 1997 and even though it was
common prima= to conduct reale:pair or roof replacement work in occupied buildings.
As discussed in greeter detail, this order resulted in the establishreast of a compressed
work schedule fbr the completion of ell required roof replacement wale or upper building
stabilization ItAt in the mimosa of 1997 and it uhimately resulted in postponing the
opening of all District schools until September 20, 1997.
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Appendix IY
Comments From the District of Colombia
Public Schools

GENII= OP THE PROGRAM

a. The Star of Eneerginagt

On November 15, 1996, the District of Columbia Finanial Responsibility and
Management Assistance Authority declared a state of emergency end appointed an
Emergency Board of Imams and a Chief Executive Officer to administer the D.C.
Public Schools. The Authority took this drastic step because, among other things, DCPS
had "failed to provide a...safe environment in which to leans." Specifically, the Authority
found that the DCPS management of its facilities had been chum:wised by. ''numerous
fire code violations, preventing all District schools from opening on time... continued me
of aging facilities, mismanagement of capital funds for repair and renovatiork thiktre to
close unneeded schoolk and lack of a comprehensive facilities plan, resulting in numbers
of under-utilized and poorly maintained schools facilities...." (See Resohrtion, Order and
Recommendation Concerning District of Columbia School System). Due to the state of
emergency and the need to take immediate, emergency action, the CEO selected General
Charles E. Williams, who had over thirty yeas of experience in managing major
construction end rehabilitation programs under difficult conditions, in December 1996..

& DCPS Remus= and Initial ftandlne kent

When General Williams assumed office in Jemmy 1997, DCPS did not have the
staff and resources required to devise and manage an manioc capital improvement
proven. As stated in the drafi report, prior to November 1996, virtually the entire
capital (i.e. constnection management) staff had been terminated, and all available capital
finds $11.5 millionhad been obligated fbr construction contracts managed by the
General Services Administration (GSA) or had been earmarked to pry prior year bills.
Additionally, DCPS was the subject of coort supervision as a result of a lawsuit filed by
Parents United for the District of Columbia, an advocacy group, which alleged that DCPS
and other District agencies had failed to discover or abate fire code violations such as
leaking roofs which could result in electrical fires.

Despite this lack of resources, DCPS released its first Draft Long-Range Facilities
Master Plan on February 28, 1997, the findings in the plan and subsequent assessments
revealed that 30 per cent of DCPS 157 buildings were unsafe. Additionally, there were
over 1,680 fire code violations. In the draft plan, DCPS had concluded that in addition to
the roof replacement work managed by GSA, approximately 50 reboots required roof
replacement work in Fiscal Year 1997. Since DCPS had neither the &tiding mr ll. staff
to support new capital construction projects on February 28, 1997, DCPS believed that
these projects could not be fidly completed prior to October 50, 1997 even though it
hoped that a substantial number of them projects would be completed prior to Septanber
50, 1997.

1
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Appendix IV
Comments From the Diet:rice of Columbia
Public Schools

In the meantime, on Petiole), 26, 1997, GSA issued "Notices to Proceed" which
authorized roofing contractors the had been supported by the 511.5 million in obligated
funds to begin construction at five District schools. These cowman wae firms the had
been retained by GSA to paform construction work through Indefinite quantity"
contracts that had been awarded at earlier date. In order to receive services from these
retained firms, GSA simply issued "task orders" directing the firms to begin work as
instructed.

Constriction et the five schnols was based on designs that had been prepared by a
retained architectural fine puns= to task orders Issued by GSA on November 26, 1996.
However, anther design and construction work could not be initiated by DCPS without
additional capital finding.

ConnM Les pewee&

On April I I, 1997, father finding to support capital improvement projects
became available when $18.2 million readting liom dm sale of Connie Lee was entered
into the DCPS Financial Men/gement System (FMS). Prior to the entry of those fimds in
the DCPS FMS systent, those fisnds could not be used to nipport additicmal contracts
even if the fimds nay have been available to the Authority at an earlier date. Meantime,
on April 7, 1997, the Chief of the Capital Projects Division was hired and began to recruit
and hire employees to initiate and menage capital construction projects. By the end of
May 1997, six additional employees hed been hired to manage DCPS' capital
constriction projects

On May 19, 1997, DCPS issued Request for Quelifications (RFQ) to pre-qualify
(i.e., determine whether potential contractors possessed the resources and expertise for
construction work) contractors. In June 1997, Daniel, Mann, kenos and Mendeohall
(DM.B4), an architectural and engineering firm retained by GSA was innructed to survey
roofs, develop technical tpecifications for roof repair or upper building stabilization and
to devise government cost estimate for the construction work required for roof
replacement at 48 buildings.

During this period, DCPS also atked GSA to use its retained contra/an to
perform additional constriction work. Ultimately, GSA agreed to me contra:ton to
perform roof replacement work et three additional schools and to complete fen
boiler/chiller prodects at three sdditional schools. However, GSA would en direct its
contractors to perform additicmal work unless DCPS trensioned fimds and budget
=thorny directly to GSA. GSA we unwilling to contimm the pactice of allowing
DCPS to retain funding authority while it was testionsede for directing its retained
cuntractors to perform work on behalf of DCPS. In doing so, GSA was maely resuming
its customary, past practice. GSA had not followed its put practice in the limited number
of projects Nat it had managed on behalf of DCPS due to the emergency conditions
confronted by DCPS.

3
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Appendix IV
Comments From the District of Columbia
Public Schools

See comment 2.

Became, in the Court's opithon, the planned work would result in fire code
violations and would endanger occupants of the buildings, on My I I, 1997, the Court
prohibited DCPS from coning 50 schools until the Fire Martha' had cleared and
approved the schools far opening. 7be Court took this step even though it is common
practice to pafonn roof repair or replacement work in occupied buildings and evem
though tbe Superior Court building itself was occupied during its own roof repair effort.

The Couit's order of My I 1, 1997 had three drastic consequences for DCPS, its
students, an, the public. First, the order delayed the opening of ell school buildings from
September 2, 1997 to September 20, 1997 since it was impossible to find sufficient space
to accommodate the students and faculty from 50 schools Second, es a practical matter,
the Coures order essentially prohibited DCPS from pursuing the armegy of temporarily
patding roach since than was no reason to believe that patchwork would be sufficient to
&rote all potentith fire code tholations By July 11, 1997, DCPS wee well aware that the
failure to abate all potential end known fire code violations would lead to the imposition
of the drastic sanction of ordering the closure of additional schools.

a The leotard austrnedon schedule

As a result of and following the JulyI0, 1997 Maim on July II, 1997, DCPS
amended its initial Invitation for Bid and Contract end issued additional IFBC's. The
amended IFBC separated boilers and chillers from roof packages, and sought bids fbr
total of six roof replacement end upper building comedian packeges for the 48 schools
closed by the Cowes order. The amended promrement packages also sought bids for
roof replacement or upper building construction at seven addition,' schools. DCPS hed
no difficulty in arousing highly qualified bidders to respond to the !File's For this
reason. DCPS must disegree with the report's statement indicating that DCPS "continued
to experience difficulty in attracting bidders and urged COM/WWII to submit bids'

Thereafter, on July 22, 1997, DCPS entered en additional $20 million in capital
construction fends into the FMS. As soon es the $ZO million in capital consuuction
finding authority became available, DCPS issued notices to proceed to roofing
contractors on July 23, 1997. The COMICI0111 were instnicted to complete work prior to
the time tiVII buildings were originally scheduled to become occupied on Septanber 2,
1997.

5. lb. Ipper !wilding constmcdon proem.

DCPS believes thst the reptres nthior findings on the cost end conduct of the
1997 upper building strbilization program are accurate. The following conmients ere
provided only to amplify the findings set froth in the report.

a Cosi of tke program.

The report notes that DCPS had initially estimated the 122 million would be
required fbr roof wort in Fiscal Year 1997.
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Appendix 11,
Comments From the District of Columbia
Public Schools

See comment 3.

See comment 2.

After it became evident that all required roof replacement or upper building
construction could not be completed by September 2, 1997 and after it became clear that
it would be impossible to relocate the facuhy and students from 50 of 146 achools, DCPS
reluctantly determined that it was required to delay the opening of all schools until
September 20, 1997 in order to comply with the Court's edict which prohibited the
opening of schools until all roof replacement and upper building construction had been
completed.

As a practical matter, the Court's order established a work schedule of July 23,
1997 (one day after all required funds became available) and September 20, 1997 (the
delayed &drool opening date) to complete all required design and constmaion work at 50
schools. The noon's findings confirm that DCPS met this difficult schedule. The report
found that GSA had an average of 66 days to complete its 10 projects while DCPS'
pmjects were completed well under the 66 day average. We would point out that the
time differential identified in the report is even greater since the 66 day average for GSA
managed projects only included coastracdon while the DCPS managed projects included
both design and construction. As the report noted, the design ohne of the GSA projects
began on November 27, 1996 and the construction phase began on February 26, 1997,
three months later. In contrast, both the design and the subsequent combustion phases of
the DCPS projects began on July 23, 1997.

DCPS agrees that in order to expedite the completion of all required work, it
relied on the design-build construction method. DCPS, however, disagrees that such an
approach is inherently more expensive than the "traditional" approach whae separate
procurement actions are initiated for design and construction. With respect to this inn,
we believe that the cost of the upper building stabilization program was driven by factors
such as the need to replace or repair a number of non-roof related structures, the
complexity and diversity of DCPS' roofs as well as the compressed time schedule, but,
we do not believe that the cost of the program was due to reliance on the Design Build
method.

DCPS also disagrees with the statement that it experienced diflicadty in securing
bids due to the sire of its contract solickation packages While there may have been
some hesitancy in bidding on a package, which included boiler and chiller replacements
as well as roof replacement work, there was no lack of bidders for contract packages
which only sought roof and upper building stabilisation contractors. This is confirmed by
the fact that DCPS ultimately awarded at least three commas which covered multiple
schools. One package covered nine schools a second package covered six schools, and a
third package covered five schools.

With one exception, all of the contracts were awarded in Fiscal Year 1997 were
awarded on the basis of competition. The one exception occurred in the case of the
Langdon School. As discussed in the report, in this instance, a sole wurce contract was
awarded after DCPS' own quality assurance task force discovered a potential structural
problem and recommended immediate repair work prior to the opening of school in order
to abate a potential safety huard.

7
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Appendix IY
Commence From the District of Columbia
Public Schools

a. Cost estimates swear Seabed ~Mb glad acme order.

We agree with the report's finding, which show that the difference between the
estimated and actual cost of the construction projects conducted by DCPS was below ten
per cent. In our opinion molt a difference is well within the tea percent industry standard
for construction projects and that such a difference is relatively minor given the aim and
number of the construction projects initialed and completed in the summer of 1997.

We also believe that the number of change orden associated with those projects
was negligible As demonstrated by the findings in the report, the van majority of the
changes orders for 27 schools was caused by the need to repair, renovate or replace upper
building structures unrelated to roofs such as decks, drains or fleshings.

f The 1998 upper building repair Foram

In 1998 DCPS has programmed approximately $35 million for 40 roof or upper
building stabilization projects in Fiscal Year 1998. The report's findings confirm that
there are significant differences between the planned 1998 program and the 1997
program.

Initially, the lawsuit filed by Parents United for District of Columbia haa been
settled and an advisor who les significant construction expeience has been
appointed under the agreement to advise DCPS on compliance with the
agreement. Due to the settlement of the cam DCPS will be able to conduct
required upper building construction under an expanded time frame and will
be able to conduct such work while the buildinp are occupied.

Unlike Fiscal Year 1997, when DCPS did not receive funding to support new
capital projects until April 1997 and only received $18.2 million in new,
uncommitted fitnding in April 1997, DCPS bra already received about $40
million in budget authotity to support the capital improvement program.
DCPS also expects to receive $ 20 million in additional Ihnding from the
disposition of 15 schools in Fiscal Year 1995. Additionally, the Authority has
contrnitted $42 million in D.C. Fiscal Year 1998 bond proceeds for school
construction.

Unlike Fiscal Year 1997, when DCPS had no capital project staff members
until April 1997 and only six additional staff members by the end of May
1997, DCPS has now formed a planning staft capital execution staff as well
as a contract review and document control staff to administer the capital
program.

For these reasons, we are convinced that the non-technical difficulties
encountered by DCPS in the summer of 1997 will not recur in the conduct of the 1998
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Appendix IV
Comments From the District of Columbia
Public Schools

The following are oao's comments on the District of Columbia Public
Schools letter dated February 17, 1998.

GAO Comments 1. This point is discussed in the Comment and Our Evaluation section of
the report.

2. We modified this section of the report slightly. Of the 46 schools at
which ocPs-managed roof work during fiscal year 1997, Dcps received three
to five bids for 29 schools; 2 bids for each of 9 schools; and one bid for
each of the remaining 8.

3. We modified the report to provide additional information concerning
bidder risk associated with the extensive deferred maintenance and the
short time frames provided for submitting bids and completing the work.
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Appendix V

Comments From the General Services
Administration

General Services Administration
National Capital Region
Washington, DC 20407

FEB 2 6 1998

Mr. Gene Dodaro
Assistant Comptroller General
Accounting and Information Management [Makin
General Accounting Office
441 G Street, KW.
Washington, D.C. 20848

Dear Mr. Dodson:

This letter Is in reference to your draft audit report titled *DCPS Availability of
Funds and the Cost of FY97 Roof Projects'. First and foremost, I wish to
express my appreciation to your office for providing General Services
Administration (GSA) the opportunity to comment on the subject Draft Report.

After reviewing the draft audit report and your recent adjustments, we find It to be
acceptable with regard to Issues related to GSA and take no exceptions to those
sections. If we can be of any further assistance, please do not hesitate to
contact me or Mr. Frank Miles of my staff.

I
m R. "P' AIA

Assistant Reg al Administrator
Public Buildings Service

AYVC.P NO, Pnrs. No.
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Major Contributors to This Report

Accounting and
Information
Management Division,
Washington, D.C.

Hodge Herry, Assistant Director
Barbara Shields, Audit Manager
Bonnie Derby, Senior Auditor
Fred Evans, Senior Auditor
Lou Femheimer, Senior Evaluator
Kwabena Ansong, Auditor
Mel Mench, Senior Assistant Director
Meg Mills, Communication Analyst

Office of General
Counsel

Richard Cambosos, Senior Attorney
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Glossary

Asphalt

Ballast

Bitumen

Blocking

A petroleum compound, dark brown or black in color, used in the
manufacture of roofmg products.

Coarse stone, gravel slag, etc., used as an underlayer for poured concrete.

Asphalt or coal-tar pitch.

Sections of wood built into a roof assembly, usually attached above the
deck and below the membrane or flashing, used to stiffen the deck around
an opening, act as a stop for insulation, support a curb, or to serve as a
nailer for attachment of the membrane and/or flashing.

Built-Up Roofing A continuous semiflexible roof covering of lamination, or plies, or
saturated or coated plies alternated with layers of bitumen, surfaced with
mineral aggregate or asphaltic materials.

Cant Strip A continuous strip of flashing forming a triangle with a structural deck and
a wall or other vertical surface.

Cladding A material used as the exterior wall enclosure of a building.

Colonnade A number of columns supporting one side of a roof.

Coping Top covering of a wall that is exposed to the weather, usually made of
metal, masonry, or stone. It is preferably sloped to shed water back onto
the roof.

Counterflashing Metal strips used to prevent moisture from entering the top edge of roof
flashing, as on a chimney or wall.

Cupola

Cornice

A terminal structure, square or round, rising above a main roof. While
generally ornamental, a cupola can provide for ventilation.

The molded and projecting horizontal member that crowns a wall.
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Glossary

Deck

Design

Design-Build

The structural surface to which a roof covering system is applied.

The architectural concept of a building as represented by plans,
elevations, renderings, and other drawings.

The design-build approach gives a single contractor the responsibility for
both designing and constructing a project rather than separating the
responsibilities among a number of contractors.

Downspout A conduit that carries runoff water from a scupper, conductor head, or
gutter of a building to a lower level, or to the ground or storm water runoff
system.

Drain An outlet or other device used to collect and direct the flow of runoff
water from a roof area.

EPDM Ethylene Propylene Diene Monomer (rubber roof).

Estimate (Scope) A forecast of construction cost based on a detailed analysis of materials
and labor. Also referred to as a conceptual estimate or parametric
estimate.

Expansion Joint A structural separation between two building elements that allows free
movement without damage to the roofing or waterproofing system.

Fascia A vertical or steeply sloped roof or trim located at the perimeter of a
building. Typically, it is a border for the low-slope roof system that
waterproofs the interior portions of the building.

Flashing Strips of copper, aluminum, galvanized sheet metal, or similar materials
used along walls, dormers, valleys, and chimneys to prevent moisture
seepage.
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Glossary

Flood Test The procedure in which a controlled amount of water is temporarily
retained over a horizontal surface to determine the effectiveness of the
waterprooftng.

Glazing Cutting and fitting panes of glass into frames.

Gravel Stop A low profile upward-projecting metal edge flashing with a flange along
the roof side, usually formed from sheet or extruded metal, designed to
prevent loose gravel from washing off the roof and to provide a finished
edge detail for the built-up roofing assembly.

Gutter A channelled component installed along the downslope perimeter of a roof
to carry runoff water from the roof to the drain leaders or downspouts.

Insulation Materials designed to reduce the flow of heat either into or from a
building.

Masonry Anything constructed of material such as brick, stone, concrete blocks, or
ceramic blocks.

Modified Bitumen A roofing bitumen which generally has been rubberized or plasticized to
provide greater elasticity, flexibility, and improved working
characteristics.

Parapet A low, retaining wall at the edge of a roof. Usually an upward extension of
a building's exterior curtain wall.

Parging In masonry construction, a coat of cement (generally containing
darnpproofmg ingredients) on the face of rough masonry, the earth side of
foundation, or basement walls.

Pediment A triangular face forming the gable of a two-pitched roof.

Pitch The incline, or slope, of a roof.
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Glossary

Pitch Pocket A flanged metal container placed around a column or other roof
penetTating element and filled with flashing cement to seal the area around
the penetration.

Ply A single layer of organic or inorganic roofing material in a roof membrane
or roof system.

Replacement The practice of removing an existing roof system down to the roof deck
and replacing it with a new roofing system.

Repointing

Reroofing

Ridge

The process of removing deteriorated mortar from an existing masonry
joint and troweling new mortar or other filler into the joint.

The process of recovering, or tearing off and replacing an existing roof
system.

Where the rising sides of the roof come together. The highest point of the
roof.

Roofing System An assembly of interacting roof structures and components designed to be
weatherproof, and normally to insulate the building's top surface.

Saddle A relatively small raised substrate or structure that directs surface water
to drains or a valley; is often constructed like a small hip roof or like a
pyramid with a diamond shaped base.

Scupper

Shingle

An opening cut through the wall of a building through which water can
drain from a floor or roof.

Roof covering made from asphalt, fiberglass, wood, aluminum, tile, slate,
or other water-shedding material.
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Glossary

Skylight A roof accessory, set over an opening in the roof, designed to admit light.
Normally transparent, and mounted on a raised framed curb.

Splash Block A small masonry block laid on the ground below a downspout to carry
roof drainage away from a building.

Substrate See Deck.

Tapered Insulation A strip used to elevate and slope the roof at the perimeter and at the curbs.

Traditional Method In traditional project organization, the owner hires the Services of a design
team and a construction team. The design team is responsible for
transmitting owner/user needs in plan documents describing the physical
form for the construction team to assemble.

Valley

Wing

Where two roofs coming from different horizontal directions meet and
form an internal angle.

Roof section broadly extended or projecting at an angle from the main
building.
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Chairman Brownback, Senator Lieberman, and Members of the Subcommittee:

I am pleased to be here today to discuss the results of our performance audit of the
District of Columbia Public Schools (DCPS) Fiscal Year 1997 Capital Improvement
Program (CIP) Procurement Process.

I am accompanied this afternoon by Mr. Ed Fritts, a senior manager with Cotton &
Company, and Mr. Marvin Allmond, CPA, managing partner of Allmond & Company.
Mr. Allmond and his staff assisted us on the audit.

I would like to give you a very brief summary of our results and then emphasize and
clarify two key points about our audit and its conclusions.

Audit Objectives, Findings, and Conclusions

The audit was conducted at the request of the District of Columbia Financial
Responsibility and Management Assistance Authority (the Authority) for the purpose of
determining if (1) DCPS had an effective procurement system in place during Fiscal
Year 1997 for the CIP projects and (2) the procurement system met the statutory,
regulatory, and program needs of DCPS. We concluded audit fieldwork on December
15, 1997, and issued a fmal report to the Authority on January 12, 1998.

We concluded that DCPS did not have an effective procurement system in place and the
procurement system used did not meet the statutory and regulatory requirements. The
contracting process met program needs to the extent that the school-closing crisis was
substantially abated by mid-September 1997.

We concluded that the statute authorizing the CIP and the Authority's Resolution and
Order establishing the DCPS Board of Trustees required DCPS to follow Federal
procurement rules and regulations until the Authority prescribed some other
procurement rules and guidelines (or until DCPS itself adopted such policies and
guidelines). DCPS did not follow Federal procurement rules and did not adopt any
other procurement rules or procedures.

DCPS did not maintain complete and organized records of procurement decisions and
actions. Contract files were incomplete and disorganized.

DCPS personnel told us that they knew that the emergency circumstances under which
they were operating would result in higher costs. DCPS's Chief of Contract
Administration estimated that prices paid might have been 25 to 30 percent lower if
contractors had been allowed at least 30 days to prepare bids and 90 days to complete
the work. The DCPS Chief Operating Officer stated that he informed the Authority in
August 1997 that DCPS would have to pay a 30-percent premium. These estimates by
DCPS personnel translate into extra costs incurred due to operating in an emergency
mode of between $7.2 million and $9.4 million.
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DCPS's emergency procedures were a departure from sound procurement practices,
policies, and procedures and created conditions conducive to fraud, waste, and abuse.
At a minimum, these conditions placed honest personnel in compromised positions
where their actions and decisions become suspect.

Because DCPS did not adopt or consistently follow generally recognized procurement
policies and procedures, we concluded that management controls were not adequate to
protect against misappropriation of assets, errors, waste, or abuse. During contract
performance, DCPS did not monitor contractor compliance with applicable laws, rules,
and regulations incorporated into the contracts.

That is a brief summary of our audit's findings and conclusions. I would like to
address two points related to the audit in more detail. First is the issue of whether
DCPS followed proper procurement procedures. The second is the refusal by DCPS
officials to affirm in writing certain representations about the roof repair procurements.

Procurement Policies and Procedures

Since our audit was completed DCPS has asserted that they complied with the DC
Board of Education procurement rules which allow for emergency contracting. There
are two problems with that assertion. First, the DCPS people who were actually
involved with the procurements told us during our audit that they did not comply with
ANY procurement policies or procedures. .

During our audit, the COO, CFO, Chief of Contract Administration, and Chief of
Capital Projects all told us that no procurement rules were applicable or were followed
except the undefined concept of emergency procedures.

The then-DCPS Chief of Contract Administration told us, in writing, that "there are no
procurement procedures which DCPS had to follow in awarding Capital Contracts... the
[Authority] resolution requires only that the CEO enter into contracts which he deems
appropriate and in the best interests of the School System."

The DCPS Chief of Capital Projects told us, in writing, that "[a]ll of the work done by
DCPS in FY 97 was done under emergency conditions as declared by the Control
Board. We were thereby exempted from procurement policies and procedures."
[Emphasis in original]

The second problem with DCPS's current assertion that they followed the Board of
Education emergency procurement procedures is that even if they thought they were
following those procedures, what occurred failed to conform to those procedures.

For example, our audit found that
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documentation requirements were ignored,

segregation of duties requirements were bypassed,

project managers (rather than procurement officials) decided what contractors to
invite to submit bids,

project managers (rather than procurement officials) received and opened bids,

project managers (rather than procurement officials) made contract award decisions,

contracts and contract modifications were executed without first certifying that
funds were available,

contract work was allowed to commence without evidence that required bonds were
obtained,

contract compliance requirements were ignored,

millions of dollars of change orders were approved without-justification or written
findings and determinations.

Nothing in the Board of Education procurement proceduresemergency or otherwise
permits such practices. These were the conditions cited in our report as being
conducive to fraud.

Public Law 104-208 stated clearly that the CIP procurements were to be done in
accordance with Federal procurement rules and regulations or such guidelines as
prescribed by the Authority. The Authority delegated this responsibility to DCPS and
DCPS did not follow Federal procurement rules and did not adopt any other procurement
rules.

Management Representations

I want to clarify the circumstances surrounding our request for written management
representations. In a hearing on January 23, 1998, Delegate Eleanor Holmes Norton
asked General Becton and his staff why they refused to sign the management
representation letters we asked them to sign as part of our audit. They did not answer
that question. Instead, General Becton and his staff stated that it was unfair and
inappropriate for us to have asked them to sign these letters.

We do not agree that it was either unfair or inappropriate. Although requesting written
representations from management is not a mandatory procedure in performance audits,
it has been a suggested procedure for nearly 20 years. The current version of GAO's
Government Auditing Standards suggests that this procedure be considered in

3
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performance audits. It was a recommended procedure in the 1988 revision of
Government Auditing Standards, and it was a recommended procedure in the 1981
revision of Government Auditing Standards.

The focus should not be on whether or not our request for management representations
was appropriate. The focus should be on why DCPS officials refused to provide these
representations.

We asked six DCPS management officials to affirm certain key assertions made to us
explicitly and implicitly during the audit. Four officials did not respond. Two officials
gave us some but not all of the representations 16 days after we issued our report.

Our request was simple and straightforward. We asked them to affirm to the best of
their knowledge and belief that, for example.

they knew of no material unrecorded transactions;

they made available to us all relevant information;

they informed us of all evidence of error or fraud of which they were aware;

they knew of no violations of law that had occurred in connection with the
contracts;

they provided us with all relevant information regarding the conviction of two
DCPS procurement officials for accepting bribes and illegal gratuities, and that
these two officials had nothing to do with the CIP procurements; .

and so forth.

These were legitimate questions within the scope of our audit.

An audit relies on a modicum of cooperation from the entity being audited. We cannot
force people to cooperate. We have an obligation, however, to determine if restrictions
have been placed on the scope of our work, and when they have, to disclose the nature
and significance of those restrictions.

* * * * * * * *

Mr. Chairman, that completes my prepared statement. I will be happy to respond to
any questions you or other members of the Subcommittee may have at this time.

4
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Mr. Chairman and Members of the Subcommittee:

I am Dr. Joyce Ladner. I am a Member of the District of Columbia Financial

Responsibility and Management Assistance Authority (Authority), and I am the Board

Member with lead responsibility for public education in the District of Columbia. I

appreciate the opportunity to testify on the progress made by the Authority and the D.C.

Public Schools to improve the quality and safety of our schools and to put "children first"

in our efforts to reform the District.

Introduction

The Authority was created by the U.S. Congress in 1995 to return the District of

Columbia to financial solvency and to improve the management and delivery of public

services. As the Authority has reported to Congress previously, there has been

considerable progress already made in revitalizing the District Government and

improving the quality of life for residents and visitors.

Mr. Chairman, the Authority has devoted much time and attention to the condition

of public education in the nation's capital. There is no question that the education of our

children, and the state of the public schools, has been and remains a critical issue for

this community. I believe that if we fail to educate our children, we will erode the

progress being made in so many other important areas. Without adequate education, our

children will never take their places effectively as contributing members of this

1
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community. In improving education, our goal is to ensure that this City continues to have

productive citizens who contribute to its enrichment, and who understand the role and

obligations of citizenship and society.

The Authority Members are no strangers to the value of public education. All of us

are the products of quality education, and we recognize that the quality of our future

rested on the nature of the education that we were provided. That is why, when

confronted with the failure of the District's educational system, the Authority took action.

In our November 1996 report, "Children In Crisis: A Report on the Failure of the D.C.

Public Schools," the Authority concluded that the deplorable record of the District's

public schools, in every important educational and management area, had left the system

in crisis. In virtually every area, and for every grade level, the system failed to provide

the,Districes children with quality education and a safe environment in which to learn.

The Authority's Mandate for Change

In response to this crisis, the Authority, on November 15, 1996, took immediate action

to fundamentally improve the schools. Through a Resolution and Order, the Authority

replaced the Superintendent and reduced the powers of the elected Board of Education.

In their place, the Authority appointed retired Army Lieutenant General Julius W.

Becton, Jr. as Chief Executive Officer and Superintendent, and established an Emergency

Transitional Educational Board of Trustees, under the leadership of Chairman Bruce K.

MacLaury. As part of the overhaul, the Authority ordered the Chief Executive Officer/

2

1 1:4



112

Superintendent to address the structure, education, and management of the public schools.

The Authority established an aggressive agenda of reform; Together with the CEO and

the Trustees, who are volunteers, we have worked hard to ensure that the education of our

children is qualitatively and quantitatively improved at every level.

Progress Continues to be Made

Mr. Chairman, the D. C. Public Schools have made great strides in addressing the

deficiencies that were cited in our "Children in Crisis" report. And today, their progress

has laid the foundation for further reform and demonstrable success in the outcomes

of our children's education.

But I am also a realist. We must all recognize that the problems in our school

system did not occur overnight the physical structures alone have been deteriorating

and subsequently neglected for a period of almost 50 years. The physical problems, and

the educational ones, can not be fixed overnight. Yet, the important thing is that they are

being fixed. For the first time, there now exists comprehensive plans, administered by

capable and dedicated educators, to make permanent improvements that will benefit the

schools and our children.

Despite the progress we have made, and the hard work of the CEO, Trustees and many

employees, much remains to be done. In researching the approach taken by other

educational reform efforts, one of the most essential ingredients was the establishment of

3
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a reform minded team committed to change. In places such as Chicago, for instance,

they successfully recruited a new top management team and eliminated drastically the

middle level management tier. We have encouraged General Becton to employ the same

approach. We are very pleased, therefore, that Dr. Arlene Ackerman, who brings a

wealth of experience and commitment to educational reform, has joined the schools as the

Deputy Superintendent/Chief Academic Officer. In the coming months, we know that

General Becton will continue to assemble a team that can bring the Public Schools to the

next level of achievement.

Academic Improvement and Accountability

With respect to academics, the Authority is pleased that the Chief Executive Officer

and the new Chief Academic Officer are instituting plans that will leverage accountability

for educational change throughout the school system. All actions, procedures, and

processes are being examined for their impact upon educational attainment. A system of

accountability is being developed which will have far reaching results for educational

improvement. The D.C. Public Schools are holding principals more accountable, and

where appropriate, the administration is replacing principals. The D.C. Public Schools

have limited the appointment of principals to one year, and removed the selection of

principals from the previously politicized process. Fifty percent of a principal's

evaluation now will be based on students' academic performance. The D.C. Public

Schools are also moving to make teacher evaluations performance-driven. Principals and

4
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teachers are receiving training in the expectations supporting performance-based ----\

management.

Increased academic standards are being instituted. On her arrival, the Chief

Academic Officer implemented the nationally recognized Stanford-9 tests on a biannual

basis. While this will help the schools to measure performance and develop solutions for

improvement in the long term, the results in the short term have been very disappointing

at all educational levels. Fourteen out of 18 DC high schools had more than 90 percent of

the students below basic levels of proficiency in math. To improve educational readiness,

therefore, the administration is ending the practice of passing students on from grade to

grade regardless of their performance, so called "social promotion." The D.C. Public

Schools are going to require students to attend summer school if they want to move on to

the next grade with their classmates in the fall.

As the D.C. Public Schools develop an educational strategic plan which identifies the

critical actions and time frames for addressing the schools' most fundamental problems

and attaining the goals inherent in quality education, we are convinced that demonstrable

improvements can be realized. An educational strategic plan will guide the development

of administrative priorities to support educational programs. Previously, changes were

frequently made in a vacuum without an assessment of their impact on the attainment of

educational goals. This is being changed. A plan will also identify the financial resources

needed to attain specific educational goals also another first. All stakeholders in this

process must ensure that the D.C. Public Schools do not operate in a vacuum. The

5
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Public Schools must make the most informed decision possible concerning the allocation

of scarce resources.

Administrative and Financial Management Improvements

Both the schools and the Authority agree that there are many opportunities for

increased operating efficiencies and cost savings. As a result, the Authority is assisting

the D.C. Public Schools in addressing the long-standing problems in the central

personnel, asset management, technology, and procurement functions. We have already

seen some progress. The D.C. Public Schools have developed performance measures for

every part of the organization. These measures will provide clear benchmarks for

gauging progress and improvement. The size of the central administration has been

reduCed from 15 percent of the D.C. Public School workforce in FY97 to 11 percent in

FY98. In the area of financial management, the Schools' today have a much better

understanding of the nature of their expenditures and the linkages to education reform,

and they are now developing school-based budgets.

Authority Monitoring of DCPS Reform

The Authority has vigilantly monitored the reform efforts of the School. In

conjunction with the schools, we have developed and implemented a monitoring plan that

measures management and programmatic changes. The CEO's reforms arein line with

6
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the plan, and with the Authority's efforts to transform the system overall. The

monitoring program measures DCPS' progress in terms of the results, or outcomes, that

the CEO achieves, and it will help to support the future changes needed to improve

educational results.

Physical Infrastructure Improvements

Mr. Chairman, I am pleased to report that the D.C. Public Schools has began to address

the physical infrastructure problems that have plagued the schools for far too long. The

Parents United lawsuit, which affected the entire school system and paralyzed the repair

of schools, has been settled. The Public Schools spent almost $50 million in capital

funds in FY97. Fifty six new roofs, numerous boilers and chillers were replaced, and

dozens of schools were renovated many schools had not seen renovations in years.

Eleven schools were closed, which will reduce operating and maintenance costs. The

Public Schools are now marketing surplus facilities for sale in accordance with an

Authority -approved surplus property disposition plan. A draft Long-Range Facilities

Master Plan to guide the school's capital improvements for the next ten years has been

developed and implemented. After years of neglect and failure, there is now progress

and hope.

7
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Special Education

One of the remaining challenges we face, Mr. Chairman, is the crisis in the special

education system. Nearly 7,700 students are already in special education, and the number

is growing precipitously. This growth is having tremendous implications for the future

cost of education..In FY 1997, $93.8 million from all sources was spent on special

education. In FY 1998, $102 million from all sources will be spent. Under the Mills

Decree, D.C. Public Schools are required to assess and place special education students

within 50 days of referral. This is the shortest time period allowed for assessment and

placement in the nation. This issue, and the role of the lawsuit, must be carefully

considered for their impact on the growth of this population and the attendant

administrative costs. The Authority, in concert with the District's Chief Financial

Officer, is reviewing this matter and will shortly provide guidance to the school system

for its resolution.

School Funding

Turning now to schools' funding, the Authority is working closely with the

Administration to improve the basis for funding the public schools. The unique

financing arrangement for the District's schools and its impact on education recognizes

that the District carries out the roles of a city, a county, and a state. In a report issued last

year on state-type functions, the Authority found that, around the country, elementary

and secondary education is usually the responsibility of local jurisdictions, or operated

8
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by independent school districts at the local level. However, significant portions of the

funding are established above the local level, typically by the state.

Nationwide statistics show that elementary and secondary education operational funds

are provided by all levels of government, with States providing nearly half of the

operational funds. Many states also assist their local school districts with capital funds

for construction and major renovation of school buildings. In addition, many local school

districts have their own sources of revenue and taxing authority and may issue bonds.

Unlike other school agencies, the District government must provide both the state and

local sources of funds. In addition, DCPS does not have its own taxing authority, nor can

it issue bonds for capital improvements. DCPS must rely on the District to ration scarce

dollars to school repair and construction and must compete with other vital government

programs. Most local schools rely substantially on property taxes. Of course, the city's

property tax base is limited because of the significant amount of valuable property that is

federally owned.

As I noted earlier, capital needs of the District's schools are massive. DCPS is

estimating that stabilizing and modernizing DCPS buildings will cost approximately $1.2

billion by fiscal year 2004.

In conclusion, Mr. Chairman, the Authority is pleased that progress is being made

in improving the public schools of the District. We all recognize that more needs to be

9
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done, and we are working to make sure that improvements continue according to our

plans. The Authority remains committed to reforming the schools and ensuring that the

District's children obtain a public education that provides them a bright and productive

future.
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STATEMENT OF J.W. BECTON, JR
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA PUBLIC SCHOOLS
BEFORE THE

SUBCOMMITTEE ON OVERSIGHT OF GOVERNMENT MANAGEMENT,
RESTRUCTURING AND THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENT AFFAIRS
UNITED STATES SENATE

MARCH 9, 1998

Mr. Chairman, thank you for providing me the opportunity to update you today on the progress
of our effort to reform the District of Columbia Public Schools. The title of this hearing --
"Lessons Learned" -- is appropriate, because this has certainly been a learning process for me
and my team, and I am happy to share with you some of those lessons today.

Before I do so, however, I want to take a moment to remind the Subcommittee of why my team
was put in place in November 1996 and the challenges we faced when we arrived. As you know,
the D.C. Financial Responsibility and Management Assistance Authority created the Emergency
Transitional Education Board of Trustees and appointed me as Chief Executive Officer of the
schools after concluding that "...by virtually every measure of performance, the public school
system has failed to provide a quality education for all children and a safe learning environment

in which to learn."

The school system was broken in fundamental ways: expectations for student performance were
low, accountability was lacking across the system, employees and vendors were not paid on
time, and school buildings were plagued by fire code violations. DCPS students performed well
below national norms on standardized tests, truancy and dropout rates were unacceptably high,
and the public had lost confidence in its schools. These long-standing problems were created
over literally decades and they cannot be erased overnight.

Perhaps I should mention that this was probably the first "lesson learned" for me: people are
impatient the public, the City Council, and even the Congress seem to expect almost immediate
progress, forgetting how long it took us to get into the hole we're digging out of today. I too have
been frustrated by the rate of progress, but I know how far we have had to come.

And we have made progress in the relatively short time this administration has been in place.
We have focused our energy on making improvements in three core areas: academic
achievement, personnel and financial management, and school facilities. I am pleased to report
that we have made real progress in all three of these areas. We have learned lessons along the
way, and I will talk about those here as well.

1
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In academics, we have taken dramatic steps to begin improving student achievement. We

brought on a highly-qualified Chief Academic Officer, who came to the District with a clear plan

and a proven track-record. Mrs. Arlene Ackerman, our CAO, is here with me today and I'd like

to introduce her if I may. Mrs. Ackerman has developed content standards that clearly define

what students should know and be able to do in each grade. She is implementing promotion

gates, to end the practice of moving students on even if they're not performing at grade level.

Because of those gates, we will hold a massive summer school program for students at risk of

non-promotion this year. We expect up to 20,000 students (over one-quarter of our entire student

population) to participate in the program, which willbe required for students in certain test-score

ranges who wish to be promoted in the fall.

These are indeed dramatic steps. In fact, few school districts have been willing to go so far. And

yet, while parents have been largely supportive of our efforts, some observers have criticized us

for failing to move more quickly on the academic front. Once again, I have learned a lesson.

Mrs. Ackerman did not join DCPS until last September, after we conducted a nationwide search.

When she arrived, she hit the ground running, and she has been running hard ever since. If I

could change the past, I would have had Mrs. Ackerman with me when I came on board in

November 1996. My friend Paul Vallas, who heads up the reform effort in Chicago on which

our effort was modeled, brought 40 people with him when he took over. I had one. Mr. Vallas

had the luxury of taking over Chicago Public Schools in July, so that he had two months to

prepare for his first academic year. I was appointed after the school year. As a result, we've had

to do something akin to rebuilding an airplane in mid-flight. But, we cannot always set the rules

of the game. Nevertheless, we are moving forward.

In the areas of personnel and financial management, we have made progress as well. We

balanced our budget in FY97, for the first time in five years. We downsized the organization and

shifted personnel out of the central office into the schools. We realigned our FY98 budget to

better support academic achievement and we broke it down from six huge "responsibility

centers" to 70 small ones, to increase accountability for program managers. It has been a slow

and difficult process however, because we have had to work with historical data that is

unreliable, we are dependent upon often dysfunctional data management systems, and we are

tied to the city's payroll system, which is slow and arduous.

I will turn now to facilities. As I have said before, this administration inherited a massive

facilities problem, estimated at $2 billion by the General Services AdministratiOn. Routine

maintenance of our schools had been neglected for years. When we arrived, there was no long-

term capital, plan in place and school maintenance had been contracted out to a private vendor

under an arrangement that we immediately judged to be costly and inefficient. Fire code

violations were plentiful.
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We drafted a long-term capital plan in time to meet a congressional deadline. We voted to close
11 schools and have began disposing of surplus properties that had previously been allowed to
stand empty for decades. These were not popular decisions, and we have taken considerable
criticism for them, but we were put in place to do what's right for children, whether its popular or
not, and that is what we're doing.

Finally, we repaired or replaced over 60 roofs in the largest DC school improvement program in
recent memory. We didn't patch, as people had done in previous years. In fact, we fixed roofs
this summer that had been patched countless times before. We didn't just put on new roofs, we
also did the deferred maintenance that was necessary to ensure that those new roofs would last.
As the GAO noted in its report, we had to do this work to get long-term warranties on those
roofs. Those warranties are important, because they protect the public's investment.

As the GAO said, these were not ordinary roof jobs. In many cases, we did major upper-building
repairs (to repair damage caused by years of deferred maintenance). In addition, we worked on
numerous different types of roofs,-some of which are much more expensive that the basic flat-
roof you usually see in new suburban school districts. We did this work on a compressed time
schedule, driven by the Court's orders in the Parents United suit, which meant higher labor costs.

Were the GSA-managed projects completed at a lower cost? Yes. But the GSA-projects were far
less complicated, and they were done in a much more reasonable time-frame, which the GAO
has noted. In my view, GAO fully understands the difficult circumstances under which we
worked and does not believe that we overspent on the project, given those circumstances.

Further validation of our costs is provided by comparing those costs to our government
estimates. The actual contract costs for the summer roof replacement effort came in less than five
percent above our government estimates, which is well within the range of industry standards. In
addition, change orders have totaled less than an additional five percent. In summary, I remain
confident in my belief that the District's residents got good value for their dollars.

I would like to touch briefly on the availability of funds, as I know you are interested in this
issue. There has been much discussion about when funds were available to the Authority.
However, at times the distinction between funds availability at the Authority, and funds
avthlability at the school system, is lost. We loaded the Sallie Mae funds our financial system on
the basis of a press release. In fact, in the annual financial report for the city, the auditors
identified a material weakness concerning control over transactions involving the Authority and
agencies across the city.

Could the process be improved? Certainly. Did we learn from our mistakes? Yes, and we have
made changes to the process as a result. For example, we have set up a new document control
process to ensure that contract files are well maintained and can be easily audited.
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I do hope, however, that we don't lose sight of the tremendous accomplishments that were made

last summer, under extremely difficult circumstances. The public got a quality productfor its
investment. Children in almost one-half of our schools are warmer and drier than they were
before we did the work. This is real progress and I am proud of it and proud of the dedicated

staff and competent contractors who made it happen.

In closing, I would like to invite you to visit any one our schools soon. We are making dramatic

changes underneath the roofs, inside the classrooms and, unfortunately, you may not read about

these changes in the newspaper and you certainly won't find them in the pages of an audit. Also,

Mrs. Ackennan would like to have the opportunity to meet with you and provide you with more

details about her plans for academic improvement. I hope that such a meeting can be arranged.

Thank you again for the opportunity to testify. I would be happy to respond to questions at this

time.

4
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General pemices Adminiatiation
National Capital Region
Washington, DC 20407

General Charles E. Williams
Chief Operating Officer
DC Public Schools
415 12th Street, NW
Suite 903
Washingto 21 I I

I

Dear Gen .tii hams:

I would like to heartily congratulate you, Harold Johnson and your staff on an
extraordinary job well done in completing the facility repairs for opening the DC Schools
by September 22nd. As you well know, I am intimately familiar with theextraordinary
challenge you faced in completing the roof repairs and other related repairs on the 43
schools in such an extremely short timeErame.

While GSA may have been helpful to you in prior phases, and hopefully assisted you to
mobilize to the point that you have, we recognize that the DC School facilities team
under your leadership has conducted this effort essentially on its own and, frankly, has
delivered the results in a manner more efficient than we may have been able to do for
you. Clearly, you have structured an organization and processes in an exceptional
manner from which we may be able to learn some lessons on improving our own
operation.

On that note, I would appreciate visiting you at the appropriate time and learning from
you some practices and processes that we may be able to utilize to improve our
operations. I will contact you shortly to arrange this meeting. On behalf of GSA I would
like to again extend my congratulations and express our full support for your remarkable
achievements.

Sincerely

William,X. Lawson, FAIA
Assistlt Regional Administrator
Public Buildings Service

cc: Congresswoman Eleanor Holmes Norton
Harold Johnson - DCPS
Rick Hendricks
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Roofers
INCORPORATED
325 W. 23rd Street
Baltimore, Maryland 21211
410 407 MOO
tax 467 2439

General J.W. Becton, Jr.
CEO, D.C. Public Schools
415 12`h Street, NM.
Washington, DC 20004

Dear General Becton:

January 14, 1997

I was appalled at reading an article from the January 13, 1998 Washington Post which labeled the
contracting system under the direction of General Charles E. Williams as "shoddy" when this summer,
during an emergency roof program, he directed the roof replacement and repair of more than fifty-
seven D.C. public schools. The Post's allegations of corruption and abuse is totally unfounded and

irreproachable.

Although we have not met, I am the President of Roofers, Incorporated, one of the contractors who

played an active role with respect to the roof replacement program and who, during the active period

of repair in August and September 1997, repaired the roofs on eleven schools. The allegations which

were made in the Post article grossly contradicted the professionalism and efficiency which I
experienced in dealing with General Williams' staff during that time. When I initially attended the
Pre-Bid meeting which was held at the Penn Center in early summer, at which time Harold Johnson,
Christopher Lipscombe, and General Williams addressed a large group of contractors, I felt the
monumental task before them with respect to the many roof replacement projects which were being

contemplated was unachievable in the shim period of time available before schools opened in
September. General Williams, at that time, addressed the concerns by saying "we will work together
as a team to meet these schedules and complete the projects not only on time, but to the highest level

of quality." General Williams stated that the roof systems to be installed would not only be "a roofing
system but a roof system which carried a manufacturer's twenty year no dollar limit warranty" which

is the highest standard of roof available in the roofing industry.

19 8
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General J.W. Becton
January 14, 1998
Page Two

There is no question there was additional cost int:Lured in the performance of the work as incentives
were a necessity to stimulate die work force into working double shifts, nights, and all weekend&
All of these operations were coordinated and closely monitored by General Williams' staff who
required daily updates with respect to progress on each project so as to track percentage of
completion and eliminate the possftility of missing a completion date. With respect to record keeping
and the maintaining of files on each project, it is always customary to submit pertinent project
documents.at project close-out which, insofar as our firm is concerned, is in the process of being
submitted at this time.

Your decision to invoke a three week delay in the opening of the schools was unavoidable as it was
necessary to- provide General Williams and his staff adequate time to address additional roof
replacement projects where fire code violations had arisen. It was as a result of General Williams'
unparalleled level of energy, together with a well programmed staff that all projects were completed
on time for the September 22 opening of schools. It cannot be overlooked that you and General
Williams inherited a public school system where the facilities had been allowed to deteriorate over
a ten year period which, immediately upon taking the reins, you and General Williams were expected
to perform "miracles".

I personally have thirty-one years experience in construction, and I have never experienced such a
masterful display of leadership as that exhibited by General Williams as, without he and his staff and
the contractors who worked with them, fifty-seven schools today in the D.C. school system would
be closed for fire code violations with the entire system still bound in litigation.

Instead of calling for the resignation of General Williams. it seems more appropriate that the City and
the press should take a moment to reflect on the sincerity and concern this man has had for the well
being of thousands of D.C. children who deserve the opportunity of a sound education in school
buildings that are not riddled with thousands of fire code violations. Let's remind the press that this
was the state of' affairs before General Williams undertook his positive plan of direction for the
schools. I hope others can reflect positively on the achievements of this outstanding individual whose
sole motivation is to.create safe learning environment for the children, with no personal gain.

Sincerely,

Ri . Pineau
President

RSP:str
williams
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Toby J. Chrostowski Todd M. Chrostowski
NEwJetsev korwtmo

Managing Partners

13 January 1998

Charles E. Williams
DCPS
415 12th Street, NW
Washington, DC 20002

Dear General Williams,

I read the January 12 and 13, 1998 articles in the Washington Post and was both appalled
and insulted. I was appalled that the control board audit implied that you and your office
used "flawed procurement procedures." Obviously the audit's authors chose to ignore the
unique circumstances of this project and the formidable conditions set forth by the Judge.
I was insulted to be wrongly accused of "colluive bidding, bribes, kickbacks and illegal
gratuities." Jottan has been in business nearly 25 years and has never been accused of
such illicit behavior. I take great offense to this libelous and irresponsible statement.

Prior to your arrival Jottan would not do business with DCPS. In my opinion DCPS was
unorganized, uncaring and poor pay. DCPS gave the appearance that it was not interested
in working with quality applicators and materials. This was evident by the decades of
neglect and shoddy procurement procedures by the previous administrations.

Your commitment to the improvement of the DCPS was unmistakable in your
presentation at the pre-bid meeting. Had you not stood up and insisted that things would
be different, I would not have participated. Your desire to do what was best for the
children and the District of Columbia motivated Jottan to participate in the process.

The Post article referenced a call for your resignation. I hope you will weather this
current storm. The DCPS community can not afford to lose such a pillar of integrity who
has demonstrated the ability to bring positivechange to the District.

Sincerely,

Todd /4. Chrostowaki
President

cc: J.W. Becton, Jr.
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CONCERNED. BUILDING .CGNTRAOTOlis'. AssocIATtoti
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..- 10540' ASSEMBLY PRIVE
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:. ...

Dr Andrew Erin-0er,

-DC Financial gesOonliSility
MariagenieneASSistanee AuthoritY.

One Thomas Cirde '

iSuft 900
Washington; D.C. 20005

.

.'

Dear Dr. Brithritei-r.
. .

. Weareccificeined by recent Media.* public.aoecnints'abOut the.D.C. Public Schools'. (DCpS.)
. . .

. . . - ,

roofing:repair eimtractinv Welfeei theSe accountS',Maccurately depiet eventS'AeadingAn the
ernergettey cOntrading situation:last suniMer. In addition, the deseriptinna cast disPeraiOnt On ,

:our 06S-try and we-take iSsne -With that. The'fiet ISthit buiddiriiC.::ihtraoiciit repaired mere than.
60 DC3-S Mnfs Withtinpitralleled rigatitY,-in a recOrd six Weeis it rireasOnable Piiee., this -Was
accoMPlished despite unprecedented tithe presanteS and supply and laber shOrtagess; ,

The .eOmplexities :typically 'encountered in renoVating.tilder schoOl buildings, like,those
PiStrict, are Considerable. Einensive repair was required tO more than 60 Schools.Meliniinate :
fire code Vitilitions: Engineering core samples reyealed Structural degeneration retting jOist.4

and decayed subroofs. :The ektent of the deterioration caused project Scopes tO dip* front roof......
reciair.to actual. Stnictural rebuild. GSA contraCtOr.;.DMIK StateSiaita *wardship-Report,

. Snbstantial °flashing, refilacement, 'repainting Of MisonlY 'iiVerallsibiiizatiOn of adjacent
parapets contributs.,.--:4 to irlinigraM. that 7.

. .

. .

We zipOlaud General Charles E Willianis for, irialc4ig the mariy teugh cldoisions nctdeatdiepair,
D.C..Ptiblie Sehooli.':,With time COnstraints- iinpOied;by the 'oversight judge and Me-threat:of :.

, , ..
daily EriesaviLvillonii hipypd qUicklOossccuro etimpentiVe bi-cg and competent Contiatiors*., :

. . . .

in an atteMpt tO avoid deIaYing the'opening Of schnoal:.,Vndertis leadershiP;Some Of the ittiOst
respected 6itilding.eriritiaLicis on the East coastPriiVided the Pubiic Sehool with the fieSt

. . .

;quality roofing Mid reconsh-UatiOn services available: :? .

-It should be neted that maiiy building contractors were reltictant to. do.tinsinesswith'ihe District
_ . . .

becanSe, of. the ..,citSr7s- tennous financial condition. ":tt.-*.is our ..:faith. in: General. Williams
impeccable reputation that instilled mist and prOiriPted Centractors 'to partiCipate. McireOver;.:,.;
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many contractoiS postponed prior jobs to help get the SchoOls Open on tiMe'.

. .

Dr. Brimmer, you are aware of the unfortunate circumstances leading to a three-week delaytn
school opening.: At a :recent hearing convened by bongresthan Tom DaviS' SubCOmmittee on
:the District of Caltimbia; COngresSWornan NottOn heard the Distriet% tOp admintstrators iay that::
the DiStriet% CashiloW problems:led tO klick of fiailabilitY OfMiiiirfunds: AdininiStrators
also iiatedikat* bOiS'S chief Financial Offteer COtild net get the schoO(Ainai released front. the'

. , .. . . . .
--District's Chief Financial Officer bozo.4e4bd. m4ypi w...a.leyalnatingTreallOcating Soiteof the

funds, IestitithoY'before.the'SubcominittOWai Clear,thaft -there8yas cOnfuSinnabenn *lien the
kathoritYieleaSed fund:5 to the Disliict and when ihe"DiStrietMlease:4ftinds to :

DCFS. 'COOgiesSWoMarr NOrtOn'aitately noted tbatthe three-Week 4e$y-,b! ftinda ;transfer is the' :
saine :three woekS that SelitiO1 :Opening Was' delayed. This :iS What led to ihe emergency

. ,
. ,

Our,asioeiation -looks 'foriVaid to the results of the Inspector CTeneral's review:requested by
General Becton. Hopefully, it will aeetuntelY reflect our exkrienee: 'Thereal story trt the repair
of D.0 Publie School roofs is Mr. Williams' assiduous leadership and the tireless efforts of a
team of contractori who tOok on a challenge tO do *hat had never been dofie before : : : major
repair to the upper portion of these old buildings. .

It iS easy to seCona gfieSS decisions that Mr. WihiarnS made to get the SchoOlS open. Given the
. daily fmesbCPS was incurring from the oVerSightjudge -and the desire to get the schOOls OPen
on time, What other choide did he really have?

. .

As contribtors and taxpayers? We -look to-District leaders. to create .a business friendly
enViriminent This is the surest Way to guarantee a mialiti supplier base and jobS for the District

Thank yon for the opportunity to share our views.

Sincerely,
. '.

Miehael Parrish
'President

:Cc:- The Honorable TOM Davis
.' The Honorable EleanOrHolmes Norton

e Honorable James Jeffords .

The Honorable Lanett Faircloth ., . . ,

the Honorable Bob Livingtoin . .

The Honorable MariOn'Barty
-; The Honoiable Linda CrOOp

"*d. ilier01.00.1**-t4ciOn
Keith Hari-lit:On; City Bditar, The Washington Post

, . . . .

BEST COP V' =BLARE
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5 0 YEARS

January 5, 1998

Charles E. Williams, MG USA (Ret)
Chief Operating Officer
Director of Facilities
District of Columbia Public Schools
415 12th Street, NW, Suite 903
Washington, DC 20004

Dear General Williams:

Daniel, Mann, Johnson, & Mendenhall (DMJM) regularly reviews our work on noteworthy projects to
provide what we call a Stewardship Report We felt that the beginning of 1998 would be an
appropriate time to review the events of the past year and.summarize our efforts on behalf of the
District of Columbia Public Schools (DCPS). We are exceptionally proud of the legacy of work
completed in 1997 on behalf of DCPS and trust you share our sense of achievement.

We began work in February with the prioritization study a three-week compilation and assessment
of existing facilities documentation for all 165 schools including a walk-through sampling of 16
schools. As we worked, we created a data base to identify needs, set priorities, and establish budgets
for the deficiencies throughout the school system, which numbered in the thousands.

Roof repairs emerged as the single most important deficiency requiring immediate attention. We
developed a series of Scopes of Work that outlined the performance requirements and broad
construction methods required to protect 48 of the most critically damaged schools from further
deterioration from leaky or otherwise seriously damaged roofs. These Scopes of Work, including
specifications, formed the technical coinponents of the design/build contracts executed between DCPS
and the numerous General Contractors involved in this past summer's reroofing efforts. Eventually the
roofing program u s expanded from the 48 to encompass 56 schools. Once the roof repairs were
underway, we pro vided Construction Administration services, including a daily presence, seven days a
week, for each of the 56 roofs.

Although the term "reroofing" is used most frequently to describe the work, it is partially a misnomer.
Certainly the work that was completed in nine weeks by DCPS focused on protection of the building
envelope, primarily the roofs. However, we found extensive related damage, often resulting from the
deteriorated roofs, that required additional repairs far beyond the initial scope of the roofmg

WILsoN 11011.1,wart11, 5101: 1100, AIILISMON. V111c1X1.1 22204
1711.11 807,2400 FAX 17031 807.2594
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Charles E. Williams, MG USA (Ret)
January 5, 1998
Page Two

replacement. Substantial flashing replacement, repointing of masonry, and overall stabilization of
adjacent parapets, for example, contributed to a program that grew in size, even as best efforts were
made to control costs.

We believe it is fair to say, however, that the approach taken by DCPS, requiring the contractor to
attend to broader protection of the schools, resulted in long-tenn savings. The building components
that were repaired should require no more than normal maintenance during their useful 20-year life.
Had DCPS chosen a more literal approach, i.e., the specific replacement of selected roof areas and no
more, then much of the investment in the roofs would have diminished as adjacent damage would have
continued to fuel the deterioration of the recent repairs.

Much public discussion occurred during the summer months, comparing the work to maintenance
efforts in surrounding counties and questioning whether DCPS paid unacceptable premiums for
procuring such a large amount of work in such a short period of time.

The discussions failed to recognize, however, that the DCPS program was not an ordinary, ongoing
maintenance reroofing program; it was an emergency repair program. As such, it is not comparable to
reroofing programs (or costs) experienced in the surrounding counties. In addition, the discussions
overlooked a truly long-term benefit to DCPS: the quality of the constructed work.

We can jointly attest that the contractors who completed the roofmg efforts under extreme time
constraints met the quality requirements set forth in the Scopes of Work, and the roofmg contractor
community itself has acknowledged the qualiw of the installed roofs.

Finally, the diversity of roof types encountered acrc ss the city, and even on a single school, contributed
to the complexity 'of the repairs and required the use of multiple roofing specialists. Built-up roofs
require different installation skills than clay tile roofs; sheet membrane systems differ from shingle
systems; and metal roofing is yet altogether different

The contractors were required to mobilize quickly, finalize design, secure necessary permits, secure
the roofing and building materials, and determine a staging and phasing plan, even as they were
demolishing the existing roofs, sometimes finding unforeseen deterioration.

The overall quality and the simple act of completion of the roofs seem to have been lost in the
discussions of cost. Cost control clearly was P I issue, though. DCPS was required to competitively bid
work that by its nature carried premium cost: Night and weekend work, occasional loss or theft of
materials, unforeseen conditions, and aging buildings all contributed to the "above norm" costs that
were noted in the bids. Again, what has been overlooked by the media and other observers who seek to
compare DCPS with surrounding counties is that the inventory of DCPS buildings is from a different
era, a time when the simplicity of modern construction and generic roofing systems found on the
schools built from the 1960s to 1980s did not exist Thus, the contractors were forced to account for
out-of-the-ordinary conditions.

MAN,. lotiStis. &
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Charles E. Williams, MG USA (Ret)
January 5, 1998

. Page Three

In addition to school facilities made safe for students, the emergency repair program generated an
additional benefit that will serve DCPS and the District into the future. DCPS developed and put in
place a process for managing the work even as work progressed, a chalknge under normal
circumstances. That DCPS accomplished not only the construction program, but the equally difficult
task of adapting its management structure to address an emergency program, and subsequently
ongoing facilities repairs, deserves note. Consistency of inspections, cooperative and reasoned
assistance from the building code officials, and a single-minded focus on the need to build quality into
the work, all helped to achieve not only the reroofmg program, but also the management infrastructure
necessary to address the next construction program.

In this past year in Washington, many noteworthy building programs have come to completion: The
New Terminal at National Airport and the Expansion of Dulles, the MCI Arena, Jack Kent Cooke
Stadium, and the Ronald Reagan Building.Given the schools' impacton the future of the City's
residents, children and adults alike, we would count the DC Public Schools among these programs.
Each had a different budget and schedule; each was complex in its own way.

DMJM plays a key role on some of the largest construction programs ongoing in the Washington
metropolitan area. We are proud to have contributed to this program and your success in
accomplishing what few organizations have ever achieved: Emergency repairs delivered well, under
extreme scrutiny and time constraints.

Congratulations.

Sincerely,

DANIEL, MANN, JOHNSON, & MENDENHALL

William D. H per, Jr., AIA
Associate Vice President /
Director of Operations

. cc: Andrew Brimmer, Chairman, DC Financial Responsibility and Management Assistance
Authority
Bruce McLaury, Chairman, DC Public Schools Board of Trustees
General Julius Becton, Chief Executive Officer, DC Public Schools
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Markt of Colombia Public Schools

DIVISION OS SILCURITY

OHM COMPARISON ANALYSIS CHART
OF REFORMS INCIDIXTS

INCIDENTS 10/01/96
through

03131/97

111/01197
dumb
03131/98

DIFFERENCE

Simple Assault 174 260 +86

Sexual Assault 29 83 +54

Agana w/ Dewily Weapon 51 52 +1

Bomb 7luess 39 20 -39

Break ins 64 57 -7

Child Neglec2 3 28 +25

Carrying a Deadly Weapon 76 227 +151

Corporal Punishment

7

42 89 +47

Drug Possetadon 25 43 +20

Use MIMS 501 990 +489

Fights 94 146 +52

Larcenies 126 190 +64

Robberies
'

22 13 -9

Trespassing 15 30 +15

Vandalism 44 32 -12

TOTAL 1325 2262 +1004 - 67 g 937

Reviewed bY

Deputy Superintendent
Chief Acederak Officer

April 29, 199$

BEST COPY AMIABLE
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JWB
7737 Jewelweed Court
Springfield, VA 22152

Email GmaralWaottom

May 14, 1998

The Honorable Sam Brownback
Chainnan
Committee on Government Affairs
Subcommittee on Oversight of Government Management,

Restructuring and the District of Columbia
604 Hart Senate Office Building
Washington, DC 20510

Dear Senator Brownback:

FAX 703 644 1545

I am writing to clarify the record regarding a statement I made in response to a question from
you during the Subcommittee's March 9 hearing on the status of reforms at the District of
Columbia Public Schools (DCPS).

During that hearing, you asked me about the progress of my administration in reducing the
number of security incidents in the schools. In response, I stated that violent crime had gone
down over the past two years. Unfortunately, I have since been informed by staff that DCPS'
incident reports do not support this statement. Rather, the data we have shows that reports of
violent crimes in the categories of simple assault, sexual assault, and fighting have increased
over the past two years, while reports of assaults with a deadly weapon have occurred at about
the same rate (incident report data is attached). However, there are two factors that impact on
these numbers. First, as an administnition, we sent a clear message to school staff that a_
incidents must be reported. In the past, I believe that some principals did not report incidents in
their schools because they believed those reports would reflect unfavorably on them. This is no
longer the case. Therefore, while more incidents are being reported, it does not necessarily
follow that more incidents are occurring.

In addition, DCPS installed new metal detectors in many of our schools during this period.
Previously, schools did not have metal detectors or the metal detectors did not work effectively.
This new security technology is helping us to pick up weapons that previously may have gotten
into the schools unnoticed. Therefore, our numbers for weapons possession have gone up over
the period. However, I view this as positive indication that our methods of identifying weapons
and confiscating them are working. Over the past two years, by increasing incident reporting
rates and enhancing technology, we have essentially established a legitimate baseline for
security. It is my hope and expectation that we will see a decrease from that baseline in the

. coming years.

I would appreciate it greatly if you would include this letter in the permanent record from the
March 9 hearing, as a correction of my previous statement. If you have additional questions
about DCPS security, you may wish to contact Mrs. Arlene Ackerman, DCPS' Superintendent,at
724-4226 or have a member of your staff contact Ms. Karen Bates, DCPS' Legislative Liaison,at
724-3722.

Sincerely,

/N
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